THE EFFECTS OF ORAL ARGININE ON ITS METABOLIC PATHWAYS IN SPRAGUE-DAWLEY RATS

DAIN KIM (MSc)

A Thesis Submitted to the College of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies in Partial Fulfilment of Requirements for the Degree of Master in Anatomy, Physiology and Pharmacology (APP) University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon

© Copyright Dain Kim, July, 2021. All Rights Reserved. Unless otherwise noted, copyright of the material in this thesis belongs to the author

PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis/dissertation in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Postgraduate degree from the University of Saskatchewan, I agree that the Libraries of this University may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis/dissertation in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor or professors who supervised my thesis/dissertation work or, in their absence, by the Head of the Department or the Dean of the College in which my thesis work was done. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis/dissertation or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis/dissertation.

Requests for permission to copy or to make other uses of materials in this thesis/dissertation in whole or part should be addressed to:

Head of the Department of Anatomy, Physiology and Pharmacology Health Sciences Building, 107 Wiggins Road University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5E5 Canada

Dean

College of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies University of Saskatchewan 116 Thorvaldson Building, 110 Science Place Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5C9 Canada

ABSTRACT

Oral arginine supplements are commonly used by the public for their presumed nitric oxide potentiating and vasodilatory role. However, there is a lack of clarity on the physiological impact of oral arginine on its metabolic pathways in the human body. As a versatile molecule, arginine is metabolized by multiple enzymes including arginase, nitric oxide synthase, arginine decarboxylase, and arginine: glycine amidinotransferase. Our lab has recently published a study on the physiological impact of oral arginine at a dose of 500 mg/kg/day administered for 4 weeks in male Sprague-Dawley rats. The present study examined the effects of oral L-arginine and D-arginine in 9-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats, administered at a higher dose of 1000 mg/kg/day in drinking water for a longer duration of 16 weeks. We measured enzyme expression and activity for different enzymes, and levels of metabolites of the arginine enzymatic pathways in the urine, plasma and various organs of Sprague-Dawley rats. We also measured the expression of the primary arginine transporter, cationic amino acid transporter 1. Oral L-arginine did not alter the expression of cationic amino acid transporter 1 or the levels of arginine and lysine, which use the same transporter, in the plasma and various organs. Oral L-arginine decreased arginase expression in the ileum, and arginase activity in the plasma. It also decreased arginine:glycine amidinotransferase expression in the liver, and creatinine levels in the urine. Similarly, L-arginine supplementation decreased arginine decarboxylase expression in the ileum but increased the expression in the liver with increased plasma total polyamine levels. Interestingly, endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression was significantly increased with oral D-arginine, whereas Larginine did not cause any significant effects in this pathway, in comparison to control. D-arginine is known to be inactive in the metabolic pathways, but surprisingly, D-arginine supplementation altered the expression of several enzymes and metabolite levels in the treated rats. In conclusion, long term oral supplementation of both L- and D-arginine significantly affected various enzymes and metabolites in the arginine metabolic pathways, as observed with a dose of 500 mg/kg/day for 4 weeks in the previous study from our lab, even though the changes differed in both studies. Determining the physiological impact of oral arginine supplements on the various metabolic pathways of arginine would allow for a better understanding of oral arginine uses, optimum dose and duration, and its safety and efficacy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to have had such great support systems during my one-year experience of study as my master's degree in Anatomy, Physiology and Pharmacology. Starting with my supervisor, Dr. Kaushik Desai, who provided me with so much support, both academically and mentally, I would like to thank him for all his guidance in research, and for actually coming into the lab to help me understand how to run some of the most difficult and time-consuming research experiments. Due to the COVID19 pandemic restrictions, I spent most of the time alone at home doing online work or doing experiments in an empty lab, and Dr. Desai always made sure to check in on me to see how I am doing and kept me motivated. My experience with Dr. Desai actually began in my third year of undergraduate program as his summer research student. From this opportunity, I decided to continue my research under his guidance for my fourth-year honour's project, as well as my master's project. I felt that as a student, I always showed some gaps of knowledge in pharmacology, and so much room for improvement in terms of skills and research techniques, but Dr. Desai was always patient with me, as well as understanding and generous. He always empowered me with positivity and kind words, after giving me feedback. At all times, I feel so honoured and lucky that I was able to be a graduate student under such a brilliant individual in my life.

I would also like to recognize and thank Dr. Stan Bardal and Dr. George Katselis, who provided me with lots of great constructive feedback and advice, as my committee members for my graduate study. Their knowledge and expertise helped me to gain different perspectives and understanding in science, in association to my field of research.

Lastly, I want to thank my parents and my sisters for the best support that they always give me and for always being there for me no matter what. Starting with daily phone calls, checking in on me and listening to my ups and downs, to actually driving all the way from Calgary just to see me when I seem too stressed. They know exactly how I am, that sometimes I can be a little too harsh on myself by setting expectations that are not feasible, so they remind me to give myself a break, while boosting my confidence when I appear to be struggling. I cannot describe in words how grateful I am to have such a caring and loving family that takes care of my mental health and help me to empty out any negativities or stress that I accumulate during my studies.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PERMISSION TO USE i
ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS iv
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLESx
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS xi
CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND
1.1 Amino Acids 1
1.2 Arginine Overview
1.3 Pharmacokinetics of Arginine
1.3.1 Absorption and Bioavailability
1.3.2 Distribution
1.3.3 Metabolism: Synthesis and Enzymatic Pathways
1.3.4 Arginase Pathway7
1.3.5 Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Pathway9
1.3.6 Arginine Decarboxylase Pathway
1.3.7 Arginine:Glycine Amidinotransferase Pathway14
1.3.8 Interaction between Nitric Oxide Synthase and Arginase
1.3.9 Enzyme Deficiency and its Consequences
1.3.10 Excretion
1.4 Pharmacodynamics
1.4.1 Protein Expression and Activity Regulation
1.4.2 Arginine and Growth Hormone Release
1.4.3 Arginine and Endothelial Function
1.4.4 Role of Arginine in Targeting Factors of Type 2 Diabetes
1.4.5 Arginine and Immune Function
1.4.6 Arginine and Wound Healing
1.5 Oral Arginine Supplements and its uses

1.5.1 Optimal Oral Dosage	
1.5.2 Use in Athletes	
1.5.3 Use in Erectile Dysfunction	
1.5.4 Use in Hypertension	
1.5.5 Use in Hypercholesterolemia	
1.5.6 Use in Type 2 Diabetes	
1.5.7 Use in Heart Failure	
1.5.8 Use in MELAS Syndrome	
1.6 RATIONALE OF STUDY	
1.7 HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES	
1.7.1 Hypothesis	
1.7.2 Objectives	
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS	
2.1 Animals	
2.2 Homogenization of Tissues	
2.3 Western Blotting	
2.4 Arginine Assay	
2.5 Arginase Activity Assay	
2.6 Urea Assay	
2.7 Hydroxyproline Assay	
2.8 Nitric Oxide Synthase Activity Assay	
2.9 Nitrate/Nitrite Assay	
2.10 Creatinine Assay	
2.11 Total Polyamine Assay	
2.12 Lysine Assay	
2.13 Asymmetric Dimethylarginine Assay	
2.14 Statistical Analysis	
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	
3.1 Oral L- and D-arginine supplements did not significantly affect the averag	e body weight of
Sprague-Dawley rats	

3.2 Oral D-arginine significantly reduced the average daily water consumption of Sprague-
Dawley rats
3.3 Oral L- and D-arginine did not significantly affect arginine levels in the plasma and different
organs
3.4 Oral D-arginine significantly increased cationic amino acid transporter 1 expression in the
ileum, but not in the liver or aorta
3.5 Oral L- and D-arginine significantly affected arginase expression in the liver and the ileum in
Sprague-Dawley rats
3.6 Oral L-arginine significantly decreased arginase activity in the plasma, but not in the ileum,
liver or kidney
3.7 Oral D-arginine significantly affected urea levels in the ileum and the skeletal muscle in
Sprague-Dawley rats
3.8 Oral D-arginine significantly affected hydroxyproline levels in the ileum and the brain 55
3.9 Oral D-arginine significantly increased endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression in the
aorta and the kidney, but not in the brain
3.10 Oral arginine did not affect nitric oxide synthase activity in different organs in Sprague-
Dawley rats
3.11 Oral arginine supplements significantly affected nitrate and nitrite levels in the plasma,
urine and ileum in Sprague-Dawley rats
3.12 Oral arginine supplements affected the expression of arginine:glycine amidinotransferase in
the liver and the kidney
3.13 Oral arginine significantly affected creatinine levels in the urine and the ileum
3.14 Oral arginine significantly affected the expression of arginine decarboxylase in the liver and
the ileum
3.15 Oral arginine significantly affected the expression of agmatinase in the kidney, ileum and
brain in rats
3.16 Oral L-arginine significantly increased total polyamines levels in the plasma
3.17 Oral arginine did not affect lysine levels in the plasma and organs in rats
3.18 Oral arginine did not affect asymmetric dimethylarginine levels in the plasma and organs in
rats
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

4.1 CONCLUSIONS	90
4.2 SIGNIFICANCE OF STUDY	
4.3 LIMITATIONS OF STUDY	
4.4 FUTURE WORK	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Structure of an amino acid
Figure 2. Structures of L-arginine and D-arginine
Figure 3. Main enzymatic pathways and metabolic products of L-arginine7
Figure 4. Arginase metabolic pathway of L-arginine
Figure 5. Nitric oxide synthase enzymatic pathway of L-arginine metabolism
Figure 6. The arginine decarboxylase (ADC) metabolic pathway of L-arginine
Figure 7. Arginine:glycine amidinotransferase enzymatic pathway for L-arginine metabolism. 15
Figure 8. Creatine metabolism
Figure 9. Oral D-arginine decreased average daily water intake, but arginine did not affect average
body weight of Sprague-Dawley rats
Figure 10. Oral arginine did not affect the levels of arginine in the plasma and different organs of
Sprague-Dawley rats
Figure 11. Oral D-arginine increased the expression of cationic amino acid transporter 1 in the
ileum
Figure 12. Oral L- and D-arginine increased arginase expression in the liver, but L-arginine
decreased it in the ileum
Figure 13. Oral L-arginine decreased arginase activity in the plasma
Figure 14. Oral D-arginine decreased urea levels in the ileum, but increased it in the skeletal muscle,
compared to L-arginine
Figure 15. Oral D-arginine decreased hydroxyproline levels in the ileum, but increased it in the
brain
Figure 16. Oral D-arginine increased endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression in the aorta and
the kidney
Figure 17. Oral arginine did not affect the nitric oxide synthase activity in different organs of
Sprague-Dawley rats
Figure 18. Oral arginine decreased nitrite levels in the urine
Figure 19. Oral L- and D-arginine decreased arginine:glycine amidinotransferase expression in the
liver, but L-arginine increased it in the kidney
Figure 20. Oral L- and D-arginine decreased creatinine levels in the urine, but D-arginine increased
it in the ileum

Figure 21. Oral arginine increased arginine decarboxylase expression in the liver, but decreased it
in the ileum
Figure 22. Oral D-arginine increased agmatinase expression in the kidney and the ileum, but
decreased it in the brain
Figure 23. Oral L-arginine increased total polyamine levels in the plasma
Figure 24. Oral arginine did not affect lysine levels in the plasma or different organs of Sprague-
Dawley rats
Figure 25. Oral arginine did not affect the levels of asymmetric dimethylarginine in the plasma
and different organs of Sprague-Dawley rats
Figure 26. Oral arginine did not affect the mean arterial pressure or heart rate in Sprague-Dawley
rats
Figure 27. Oral arginine did not affect the acetylcholine- and sodium-nitroprusside-induced
hypotensive responses in Sprague-Dawley rats

LIST OF TABLES

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADC	Arginine decarboxylase
ADMA	Asymmetric dimethyl arginine
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AGAT	Arginine:glycine amidinotransferase
AGE	Advanced glycation end products
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAT	Cationic amino acid transporter
cGMP	Cyclic guanosine monophosphate
D-Arg	D-arginine
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
GAMT	Guanidinoacetate N-methyltransferase
GC	Guanylate cyclase
GH	Growth hormone
GHRH	Growth hormone releasing hormone
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate
h	Hour
HR	Heart rate
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
L-Arg	L-arginine
MAP	Mean arterial pressure
MELAS	Mitochondrial encephalomyopathy lactic acidosis, and stroke-like episodes
MG	Methylglyoxal
min	minutes
nNOS	Neuronal nitric oxide synthase

NO	Nitric oxide
NOHA	Nº-hydroxy-L-arginine
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
OAT	Ornithine aminotransferase
ODC	Ornithine decarboxylase
PDE _i	Phosphodiesterase inhibitors
PVDF	Polyvinylidene difluoride
SD	Sprague Dawley
SDS	Sodium dodecylsulfate
sec	Seconds
SEM	Standard error of mean
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
TBST	Tris buffered saline with tween

CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND

1.1 Amino Acids

Amino acids are organic monomers of proteins that consist of an amino group, a carboxylic group, and a side chain group, as shown in Figure 1. With the exception of glycine, all amino acids carry a chiral carbon and come in two mirror images called enantiomers, commonly referred to as optical isomers. The two forms are designated as L- and D-isomer, where the L- and D-configuration of amino acid is determined by the location of the amino group linked to the chiral carbon in the Fischer projection formula. L-amino acid has an amino group on the left side of the chiral center, and D-amino acid has it on the right side (Grishin et al., 2020). The majority of the amino acids in the body that serve as building blocks for protein only exist in the L-isoform, making the D-isomer appear as physiologically inert. Extending from this fact, it has been noted that the enzymes for protein synthesis have likely adapted to only using the L-configuration of amino acids (Reddy, 2020). The exact reasoning behind the predominance of this enantiomer has not been clearly established yet, although there are various studies and theories that have come forward that are mainly associated with evolutionary selectivity (Grishin et al., 2020).



Figure 1. Structure of an amino acid

(Image Source: http://www.astrochem.org/sci/Amino Acids.php)

Though there are D-amino acid containing peptides that exist in eukaryotes, these peptides are not directly produced from the ribosomes with the traditional protein synthesis machinery, but rather using different mechanisms such as post-translational modification (Grishin et al., 2020). By the process of racemization with racemase and D-amino acid oxidase, D-amino acids can be converted into L-amino acids, which makes the presence of D-amino acid in food an indicator for certain occurrences, like fermentation or contamination (Genchi, 2017). It has been revealed that some D-amino acids in fact carry out important physiological functions in the endocrine system and the nervous system of mammals, although there is still a huge gap of knowledge on the effects of D-amino acids, in comparison to L-amino acids (Kiriyama and Nochi, 2016).

There are 20 amino acids that are known to build proteins in the body and of these, 9 of them are classified as essential amino acids. This is referred to as any amino acid that is unable to be synthesized endogenously to fulfill the optimal physiological demand, and thereby needs to be supplied from the diet (Lopez and Mohiuddin, 2021). On the other hand, amino acids that are referred to as being non-essential are sufficiently produced in the body. Conditionally essential amino acids, also known as semi-essential amino acids, are normally synthesized at a sufficient level in healthy adults, but the synthesis is compromised in specific populations under certain conditions, such as during infancy and for people in times of physiological stress or critical illness (Morris et al., 2017). Arginine, which is the core focus of this research study, is one of the conditionally essential amino acids that is synthesized insufficiently in people under certain conditions including renal or intestinal dysfunction (Morris Jr., 2007). Arginine plays a variety of crucial roles in the body, which will be discussed and examined in depth as a part of this research project.

1.2 Arginine Overview

Arginine (Fig. 2) is a versatile, semi-essential amino acid that contributes to the synthesis of many biologically important molecules, by being a substrate in various enzymatic pathways (Böger, 2007). Some products of arginine metabolism include nitric oxide (NO), urea, and creatine (Wu and Morris Jr, 1998). As mentioned earlier about amino acids, from the L- and D-isomers of arginine (Fig. 2), D-arginine (D-Arg) is known as the metabolically inactive isomer (National Center for Biotechnology Information, <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/D-Arginine</u>), thereby the physiological effects of arginine are primarily associated with just L-arginine (L-Arg). Free arginine in the body come from several sources including endogenous synthesis, the diet, and intracellular protein turnover (Morris Jr., 2007). In healthy adults, the normal plasma arginine levels are maintained in the range of $80 - 120 \mu mol/L$ (Morris Jr., 2007). As with any person with arginine deficiency, arginine supplementation is necessary for growing adolescents (National Center for Biotechnology Information, <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/Arginine</u>), and physiologically compromised individuals. It has been reported that preterm infants tend to have arginine deficiency (Becker et al., 2000), which is characterized by hyperammonemia and

multi-organ dysfunction (Wu et al., 2004). A study involving individuals with genetic mutation that leads to defective dietary uptake and reabsorption of L-Arg demonstrated that these patients had significantly lower vasodilatory effects and platelet counts in the blood in comparison to the controls, and showed myocardial ischemia with exercise testing (Loscalzo, 2001). Together, these physiological differences depict the importance of L-Arg nutrition in the body, especially in association with the role of NO, which is a metabolite of one of the major arginine pathways, that will be thoroughly discussed later.



Figure 2. Structures of L-arginine and D-arginine

(A) L-arginine and (B) D-arginine.

Source: L-Arginine | C6H14N4O2 - PubChem (nih.gov); D-Arginine | C6H14N4O2 - PubChem (nih.gov)

Fortunately, with a wide variety of dietary sources of arginine, including nuts, milk products, and legumes, fulfilling the metabolic demands of the body is made easy by simply adjusting the diet (McNeal et al., 2016). A typical western diet provides approximately 25 to 30% of total arginine levels in the blood (Rosenthal et al., 2016). In support of this statement, a research study

done on healthy male subjects in their early twenties, suggested that homeostasis in arginine levels is largely established by the diet (Castillo et al., 1993a).

1.3 Pharmacokinetics of Arginine

1.3.1 Absorption and Bioavailability

Arginine that comes from the diet gets absorbed in the splanchnic area of the body, through enterocytes (Castillo et al., 1993b) at the jejunum and ileum (Pahlavani et al., 2014). Specifically in the epithelial lining of the small intestine, there are brush borders that consist of amino acid transporters for dietary absorption (Souba and Pacitti, 1992). The transport system primarily responsible for selective uptake of cationic amino acids like arginine in the small intestine is referred to as the y⁺ system, which comprises of the cationic amino acid transporter (CAT) family (Devés and Boyd, 1998). Within this family, there are several CAT isoforms, and it has been suggested that each of the CAT isoforms has affinity to one of the three isoforms of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) enzymes (Schwartz et al., 2006). CAT-1 is known to be specifically responsible for the transport of arginine to endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) for its use (Schwartz et al., 2006). With saturation of the available transporters, such as with increase in post-prandial arginine levels, passive diffusion may occur for the uptake of arginine (Tangphao et al., 1999a). An issue with the amino acid transporters is that basic, cationic amino acids like arginine and lysine, use and compete for the same type of transporters, affecting the uptake of each other (Wu et al., 2009). In relation, it has been suggested that excess arginine intake leads to disrupted homeostasis of amino acids, causing adverse effects such as impairment in growth (Edmonds et al., 1987). The remaining free arginine in the body is filtered by the kidney and almost entirely gets reabsorbed through its transporters in the proximal tubule (Brosnan and Brosnan, 2004).

Although arginine needs are readily met through the diet, approximately 40% of it undergoes first pass metabolism in the gut, limiting the bioavailability of free arginine in the body to enter the systemic circulation (Wu et al., 2009). A pharmacokinetic study of arginine supplementation in healthy adults (Tangphao et al., 1999b) found that following administration of 10 g of oral arginine in solution form, the absolute bioavailability in healthy volunteers turned out to be only around 20%, but with a broad range from 5 to 50%. This result indicating low availability is not surprising since free arginine interacts with multiple enzymes and goes through extensive metabolism before reaching the circulation. However, several other studies reported higher

bioavailability of oral arginine, such as in an arginine study involving hypercholesterolemic population where they reported the bioavailability to be around 40 to 50% (Tangphao et al., 1999a). One arginine pharmacokinetic study reported even higher bioavailability of oral arginine in healthy population following single oral administration, where the bioavailability was around 70%, ranging from 51 to 87% (Bode-Böger et al., 1998). As the variance between the studies suggest, the exact pharmacokinetics regarding the bioavailability of arginine is not well-established yet, but it is crucial to appreciate how important bioavailability is in understanding the role of oral arginine supplements in the body. The physiological effects of arginine such as vasodilation is known to be highly associated with its concentration in the plasma (Bode-Böger et al., 1998). Thereby, bioavailability is an important factor when considering the therapeutic effects of oral arginine supplements in the body.

1.3.2 Distribution

The bioavailability of arginine is directly linked with its distribution, as greater bioavailability in the blood allows for greater tissue and organ distribution. Studies that have been published on arginine pharmacokinetics have reported varying results in its distribution in the body. A study involving autoradiography with biochemical analysis recorded the radioactivity in organs of mice at various time intervals following intravenous injection of radio-labelled arginine (Goto, 1989). This study reported low distribution of arginine in the brain, lungs, and testes, and highest uptake by the pancreas at all time intervals.

In contrast, there have been studies reporting otherwise, for instance, that both oral and intravenous arginine administration significantly increased the level of free arginine in the liver, testes, and the brain (Campistron et al., 1982). One important result that was noted from this study is that, for testes and the brain, the oral route of administration in comparison to intravenous route led to higher distribution of arginine. In another study involving patients with multiple myeloma, it was demonstrated that there was no preferential distribution of guanido-labeled arginine in any particular tissues from the nineteen types that were examined (Frondoza et al., 1980). In the latter study, plasma protein binding of arginine was also reported, which is a factor that affects distribution. The extent of binding varied among the patients, where interestingly, the individuals with advanced disease status showed high plasma protein binding of arginine with the majority

lasting for 7 to 10 days, and the rest showed 42% as maximum binding, with fast rate of disappearance of the tracer of bound arginine.

With limited and varying results of research on arginine distribution in the human body, more studies need to be carried out to establish a clear understanding on the pattern of distribution following oral arginine administration. Filling this gap of knowledge would be helpful in understanding how much the arginine dose reaches the target site, in association to the administration route, safety and efficacy, and to see the overall picture of arginine pharmacokinetics from supplementation.

1.3.3 Metabolism: Synthesis and Enzymatic Pathways

There are several mechanisms for arginine synthesis in the body. Some amino acids such as proline and glutamine are interconvertible with arginine through a series of enzymatic steps, where both amino acids convert to a common intermediate, pyrroline-5-carboxylate, to ultimately convert to arginine (Wu et al., 1997). This intermediate gets further converted into ornithine by the key enzyme, ornithine aminotransferase, and then to citrulline, before reaching the final step where arginine is formed from arginosuccinate with the action of arginosuccinate lyase (Wu et al., 1997). In addition to proline and glutamine metabolism, arginine is made from a variety of other sources that involve citrulline production, including the NOS pathway and the enzymatic breakdown of asymmetric dimethyl arginine (ADMA) (Morris Jr, 2004). In the urea cycle however, arginine is synthesized from citrulline as an intermediate, but does not contribute to the overall levels of free arginine in the body as it gets readily converted into ornithine and urea as a byproduct (Watford, 2003). Out of all the sources for the synthesis of free arginine in the body, the intestinal-renal axis remains the key site in producing free arginine in the body (Wu and Morris Jr, 1998). In brief, the metabolism of mainly glutamine in the epithelial cells of small intestines forms citrulline as explained above and releases it in the circulation where it travels in the blood and eventually gets taken up by the proximal tubules of the kidney (Morris Jr, 2004). In the kidney, conversion of citrulline to arginine occurs, and the newly synthesized arginine gets released back into the bloodstream (Morris Jr, 2004). This is the reason why arginine supplements become necessary in individuals who have renal or intestinal dysfunction. It has been found that approximately 85% of citrulline synthesized from the intestines is taken up by the proximal tubules of kidney to produce arginine (Brosnan and Brosnan, 2004).

As a versatile molecule, arginine gets extensively metabolized through multiple metabolic pathways in mammalian cells. A study indicated that after around 30 min of arginine administration by injection, greater than 90% of labelled arginine was metabolized from the intact form (Frondoza et al., 1980). As illustrated in Figure 2, arginine acts as a metabolic substrate for arginase, NOS, arginine:glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT/GATM), and arginine decarboxylase (ADC) (Morris Jr, 2004). By these enzymes, arginine leads to the production of many biologically important molecules in the body, including urea, NO, agmatine and creatine.



Figure 3. Main enzymatic pathways and metabolic products of L-arginine

1.3.4 Arginase Pathway

The arginase pathway leads to formation of urea plus L-ornithine from L-arginine (Fig. 4). Ornithine is a nonprotein amino acid that leads to the formation of proline and polyamines (Ash, 2004). Thus, arginase is an important enzyme of the urea cycle. As commonly known, the role of urea cycle is to detoxify ammonia and convert it into inert water-soluble urea for excretion.

In mammals, the arginase enzyme exists in two isoforms, arginase type I and type II. The two isoenzymes are encoded separately by different genes and though they share comparable enzymatic properties, factors such as tissue distribution and expression regulation are different (Wu and Morris Jr, 1998). Compartmentalization of arginase in mammalian cells may affect arginine metabolism through enzymes that act upon ornithine. Arginase I is usually colocalized with ornithine decarboxylase (ODC) in the cytosol, whereas arginase II is colocalized with ornithine aminotransferase (OAT) in the mitochondria (Li et al., 2001). ODC converts ornithine into polyamines, whereas OAT converts ornithine into proline (Fig. 4). With this information, as illustrated in Figure 4, arginase I may be considered to preferentially lead to polyamine synthesis and arginase II may preferentially lead to glutamate and proline production.



Figure 4. Arginase metabolic pathway of L-arginine. Arginase converts L-arginine to urea plus L-ornithine. Urea is inert and water soluble and easily excreted by the kidneys. L-ornithine can be converted to L-proline, L-glutamate or putrescine depending on further enzymatic pathway. Putrescine forms polyamines such as spermidine and spermine or GABA (γ -amino butyric acid), which can also come from L-glutamate. (*Figure adapted from Morris Jr. SM., 2007*)

Arginase I is also referred to as the liver arginase, as this mainly exists in the cytosol of hepatic tissues acting as the final enzyme of the urea cycle, though it is also expressed in some extrahepatic tissues in low levels (Wu and Morris Jr, 1998). Arginase I in the liver is responsible for the detoxification and excretion of waste nitrogen, specifically ammonia, in the form of urea, and the activity of this isoenzyme is known to make up for the majority of the total arginase activity in the body (Durante et al., 2007). As well, some studies documented that this isoenzyme activity can be upregulated by some hemodynamic and growth factors in the body, which induce this enzyme expression in vascular cells (Durante et al., 2007).

In contrast, arginase II is widely distributed in the mitochondria of numerous parts of the body such as the small intestine, brain, kidney, macrophages, prostate, mammary glands and some vasculature, but at lower levels (Wu and Morris Jr, 1998; Durante et al., 2007). A study found that in comparison to other organ tissues, the expression of arginase II was high in the kidney and the pancreas, moderate in the intestines, and very low in the liver (Choi et al., 2012). The exact

function of arginase II in non-hepatic tissues has not been clearly established yet, but the activity contributes to the formation of polyamines and other amino acids, such as proline and glutamate (Wu and Morris Jr, 1998; Ash, 2004). As mentioned earlier, ornithine gets converted into polyamines, by first getting metabolized into putrescine by ODC, which further yields other polyamines (Stechmiller et al., 2005). Proline is responsible for biosynthesis of milk protein in mammary glands during lactation, and polyamines play a role in cell proliferation and growth (Ash, 2004). In times of infection or inflammation, arginase expression and activity are elevated, causing more ornithine production and subsequently more synthesis of proline and polyamines. This increase in synthesis is able to facilitate proliferation of cells and collagen production which take crucial part in various physiological processes and disorders, such as would healing, inflammation, infection and fibrotic disorders (Morris Jr, 2004).

Out of the four main enzymatic pathways of arginine, the arginase pathway is known to be the most important one for the catabolism of arginine in mammals (Wu and Morris Jr, 1998). Some studies suggest that the metabolism of arginine through arginase I in the liver, rather than endogenous synthesis, is the regulating factor for total arginine levels and homeostasis in the body (Castillo et al., 1994). With arginine administration, it was found that the rate of urea synthesis was significantly higher than the rates of synthesis for the metabolites of other arginine pathways such as NO and creatine (Wu and Morris Jr, 1998). As well, a labeled arginine study determined that radioactivity from tagged arginine in rat liver was significantly lower than that of other organ tissues, with a very fast rate of arginine being replaced in this tissue in particular, which accompanies the idea that the bioavailable arginine readily gets taken up and used up by arginase as a part of the urea cycle in the liver (Frondoza et al., 1980).

1.3.5 Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase Pathway

Out of the four arginine pathway enzymes, NOS has been most extensively studied for its regulation and role in the arginine metabolic pathways (Wu and Morris Jr, 1998). As shown in Figure 5, NOS facilitates the conversion of L-Arg into NO and L-citrulline. L-citrulline is an intermediate of the urea cycle and as mentioned previously, it is able to be converted into L-Arg through a series of enzymatic steps. Interestingly, it is used widely as a supplement as well, as it is known to act as a better and more effective precursor for NO functions in the body (Kaore et al., 2013).



Figure 5. Nitric oxide synthase enzymatic pathway of L-arginine metabolism. NOS enzymes, of which there are three isoforms, convert L-arginine into NO and L-citrulline, with the help of calcium (Ca²⁺)-calmodulin, tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄), and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH). NO has various biological functions and is metabolized into nitrite (NO₂⁻) and nitrate (NO₃⁻). L-citrulline is recycled back into L-arginine and has other metabolic fates. (*Figure adapted from Morris Jr. SM., 2007*)

NO is a potent vasodilator that mediates a variety of important functions in the body. It is produced by the vascular endothelium, certain neurons and macrophages in response to a variety of agonists/stimuli including shear stress and bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004). Some of the physiological roles that it plays include vasodilation, platelet antiaggregatory, neuronal long-term potentiation, non-adrenergic non-cholinergic (NANC) neurotransmitter, immune responses and inflammation (Wu and Morris Jr, 1998; Endemann and Schiffrin, 2004). The vasodilatory effect of NO is the primary reason for which arginine supplements are being taken by a wide range of population nowadays. Several studies have shown that NO mediates neurotransmission in learning and memory, and that it also plays a neuroprotective role in the central nervous system (Böhme et al., 1993; Paakkari and Lindsberg, 1995). The metabolic end products of the eNOS pathway, nitrates and nitrites, are recognized and being used as effective markers for the level of NO produced, rather than using NO itself, because

NO has a very short half-life (5-6 sec), and the metabolites have been found to be stable as its indicators (Lundberg, 2006; Giustarini et al., 2008).

The NOSs exist in three isoforms dispersed throughout the body that differ by various factors including genetic makeup, localization and regulation (Alderton et al., 2001). The names of each of the isoforms have been created according to the site that they were first discovered in the body (Böger, 2007).

The first isoform, neuronal NOS (nNOS), also referred to as NOS-I, was first found and is predominantly expressed in neuronal tissues of both the central and peripheral nervous system (Alderton et al., 2001). It is believed to be mainly expressed in the neurons of the brain and the enteric nervous system in a constitutive manner, but it also has been found in many other locations, such as adrenal glands, organ epithelial cells, kidney, vascular smooth muscle, kidney and the pancreas, and the skeletal muscle (Förstermann and Sessa, 2011). The physiological functions of nNOS involve regulating synaptic transmission and plasticity in the long term which is associated with memory formation, and it may contribute to regulating vascular tone and systemic blood pressure as well, though the extent of effect is unclear in comparison to eNOS, which is conventionally believed to be the principal enzyme for vasodilation (Förstermann and Sessa, 2011). NO produced by enteric neurons has been found to relax the gastrointestinal smooth muscle (Bult et al., 1990; Desai et al., 1991).

Another isoform is the inducible NOS (iNOS), also known as NOS-II, which plays an important role in immune defense. As the name states, iNOS expression is inducible by various agents such as bacterial LPS and cytokines, rather than it being expressed in particular cells in the body. Although iNOS is capable of being induced in any region of the body, the main cell type is macrophages (Förstermann and Sessa, 2011). iNOS activation leads to inflammatory reactions and production of large amounts of NO to exert cytotoxic effects on bacteria, parasites, and cancer cells (Nathan and Hibbs, 1991). Something to consider with the effects of iNOS is that it may also damage healthy cells and tissues if it produces lots of NO in the wrong tissue, for example in septic shock, where it causes unmanageable vasodilation and hypotensive shock which can prove fatal (Petros et al., 1991).

Lastly, endothelial NOS (eNOS), also called NOS-III, is mostly expressed in endothelial cells, and exhibits numerous cardiovascular roles. Out of the three isoforms of NOS, eNOS is the focus of this research study. eNOS produces NO in a pulsatile manner in order to regulate blood flow by

vasodilation, protect from blood clotting by exerting anti-platelet effects and inhibit vascular inflammation (Förstermann and Sessa, 2011). The function of NO is the primary reason why arginine supplements are popular nowadays. NO production *via* eNOS in the endothelium causes endothelium-dependent vasodilation, which occurs in response to signaling molecules such as bradykinin and acetylcholine, or mechanical forces (Shesely et al., 1996). An increase in calcium levels in the endothelial cell in response to the factors mentioned above, causes binding of eNOS to calmodulin, which leads to the activation of eNOS to produce NO (Förstermann and Sessa, 2011). NO then directly diffuses into the vascular smooth muscle to stimulate guanylate cyclase (GC), converting guanosine-triphosphate (GTP) into cyclic guanosine-monophosphate (cGMP) to cause vasodilation (Archer et al., 1994). Due to the protective and regulatory role that NO has in the body, especially in the vasculature through eNOS activity, NO deficiency is the main reason for endothelial dysfunction which is believed to be a precursor of many cardiovascular diseases, such as hypertension and atherosclerosis (Förstermann and Münzel, 2006).

1.3.6 Arginine Decarboxylase Pathway

In addition to the arginase pathway, the ADC pathway (Fig. 6) is another metabolic pathway of arginine that leads to the production of polyamines, by first converting L-Arg into agmatine with ADC (Fig. 6), followed by hydrolysis of agmatine into putrescine by agmatinase (Wang et al., 2014a). Both, the ADC and agmatinase enzymes are highly expressed in the brain and are together responsible for facilitating the production of polyamines as a part of the pathway referred to as "agmatine pathway" (Halaris and Plietz, 2007). Another enzyme, ODC serves a function that aligns with ADC in generating polyamines in the body as illustrated in Figure 4, by converting ornithine into putrescine (Halaris and Plietz, 2007).



Figure 6. The arginine decarboxylase (ADC) metabolic pathway of L-arginine. ADC forms L-agmatine from L-arginine, which is further metabolized to putrescine by agmatinase. Just like in the arginase pathway putrescine can be converted into the polyamines, spermidine and spermine, and into GABA (γ -amino butyric acid). (*Figure adapted from Morris Jr. SM., 2007*)

Putrescine is a polyamine that acts as a precursor to other polyamines such as spermidine and spermine (Gao et al., 2009). ADC and its branch of arginine metabolic pathway had been in controversy in terms of its existence and physiological effects in mammals, as for a long time it was generally believed that ADC only exists in bacteria and plants (Coleman et al., 2004). After numerous studies and findings on ADC using a variety of research techniques, ADC has been scientifically accepted as a mammalian enzyme producing agmatine (Coleman et al., 2004).

Polyamines are important regulators of mammalian cell growth, conceptus development, and protein synthesis (Mandal et al., 2013). There are numerous research studies that focused on the effect of polyamines on mammalian cell cycle, which demonstrated that polyamines are highly correlated with cell proliferation and tissue growth (Pegg and McCann, 1982).

The direct metabolite of ADC, agmatine, is an amine mainly located in the brain regions, acting as an intermediate for polyamine synthesis (Halaris and Plietz, 2007). The exact physiological roles of agmatine, aside from polyamine synthesis, are not clearly understood yet, but there have been many suggestions with respect to its function in the body. It has been suggested that agmatine may potentially serve important roles in cell proliferation and inflammation, and neuromodulation (Reis and Regunathan, 1998; Satriano et al., 1998; Zhu et al., 2004). Interestingly, agmatine may be counterintuitive by causing a decrease in cellular polyamine levels by activating antizymes and inhibiting ODC activity which normally contributes to polyamine biosynthesis (Satriano et al., 1998).

One of the primary reasons for the notion that agmatine may have neuromodulating functions was due to the discovery that agmatine was made and stored in neurons, and released from synaptic vesicles (Feng et al., 1997; Goracke-Postle et al., 2006). Several studies have further demonstrated that agmatine acts as a cell-signaling ligand for various receptors including alpha-2 adrenergic, imidazoline, and glutamatergic NMDA receptors (Li et al., 1994; Piletz et al., 1995), and that it modulates the release of various hormones and transmitters (Li et al., 1994; Kalra et al., 1995). Due to these reasons, a name for its potential actions on cellular and neural transmission was established as "agmatinergic transmission system", to describe the actions of agmatine as a neurotransmitter (Reis et al., 1998). Furthermore, it was reported that at high levels, agmatine irreversibly blocks nNOS activity by half of its normal activity (Galea et al., 1996; Demady et al., 2001) and downregulates iNOS activity as well (Satriano et al., 2001). As mentioned earlier, the exact physiological mechanism and effects for these reported agmatine functions remain controversial and unclear to this day, but what we do know is that agmatine is capable of acting on a variety of receptors in the body, thereby serving certain physiological roles that need to be further studied upon.

1.3.7 Arginine: Glycine Amidinotransferase Pathway

Arginine:glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT/GATM) is the rate-limiting enzyme for creatine synthesis in the body (Fig. 7), as a part of the arginine pathways (Wu and Morris Jr, 1998). AGAT expression and distribution is limited to mainly the kidney and pancreas, and to a lower degree, in the liver (Walker, 1979; McGuire et al., 1984). Creatine biosynthesis *via* the AGAT pathway occurs in two steps (Brosnan and Brosnan, 2004). First, AGAT catalyzes the transfer of a guanidino group from arginine to glycine, producing guanidinoacetate and ornithine as a result (Fig. 7). Secondly, guanidinoacetate N-methyltransferase (GAMT) catalyzes methylation of guanidinoacetate using S-adenosylmethionine, producing creatine and S-adenosylhomocysteine (Fig. 7) (Brosnan and Brosnan, 2004). GAMT is predominantly expressed mainly in the liver and

pancreas (Braissant et al., 2005). Considering the limited enzyme expression, guanidinoacetate is mainly produced in the kidney by AGAT, and moves to the liver to be methylated to become creatine by GAMT. Creatine levels in the liver have been observed to be very low, which suggests that after synthesis, it gets distributed to other tissues (Wyss and Kaddurah-Daouk, 2000).



Figure 7. Arginine:glycine amidinotransferase enzymatic pathway for L-arginine metabolism. Arginine:glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT/GATM) catalyzes the conversion of L-arginine into guanidinoacetate and then into creatine. It can also form L-homoarginine.. (*Figure adapted from Morris Jr. SM., 2007*).

The newly synthesized creatine from the liver enters the circulation and is readily distributed into skeletal muscle and nerves (Wu and Morris Jr, 1998). Specifically, it gets actively taken up from the blood predominantly by muscular tissues against a concentration gradient, *via* the Na⁺- and Cl⁻-dependent creatine transporters that are located along the plasma membranes (Wyss and Kaddurah-Daouk, 2000).

Creatine is a very important molecule that regulates the levels of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) in the body, and with phosphocreatine and creatine kinase, it buffers energy needs in various tissues and is known to boost energy levels during rapid, high intensity exercise (Michel, 2013; da Silva et al., 2014). Creatine couples with a phosphoryl group released from ATP to become phosphocreatine with the catalytic help of creatine kinase, and about two thirds of creatine content

in muscles exists in the form of phosphocreatine (Kreider et al., 2017). As presented in Figure 8, creatine kinase works bidirectionally, thereby when ATP is needed, it facilitates hydrolysis of phosphocreatine into creatine and phosphoryl group to release energy that is used to form ATP with adenosine diphosphate (ADP) and the phosphoryl group (Kreider et al., 2017). The function of creatine differs for fast- and slow-twitch skeletal muscles. For fast twitch work that requires short burst of energy, stored phosphocreatine gets used with high level of activity of creatine kinase to readily regenerate depleted ATP, and the levels of ADP and ATP, as well as the phosphorylation state of creatine are kept at near equilibrium. On the other hand for slow twitch work of skeletal muscles, the site using ATP requires more of a continuous transport of high energy phosphates (Wyss and Kaddurah-Daouk, 2000).

In addition to the role of creatine in forming phosphocreatine, it is also known to link cellular sources of ATP synthesis such as glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation of mitochondria, with sites that are in need of ATP energy, such as ATPases (Wallimann et al., 2011; Schlattner et al., 2016; Ydfors et al., 2016), which adds on to creatine function of buffering energy needs.

Creatine synthesis in the body is crucial since both creatine and creatine-phosphate spontaneously get metabolized into creatinine, as shown in Figure 8, at a constant rate of around 2% per day, which gets excreted by the kidneys in the urine, requiring replacement for the consistent loss (Wyss and Kaddurah-Daouk, 2000; da Silva et al., 2009). Creatinine is widely used as a clinical indicator for kidney health and function, as it is excreted unchanged by the kidney and allows for easy detection of the glomerular filtration rate (Levey et al., 1988).



Figure 8. Creatine metabolism

(Image Source: https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/nursing-and-health-professions/creatine-phosphate)

1.3.8 Interaction between Nitric Oxide Synthase and Arginase

As L-Arg serves as a common substrate for both eNOS and arginase in the body, these enzymes compete and interfere with the activity of one another (Wu et al., 2009). Interestingly, L-Arg has higher affinity to NOS in reference to a much lower K_m value for NOS than arginase, but the V_{max} of arginase is a lot higher than NOS, indicating faster maximum catalytic rate of reaction with L-Arg, affecting arginine bioavailability for NOS (Wu and Morris Jr, 1998). The difference in these enzymatic factors of the two suggests that L-Arg is used up by both enzymes at a relatively similar rate. Considering this and the potential impact of competing for L-Arg, the enzymatic interplay between NOS and arginase has been a focus of research. There are numerous studies which demonstrated that inhibiting arginase increases production of NO (Chang et al., 1998; Bruch-Gerharz et al., 2003; Cuihua et al., 2004), and overexpressing arginase decreases production of NO (Li et al., 2001; Meurs et al., 2002; Cuihua et al., 2004).

The mechanism of interaction between NOS and arginase goes beyond the competitive nature for a common substrate. As a part of the NOS pathway shown in Figure 4, a metabolite called N^Ghydroxy-L-arginine (NOHA) strongly inhibits arginase enzymes (Boucher et al., 1994), increasing arginine availability for NO production in various locations such as the liver and macrophages. Furthermore, NO production can also be interrupted by arginase activity of repressing mRNA translation of iNOS, and this inhibition has been reported to be fairly selective, in that arginase inhibited only half of protein synthesis overall, while iNOS protein expression was completely inhibited (Lee et al., 2003).

Some questions that remain are how and at what dose of regular consumption of oral supplements of arginine would physiologically affect the two enzymes, for instance, causing downregulation in one of the two. This is important, because many people in present days take oral arginine supplements for the presumed NO function in the body, thus, if at a certain dose arginase suppresses eNOS activity, then supplements would be deemed counterproductive.

An arginine study in human subjects discovered that high dose supplementation of around 36 g/day of oral arginine accelerated the production of ornithine, a metabolite of the arginase pathway, whereas it did not have any significant effect on nitrate levels, which is a metabolite of the eNOS pathway (Beaumier et al., 1995). This suggests the possibility that L-Arg supplements may not be effective in increasing NO function with eNOS due to the arginase enzyme taking greater effect. Another study reported that inhibiting arginase stimulated the production of NO in endothelial

cells (Chicoine et al., 2004), which may suggest that arginase suppression may be necessary for the NO effects expected with L-Arg supplements in the body. More studies need to be accomplished to view a bigger picture on what really happens to these two major enzymes with oral arginine at various doses that are currently being taken by healthy people and those with disease conditions.

1.3.9 Enzyme Deficiency and its Consequences

Defects in the metabolic enzymes of the arginine pathways have been correlated with a variety of diseases, which is anticipated considering the important roles of metabolites of these enzymes in the body. A deficiency in liver arginase leads to hyperargininemia and to a lesser extent, excessive accumulation of ammonia in humans (Iyer et al., 1998). Hyperargininemia is associated with pathology in the central nervous system, including degeneration of the cortex and the pyramidal tracts causing neurological impairment, as well as growth retardation (Iyer et al., 2002).

eNOS deficiency on the other hand has been linked with hypertension, ischemic complications, and endothelial dysfunction in studies using knockout mice (Huang, 2000; Seinosuke and Mitsuhiro, 2004), which verifies the crucial functions of NO in the cardiovascular system. Under specific conditions, endothelial dysfunction was able to be reversed with arginine administration in both diabetic rats and hypercholesterolemic humans (Wu et al., 2009). ADMA is a naturally occurring endogenous inhibitor of NOS that suppresses NO production and leads to NO deficiency (Vallance et al., 1992). Elevated ADMA levels have been observed with several disease conditions including hypertension and kidney failure (Vallance et al., 1992). ADMA acts as a competitive inhibitor of NOS, thus increasing L-Arg concentration may be effective in reversing the inhibition (Böger, 2006).

ADC deficiency and its consequences have not been well studied yet, but considering the role of the ADC pathway, it could be anticipated that the deficiency may impair polyamine synthesis, which serve various roles in the body as discussed earlier.

AGAT deficiency is from a genetic mutation characterized by insufficient creatine levels in the brain, and low levels of its metabolites in the blood and urine, and it leads to myopathy, global developmental delay, and intellectual disability, which can be treated with oral supplements of creatine (Stockler-Ipsiroglu et al., 2015). This enzyme deficiency is recognized as one of the three types of inborn disorders causing cerebral creatine deficiency syndrome (Stöckler-Ipsiroglu, 1997).

For all cerebral creatine deficiency disorders, intellectual disability and developmental delay are common characteristics, whereas myopathy is a specific characteristic for just AGAT deficiency (Stockler-Ipsiroglu et al., 2015). A good news is that early detection and intervention for the condition can improve the neurologic symptoms and potentially allow for normal outcome after treatment (Battini et al., 2006; Ndika et al., 2012).

1.3.10 Excretion

As mentioned earlier, arginine in systemic circulation is readily degraded and cleared from the body. A mammalian pharmacokinetic study of arginine (Wu et al., 2007) found that one-time intravenous administration of arginine temporarily increases the blood levels of arginine, before being brought back down to the baseline levels after just a few h. In this study, the effects of long-term administration of intravenous and oral arginine showed similar results, where for both routes of administration the serum levels of arginine were not significantly different in comparison to the control group, when blood samples were checked 5 h post-administration. A conclusion made from this finding is that dietary arginine is quickly metabolized and eliminated from the body, rather than accumulating in the circulation to be taken up later. The elimination half-life of oral arginine for adult humans is reported to be approximately 1 h (Bode-Böger et al., 1998).

The elimination of arginine does not usually take place through the kidneys because as with all amino acids, almost all of the filtered arginine gets reabsorbed back into the renal proximal tubules (Young and Freedman, 1971). Rather, arginine metabolites, such as nitrites, urea, and ornithine, formed after enzymatic destruction of arginine get eliminated out of the body through urine (Tangphao et al., 1999b). A human pharmacokinetic trial of arginine determined that approximately 5 g of L-Arg was eliminated in the urine when the subjects were infused with 30 g of intravenous L-Arg, whereas for an oral dose of 10 g, no excretion through the urine tends to occur when the renal reabsorption system is saturated with excess arginine in the tubules from high dose. For both oral and intravenous administration of arginine, L-Arg is eliminated out of the body in a biphasic pattern. In the first round there is a fast decline in plasma arginine levels due to renal clearance, followed by a more gradual fall in its concentration from non-renal excretion (Tangphao et al., 1999b).

1.4 Pharmacodynamics

1.4.1 Protein Expression and Activity Regulation

Interestingly, arginine affects its own metabolic fate by selectively regulating protein expression and activity of several enzymes, in a dose-dependent manner (Morris Jr, 2004). For instance, L-Arg represses the activities of arginosuccinate lyase and arginosuccinate synthetase, both of which take part in catalyzing arginine biosynthesis, though the mechanism of action for this molecular regulation has not been clarified (Schimke, 1962, 1964). Arginine also regulates the expression of iNOS, where overexpression of arginase or decreased arginine uptake causes insufficient extracellular L-Arg levels, which inhibit the expression of iNOS, thereby dysregulating the host defense system (Lee et al., 2003; Manner et al., 2003; Morris Jr, 2004). In addition, the level of arginine in the body affects expression of its gene, when there is restricted intake of amino acids such as arginine (Morris Jr, 2004).

1.4.2 Arginine and Growth Hormone Release

Arginine has been found to increase the release of growth hormone (GH) at a certain dosage in support of numerous oral and intravenous arginine supplementation studies. The mechanism of GH response augmentation by arginine is by downregulating the secretion of somatostatin, which is responsible for inhibiting the release of GH from the pituitary (Alba-Roth et al., 1988). By inhibiting the inhibitory factor for GH, arginine indirectly stimulates the release of GH and potentiates responsiveness to growth hormone releasing hormone (GHRH) (Collier et al., 2005). Studies that have tested the effects of intravenous arginine administration on GH response determined that both doses of 5 g and 9 g of arginine led to significantly elevated plasma GH levels in the resting state, whereas a higher dose of 13 g did not (Collier et al., 2005). It was further reported in this study that the 13 g dose was not tolerated well by most of the subjects, causing moderate gastrointestinal distress. However, several other studies that tested even a higher intravenous dose of 30 g reported the effectiveness of arginine in elevating GH concentrations (Weltman et al., 2000; Wideman et al., 2000; Kamel et al., 2002). The parenteral route of arginine administration has been shown to consistently cause increased plasma GH levels, whereas the enteral route has not (Chromiak and Antonio, 2002).

In contrast to the studies for intravenous administration of arginine, oral arginine supplementation studies reported conflicting results in regard to the physiological efficacy of arginine as a potent stimulatory agent for GH release. A low dose oral arginine study involving children demonstrated that 4 g of oral arginine in the form of arginine hydrochloride significantly increased both, the resting GH levels, and GH response to GHRH, released from the hypothalamus (Bellone et al., 1993). As well, another arginine study with healthy postmenopausal women given 9 g/day of oral L-Arg for 1 month suggested this dose to be safe and effective in increasing GH levels (Blum et al., 2000). On the other hand, some suggested that oral arginine supplements are likely not effective in increasing GH levels and discouraged taking it for this purpose, adding that it would likely cause unpleasant gastrointestinal symptoms such as stomach discomfort and diarrhea (Chromiak and Antonio, 2002). This conclusion was supported by other studies involving male weight trainers (Walberg-Rankin et al., 1994) and bodybuilders (Lambert et al., 1993), where they were provided oral arginine at a dose of 8 g/day for 17 days, and 2.4 g of arginine/lysine supplement dose, respectively. Neither of those studies showed significantly increased GH levels. With the variability in the study results, it is difficult to conclude the effect of oral doses of arginine supplements on GH release.

1.4.3 Arginine and Endothelial Function

As outlined earlier, one of the widely known physiological functions of arginine is its effects on the vasculature to maintain good vessel health as a part of the eNOS pathway. As a substrate for eNOS and a precursor to NO, L-Arg is responsible for endothelium-dependent vasodilation, which is defective in individuals with endothelial dysfunction and many other cardiovascular diseases (Yang et al., 2009). A long-term arginine study involving patients with nonobstructive coronary artery disease reported that oral L-Arg taken three times a day for 6 months showed higher coronary blood flow in response to acetylcholine when compared with the control group, indicating improvement in endothelial function (Amir et al., 1998).

In addition to its role in vasorelaxation, NO also attenuates platelet aggregation (Radomski et al., 1990), and prevents adhesion of platelets to endothelial cells (Radomski et al., 1987). This contributes to the health of the endothelium as platelet interaction with the endothelium mediates cardiovascular issues such as vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis (Hamilos et al., 2018).

Endothelial dysfunction is highly associated with alteration in eNOS function with a subsequent decrease in NO levels and an increase in production of superoxide (Yang et al., 2009). The accumulation of superoxide anions causes oxidative stress in the endothelium and takes part in destroying NO, contributing to endothelial dysfunction (Vallance and Chan, 2001). Several studies have indicated that L-Arg exhibits antioxidant functions by acting as a free radical scavenger and increasing total antioxidant capacity in the body (Tripathi and Misra, 2009; Fazelian et al., 2014). All of these research reports complement the notion that L-Arg, in association with the product of its major metabolic pathway, *viz.* NO, plays a crucial role in maintaining normal endothelial function.

1.4.4 Role of Arginine in Targeting Factors of Type 2 Diabetes

Arginine may be considered as a potential therapeutic agent for type 2 diabetes due to various physiological functions that have been demonstrated by multiple research studies. Firstly, many studies have demonstrated that arginine is effective in increasing insulin sensitivity in the body (Maccario et al.; Piatti et al., 2001; Lucotti et al., 2006; Bogdanski et al., 2012; Miczke et al., 2015). Insulin resistance, which is characterized by hyperglycemia, has been known to be closely linked with type 2 diabetes and currently is a target for the treatment of the disease (Taylor, 2012). Therefore, increasing sensitivity of insulin would allow for greater uptake of glucose into cells to ameliorate hyperglycemia and potentially reverse type 2 diabetes. In order to explain the mechanism of arginine action in alleviating insulin resistance, it has been speculated that insulin resistance is linked with reduced levels of cGMP, the second messenger of NO, and subsequent reduced vasodilatory response (Piatti et al., 2001). This proposal is supported by the conclusions drawn from other studies that insulin sensitivity is positively correlated with endotheliumdependent NO synthesis (Petrie et al., 1996), and that insulin resistant individuals show reduction in vasodilatory responses (Laakso et al., 1992). Thereby, L-Arg supplementation through the eNOS pathway, as described previously, increases endothelium-dependent NO production, which acts on guanyl cyclase to increase the levels of cGMP, allowing for more vasodilation, and increasing insulin sensitivity. Not only is arginine known to increase the sensitivity of insulin, but research studies have also suggested that arginine given intravenously and not orally directly acts as an insulin secretagogue by a mechanism associated with depolarization of the plasma membrane of islet B-cells (van Haeften et al., 1989; Sener et al., 2000).

In addition, an interesting and novel finding of both L- and D-Arg from a study is their ability to mitigate endothelial dysfunction caused by high levels of glucose and its metabolite, methylglyoxal (MG), both of which are highly associated with type 2 diabetes (Dhar et al., 2012). Rather than depending on the eNOS pathway, arginine directly acts as a scavenger for MG, which is a glycating compound that reacts with certain proteins to synthesize irreversible advanced glycation end products (AGEs) (Dhar et al., 2012). AGEs cause oxidative stress and vascular damage, leading to diabetic complications (Dhar et al., 2008). It has been found that the production of MG and MG-dependent AGEs are significantly elevated in diabetic patients, and this is also partly likely due to alteration in glyoxalase I, which is the enzyme responsible for degrading MG into D-lactate (Rabbani and Thornalley, 2014).

As arginine is capable of increasing insulin sensitivity and selectively targeting the mediator for vascular complications of diabetes *viz*. MG, arginine may potentially be effective in attenuating the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes and its vascular complications.

1.4.5 Arginine and Immune Function

Research on the physiological impact of arginine on immune function has been surrounded with controversies around its mechanism and treatment approach. The effects of arginine on immune function have been mostly associated with the production of its metabolites such as NO that serve as immunomodulators, as a part of the arginine metabolic pathways (Kim et al., 2018). While some studies suggest that arginine supplementation promotes immune responses to enhance defense mechanisms (Visek, 1986; Barbul et al., 1990; Sax, 1994), others have indicated the opposite, that arginine deprivation may help with immune defense and suppress cancer growth (Lind, 2004; Yoon et al., 2013).

There are numerous rationales that have been proposed to support both sides of the argument on arginine effects in immune function. First of all, iNOS plays a key role in mediating the function of immune cells as a part of the immune defense system. NO synthesized from iNOS acts as a proinflammatory agent in innate immune cells such as macrophages to destroy pathogens in the body (Bogdan et al., 2000). As a substrate for iNOS, L-Arg deficiency causes defects in the function and reduction in proliferation of T-cells, which was found to be recovered by arginine supplementation (Barbul, 1990; Rodriguez et al., 2007). This is because arginine plays a significant role in lymphocyte mitogenesis to improve immune function (Barbul et al., 1990), and thus
decreased bioavailability of arginine may mediate immune suppression. Arginine controls T-cell proliferation by directly facilitating the cell cycle of T-lymphocytes at the level of transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation, acting as a thymotropic agent (Witte and Barbul, 2003). This conclusion has been supported by a study that demonstrated that a decrease in L-Arg availability causes cell cycle arrest at G_0 to G_1 phase for T-cells (Rodriguez et al., 2007). Also, speaking at the level of translation, arginine is responsible for regulating protein expression of an important subunit of the receptor complex for T-cells (Rodriguez et al., 2003; Popovic et al., 2007). Therefore, not only does arginine control proliferation of immune cells, but it also controls its action by modulating the formation of its receptors. Furthermore, as previously explained, L-Arg augments the release of GH, which increases maturation of myeloid progenitor cells, and the synthesis of lymphocytes and immunoglobulins (Meazza et al., 2004).

In contrast, excess arginine leading to excess production of the iNOS catalyzed metabolite, NO, has been suggested to promote growth and survival of cancer cells and mediate anti-cancer treatment resistance (Ekmekcioglu et al., 2017; Kim et al., 2018). Studies have reported that an increased NO production enhances immune suppression, and progression of tumors, which may be due to inhibitory action of NO on IL-12-mediated Th1 immune responses (Yoon et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2014b; Xue et al., 2018). In terms of NO function in macrophages, it can suppress its activation, leading to inflammatory diseases and infection (Xue et al., 2018). Interestingly in addition, it has been reported that arginine supplementation actually acts a source of arginine that melanoma cells depend on for survival, since a crucial enzyme for arginine synthesis is often missing in these cells (Yoon et al., 2013). Therefore, depleting free arginine in the body could be useful as a therapeutic approach to enhance immunity in fighting off these cells.

There is accumulating evidence for a variety of L-Arg mechanisms for both boosting immune function and downregulating immune response, thereby, the exact clinical benefit of arginine supplementation for disease therapy in patients is unclear to this day.

1.4.6 Arginine and Wound Healing

Arginine through its metabolic pathways has been found to contribute to the wound healing process. There are many physiological differences between acute wounds and chronic wounds, and unfortunately, knowledge on the wound healing process has only been well established for acute and not chronic wounds (Mast and Schultz, 1996; Stechmiller et al., 2005). In short, normal

acute wound healing is characterized by three steps, in order: inflammation mediated by iNOS, cell proliferation in tissues, and remodeling, and each one of these three steps is strictly regulated by various factors including inflammatory cytokines (Stechmiller et al., 2005). Wound healing is promoted by arginine through the two of its major metabolic enzymes, NOS and arginase in sequential order (Abd-El-Aleem et al., 2000; Witte and Barbul, 2003; Stechmiller et al., 2005).

Firstly, arginine gets metabolized by all isoforms of NOS located in skin tissues such as keratinocytes and melanocytes (Stechmiller et al., 2005), synthesizing citrulline and NO as its metabolites as explained previously. NO contributes to wound healing by numerous mechanisms, but primarily by protecting the skin from cellular damage by causing vasodilation for better blood flow, inhibiting lymphocyte replication and killing pathogens (Albina and Henry, 1991; Mills, 2001; Nieves and Langkamp-Henken, 2002). The important isoform of NOS in wound healing is iNOS which is found mainly in macrophages, as this isoform produces NO in high bursts compared to the other two isozymes (Witte and Barbul, 2003). The increase in NO synthesis by NOS is followed by the suppression of NOS activity and a subsequent elevation in arginase activity to form increased levels of ornithine and proline (Stechmiller et al., 2005). Polyamines formed from ornithine by ODC regulate cell replication, cell growth and tissue regeneration, and proline formed from ornithine by OAT is a major collagen constituent that contributes to cell growth and the health of connective tissues (Stechmiller et al., 2005). Collagen is very important for the process of wound healing as it is responsible for scar formation (Witte and Barbul, 2003).

With results from numerous arginine studies focused on wound healing, it has become evident that arginine supplementation increases both hydroxyproline levels leading to a subsequent increase in collagen synthesis, and wound breaking strength (Seifter et al., 1978; Barbul et al., 1983, 1985; Shi et al., 2000, 2003, 2007; Wittmann et al., 2005).

1.5 Oral Arginine Supplements and its uses

1.5.1 Optimal Oral Dosage

In order to fully understand the safety and efficacy of oral arginine supplements, various factors must be considered, including the different target populations with certain conditions, dosage, and treatment duration. The safe range of oral doses for specific effects of arginine in the general population has not been clearly established yet. However, several animal and human clinical

research trials have contributed to knowledge on potential safe and effective dose ranges for arginine supplementation.

An animal study involving rats, pigs, and sheep concluded based on their results that human enteral arginine doses of 3, 10, and 15 g/day would be safe in a 5 kg infant, 30 kg child, and 70 kg adult, respectively (Wu et al., 2007). From the same study, it was also suggested that an enteral dose of arginine ranging from 15-40 g/day should be tolerable for 70 kg human adult.

There are many human clinical trials done to establish the safety and efficacy of oral arginine. One important study tested for the effects of dietary arginine at doses of 3, 9, 21, and 30 g/day for a full week in healthy subjects and found that 9 g/day was the dose where circulating L-Arg level in the blood was highest, with minimal side effects, appearing as the ideal dose (Evans et al., 2004). Other studies involving healthy adult volunteers reported that oral arginine supplementation was well tolerated with minimal adverse effects at a dose of 10 g/day (Tangphao et al., 1999b), and at an even higher dose of 40 g/day given for a full week (Beaumier et al., 1995).

Oral arginine supplements are believed to be safer and more effective in the body when taken in multiple lower doses rather than one high dose for a few reasons (Wu et al., 2007). One is that as mentioned previously, due to the fact that positively-charged amino acids share the same transporter for absorption, arginine at a significantly high dose can possibly alter the balance of other cationic amino acid levels in the body (Edmonds et al., 1987). Also, it has been noted that divided doses of arginine for administration helps with keeping the level of arginine in the blood elevated for longer (Böger and Bode-Böger, 2001), whereas a one-time arginine dose does not change the arginine levels in the blood when compared with baseline plasma concentration after a few h of administration (Wu et al., 2007). Prolonging the duration of arginine circulation in blood means that more of it can be thoroughly distributed across the body tissues to exert its effects. It is crucial to find the minimal effective dose, as high arginine doses may lead to detrimental effects. A high arginine dose causes rapid mass production of NO that may lead to atherosclerotic lesions (Chen et al., 2003) and several issues in the gastrointestinal tract (Wu and Meininger, 2000).

Further research is necessary to build a stronger foundation of understanding the exact effects of oral arginine at different doses and duration in the healthy population and those with disease conditions. So far, there is enough scientific evidence on many physiological functions and benefits of arginine, but practically limited evidence on the safety and efficacy of oral arginine supplements. Therefore, many individuals are relying on the theory behind arginine's NO augmenting property in the body to take arginine supplements, rather than scientific evidence. Generally, oral arginine supplements are believed to be potentially effective for various uses like enhancing athletic performance, sexual function, and cardiovascular health (L-Arginine, 2021).

1.5.2 Use in Athletes

Healthy populations such as the athletes have been turning to L-Arg supplements for ergogenic purposes. A systematic review and meta-analysis that investigated the ergogenic potential of arginine supplements reported that both, one-time and chronic supplementation with oral arginine improved both aerobic and anaerobic performance if taken at doses of 0.15 g/kg at 60 to 90 min prior to exercise, and 1.5 to 2 g/day for 4 to 7 weeks, respectively (Viribay et al., 2020).

The physiological mechanisms behind the possible effectiveness of arginine supplements on physical performance involve the arginine metabolites NO and creatine, as well as the role of arginine in GH release (Campbell et al., 2004).

GH may be useful for building lean body mass and power through its anabolic properties (Saugy et al., 2006), and because arginine has been hypothesized to augment GH secretion in the body, it is commonly viewed as an ergogenic agent. For instance, a double-blinded study that supplemented 15 g/day of oral arginine-aspartate to endurance-trained runners for 2 weeks prior to a marathon run found that plasma GH levels were significantly elevated in these subjects, with blood samples collected before and after the full marathon run (Colombani et al., 1999). However, as explained earlier, studies regarding oral usage of arginine and its effects on GH secretion have reported conflicting results, suggesting the need for further investigation.

Creatine, one of the metabolites of the AGAT pathway of arginine, is well known in athletes for not just its role in regulating energy storage, which has been described earlier, but also for building muscle size and strength to increase exercise performance (Vandenberghe et al., 1997; Volek et al., 1999). Current evidence for the indirect benefits of oral arginine supplementation on physical performance related to creatine production have been associated with anaerobic or highintensity exercise, such as weightlifting (Viribay et al., 2020). One of the main reasons for this is because rapid, high bursts of energy is associated with the phosphagen system, for which the main substrate is creatine (Viribay et al., 2020). Although arginine normally acts as a major substrate for AGAT to produce creatine in the body, oral arginine supplementation may be ineffective in causing elevation in creatine levels for ergogenic effects. This is because creatine supplementation has been determined to suppress the AGAT enzyme (Walker, 1979), and the rate-determining step of creatine synthesis is regulated by AGAT and not arginine levels, for guanidinoacetate production (Stead et al., 2001). The better option would be to directly take creatine supplements.

NO made from arginine metabolism *via* the NOS pathway is known to serve important functions in physical performance. It causes vasodilation which helps with tissue respiration through enhancing oxygen uptake in muscles (Wolin et al., 1997). NO improves blood flow, making it easier for oxygen delivery and uptake into muscle tissues to increase tissue respiration (Wolin et al., 1997). With those functions, it is useful in reducing oxygen cost during exercise and improving exercise tolerance (Campbell et al., 2004; Jones, 2014). Thereby, evidence of benefit for arginine supplementation in endurance sports such as long distance running, has been considered to be linked to NO effects (Viribay et al., 2020). Although some research evidence on the benefits of NO in exercise has been established, the benefits of oral arginine supplements to augment NO production in the body to exert these beneficial effects, have not been thoroughly investigated yet in healthy individuals.

Overall, the available data on the impact of arginine supplementation on athletic performance remains controversial among various studies, and a consistently effective dose and duration for arginine supplementation has not been established yet either (Viribay et al., 2020).

1.5.3 Use in Erectile Dysfunction

Erectile Dysfunction affects over 50% of men in the age range of 40 to 70 years, with the number of people diagnosed with this condition increasing with age (Eardley, 2013). The main regulator for penile erection is NO formed from NOS, as the process of erection is regulated by vasorelaxation of smooth muscles in corpora cavernosa (Ignarro et al., 1987; Maggi et al., 2000). As L-Arg acts as the one and only substrate for NOS to produce NO in the body (Burnett, 2004), the role of arginine supplementation in potentially increasing physiological NO levels for the treatment of erectile dysfunction has been considered and studied. A study indicated that a common trend seen with patients with erectile dysfunction is the significantly reduced levels of L-Arg and L-citrulline, suggesting a link between this condition and the role of L-Arg (Barassi et al., 2017). Although phosphodiesterase inhibitors (PDE_i) are first-line drugs for treatment of this condition, arginine supplements may prove to be an effective alternative. PDE_i inhibit the breakdown of cGMP to cause relaxation in penile smooth muscle and maintain penile erection

(Rhim et al., 2019). Arginine supplements have been shown to cause less adverse effects and have better safety profile than PDE_i (Rhim et al., 2019). As well, it also has been mentioned that as arginine supplements are more commonly viewed as nutrition supplements rather than drugs, it may be more psychologically accepted and easily considered for use than PDE_i (Cormio et al., 2011). In terms of effectiveness of arginine supplements in men with erectile dysfunction, there are several studies that have demonstrated its efficacy at specific doses.

A prospective, randomized study tested for the efficacy and safety of L-Arg supplements at a dose of 2.5 g/day with and without 5 mg/day PDE_i for 12 weeks, in patients with erectile dysfunction at various levels of severity (Gallo et al., 2020). Using the International Index of Erectile Function – Erectile Function Domain (IIEF-EF) in this study, L-Arg monotherapy was found to be significantly effective in patients with mild and moderate erectile dysfunction, but ineffective for people with the severe form of the disease. The effectiveness of arginine monotherapy was greatest for the mild severity population to the point that it was suggested to be equally effective as PDE_i monotherapy with less side effects. Overall, combination therapy of L-Arg with PDE_i showed greatest improvement for all patient populations in the study, including the ones with the severe form of erectile dysfunction. The conclusion made from this study was supported by others who reported similar results (Rhim et al., 2019; Abu El-Hamd and Hegazy, 2020; El-Wakeel et al., 2020). For instance, another erectile dysfunction clinical study in the elderly population using 5 g/day of arginine for 6 weeks with and without PDE_i, also suggested combination therapy to be the outstanding method of treatment with best efficacy, though monotherapy was also shown to be effective (Abu El-Hamd and Hegazy, 2020).

1.5.4 Use in Hypertension

Hypertension is known to be the leading contributor for both morbidity and mortality worldwide and acts as a major causal factor for cardiovascular diseases (Oparil et al., 2018). The impact of L-Arg supplementation has been linked with hypertension treatment, mainly due to the role of endothelium-dependent vasodilation associated with NO, increasing blood flow and decreasing vascular resistance (Khalaf et al., 2019; Gambardella et al., 2020).

In addition to vascular resistance and blood pressure, oxidative stress caused by reactive oxygen species also leads to vessel damage to contribute to cardiovascular disorders like hypertension and therefore, anti-oxidants play an important role in the maintenance of vascular health (Senoner and

Dichtl, 2019). A study done on mildly hypertensive individuals determined that 2 g of oral L-Arg three times a day for 28 days significantly increased the level of antioxidants to reduce oxidative stress (Jabecka et al., 2012).

Furthermore, several studies suggest that only specific subgroups may benefit from these supplements. Some indicated that arginine supplementation is effective specifically for saltsensitive hypertension, rather than essential hypertension (Vasdev and Gill, 2008). As well, the majority of the benefits seen with L-Arg supplementation were in studies of hypercholesterolemic individuals, which showed that this population responded and benefited well in various cardiovascular aspects such as endothelium-dependent vasodilation and hypotensive responses (Clarkson et al., 1996; Theilmeier et al., 1997; Lekakis et al., 2002; West et al., 2005). This goes along with the findings that blood pressure regulation by oral arginine supplements is only effective for certain subgroups of unhealthy population such as people with diabetes or coronary artery disease, and not the healthy population (Ast et al., 2011; Dong et al., 2011; Martin and Desai, 2020). No significant effect on systolic and diastolic blood pressure was seen in healthy male subjects chronically taking oral L-Arg supplements at a dose of 2 g/day for 45 days (Pahlavani et al., 2014). However, there is also a diet-controlled human study which reported that oral L-Arg supplements at a dose of 10 g three times day for a week led to significantly lowered blood pressure in healthy volunteers, though the sample size of study was very small (Siani et al., 2000). Study results regarding the efficacy of oral arginine supplements in hypertension are not completely in consensus to conclude without a doubt that it is effective for the entire population. However, a significant trend of benefits has been observed for individuals with various cardiovascular diseases. More studies considering different factors such as the targeted dose, treatment duration, health status, comorbidities and baseline blood pressure would contribute to a better understanding of how effective oral arginine use would be in hypertension.

1.5.5 Use in Hypercholesterolemia

High levels of cholesterol in the blood have been closely linked to cardiovascular complications such as atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease (CAD) (Kottke et al., 1988). Supplemental arginine use in hypercholesterolemia has been considered due to the theoretical knowledge of NO as a vasodilator and inhibitor of platelet aggregation (Moncada and Higgs, 1993). Clinical studies with hypercholesterolemic patients have determined that oral L-Arg supplementation at 6 to 10

g/day for 2 weeks and 8.4 g/day for 2 weeks, improves endothelial dysfunction (Maxwell et al., 2000) and platelet aggregation (Wolf et al., 1997), respectively, both of which are major characteristics of hypercholesterolemia. These two characteristics are very important to tackle to prevent the atherogenic process of hypercholesterolemia. As mentioned earlier, clinical studies of oral arginine effects on blood pressure mainly involved hypercholesterolemic patients. This may be due to the fact that cardiovascular diseases are often interconnected with one another, meaning that hypercholesterolemic patients likely have hypertension and the two conditions are both characterized by endothelial dysfunction. Endothelial dysfunction plays a major role in several cardiovascular disorders including hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetes.

One study tested the effects of 7 g/day of oral L-Arg 3 times a day for 4 weeks in hypercholesterolemic individuals with endothelial dysfunction, by measuring the endothelium-dependent and -independent responses through brachial artery diameter (Clarkson et al., 1996). This with several other similar studies (Creager et al., 1992; Thorne et al., 1998) together presented that oral L-Arg supplementation leads to significant improvement in endothelium-dependent vasodilation in hypercholesterolemia. In addition, one study in particular also suggested that arginine supplementation efficacy is similar or even better than lipid-lowering therapies which are often used to reduce cholesterol levels in the blood (Stroes et al., 1995).

1.5.6 Use in Type 2 Diabetes

Due to the possible roles of L-Arg as an antioxidant, insulin sensitizer and vasodilator, its use as an oral supplement in diabetes has been studied. Preclinical studies done using diabetic rats showed that oral arginine supplementation attenuates endothelial dysfunction, reduces oxidative stress and improves vasodilator responses (Pieper et al., 1996; Ozçelikay et al., 2000). As well, studies in both diabetic rat (Claybaugh et al., 2014) and human (Piatti et al., 2001) subjects found oral L-Arg supplementation to be effective in improving insulin sensitivity. Lastly, oral L-Arg supplementation at a dose of 6.4 g/day for 18 months in middle-aged individuals with defective glucose tolerance and metabolic syndrome lowered the risk of type 2 diabetes in the long term, measured by the cumulative incidence in a 90-month follow up period (Monti et al., 2018), suggesting its potential as a preventive. This suggestion is also supported by the fact that both Land D-Arg directly act as a scavenger for MG, a major contributor to AGEs that is known to cause vascular complications of diabetes (Dhar et al., 2012). However, in contrast, there is a study that demonstrated that L-Arg, in the process of interacting with MG and inhibiting AGEs formation, ends up producing superoxide anions as a byproduct (Tsai et al., 2004). With this result, the researchers of this study concluded that it may be counterintuitive to use L-Arg supplementation for prophylaxis in diabetic patients, as the harmful product can worsen oxidative stress that already exists in these patients. In conclusion for now, the evidence for the clinical use of oral arginine supplements in diabetic population overall is controversial and unclear (Tousoulis et al., 2002).

1.5.7 Use in Heart Failure

The physiological roles of L-Arg have been associated with alleviating heart failure by contributing to NO formation, which causes vasodilation to reduce preload and oxygen demand on the heart (Macdonald et al., 1996; Le Corvoisier et al., 2000). The benefits of oral arginine treatment on heart failure were mainly reported for chronic, and not acute supplementation. A randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled arginine study testing for oral doses of 5.6 to 12.6 g/day for 6 weeks reported that the oral arginine supplementation improves blood flow, functional status in terms of walking distance, and arterial compliance, in heart failure patients (Rector et al., 1996). Another study determined that chronic oral arginine supplementation may be beneficial to improve daily functioning, according to the results indicating that chronic but not acute supplementation, at 6 g twice a day for 6 weeks, delayed ventilatory threshold (Doutreleau et al., 2005). As with other cardiovascular diseases, endothelial dysfunction is a key player in heart failure (Chin-Dusting et al., 1996), confirming the notion that NO serves important roles for this condition. In contrast to various studies that evidently suggested the efficacy of oral L-Arg supplements on heart failure, a study of heart failure patients taking 20 g/day of oral L-Arg supplements for 28 days demonstrated that in these patients, hypotensive responses were not significantly affected (Chin-Dusting et al., 1996). Thus, it was concluded from this study that oral arginine supplementation does not lead to improvement in endothelial function in heart failure patients. In order to better understand the therapeutic potential of oral arginine supplementation in heart failure patients, further clinical trials for both acute and chronic supplementation are needed.

1.5.8 Use in MELAS Syndrome

Mitochondrial encephalomyopathy, lactic acidosis, and stroke-like episodes (MELAS) syndrome is a multi-organ disorder characterized by sudden, short-lived, and recurring occurrences

of stroke-like episodes (Ikawa et al., 2020). NO deficiency and endothelial dysfunction have been demonstrated to be closely associated with the MELAS syndrome, especially in the stroke-like episodes (Koga et al., 2005; El-Hattab et al., 2015). L-Arg therapy is commonly used for treatment of MELAS patients, and the mechanism has been linked with increased blood flow from increased NO levels (El-Hattab et al., 2017).

A study involving MELAS patients treated with oral L-Arg supplements at a dose of 0.15 to 0.3 g/kd/day for 18 months reported that the patients had elevated baseline ADMA levels, suggesting subsequent downregulation of eNOS to be at play in MELAS (Koga et al., 2005). The same study also found that the oral supplementation improved clinical symptoms of MELAS, reducing both the frequency and severity of stroke-like episodes and did not cause any safety concerns associated with side effects. Similarly in a recent long-term study involving people with MELAS symptoms treated with oral doses of 0.3 to 0.5 g/kg/day in three divided doses following each meal for two years, a tendency towards improvement in incidence and severity of ictuses (strokes) was observed, though not statistically significant (Koga et al., 2018).

Currently, oral arginine supplementation is being used commonly as prophylaxis to reduce recurrent stroke-like episodes, whereas the intravenous route is reserved for acute use, such as during a stroke-like episode (El-Hattab et al., 2017). In specific terms, the recommendations for the dose of oral arginine for prophylaxis is 150 to 300 mg/kg/day in 3 divided doses (Sproule and Kaufmann, 2008; Koenig et al., 2016).

A major limitation is that clinical studies of L-Arg supplementation on MELAS only address and focus on the stroke-like episodes of this disease characterized by many other factors. Therefore, more arginine studies covering and assessing the other aspects would allow for a bigger picture in understanding the therapeutic effects of oral arginine in this disease.

1.6 RATIONALE OF STUDY

Oral arginine supplements are widely being used by both healthy and unhealthy populations for its physiological functions and presumed effectiveness for various conditions. However, these supplements are being used mostly according to the theoretical knowledge on the impact of arginine in the body, rather than reliable scientific facts proven through clinical studies. There still is a huge gap of evidence and knowledge on safety and efficacy of oral arginine supplements, and the recommended doses for use in particular conditions are needed to be further investigated. My focus for this present study was on the effects of chronically administered oral arginine on arginase, eNOS, AGAT, and ADC pathways, and this study was extended from a lower dose Sprague-Dawley (SD) rat study of 500 mg/kg/day at 4-week (Martin and Desai, 2020), that has been published in our lab with some interesting and significant findings. The experimental protocol for my research is comparable to the lower dose study, but the main differences are the dose and duration of treatment of the rats. For this research study, oral arginine was administered for 16 weeks at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day, so the arginine effects were examined from rats treated with twice the dose and four times the treatment duration in comparison to the previous study.

Along with many other D-isomers of amino acids, D-Arg is commonly known to be physiologically inert and thus is left out from consideration in most arginine studies. In order to verify this, we incorporated testing for the effects of oral D-Arg supplementation along with the L-isoform on the metabolic pathways of SD rats. From the lower dose study of 500 mg/kg/day for 4-week treatment mentioned previously, there were some unanticipated results of D-Arg appearing to exert significant effects on the levels of some metabolites and enzyme expressions from the four arginine pathways. Thereby, the results from this chronic higher dose study were aimed to be compared with the results of the lower dose study to observe the trend and understand the overall picture of the effects of both L- and D-Arg supplementation on the arginine metabolic pathways.

Oral arginine supplements are not only commonly used by individuals with unhealthy conditions such as cardiovascular diseases, but also by healthy individuals such as athletes for ergogenic purposes. As mentioned previously, current evidence on beneficial effects of arginine supplements is limited, and more research needs to be done on the general population to determine how and at what dose oral arginine can cause beneficial and harmful effects on the body of normal and healthy individuals. SD rats were used as standard, normal models for this study to test for the metabolic effects of supplemental arginine in healthy bodies and to establish a basis for understanding safety and efficacy of chronic supplementation of oral arginine in the general population as a contributor for pre-clinical study. On top of this present study, there is another separate study in progress in our lab using Zucker Diabetic Fatty rats as a pathological model, to understand the physiological roles of oral arginine in the unhealthy, diseased population.

1.7 HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES

1.7.1 Hypothesis

Administration of oral L-arginine (1000 mg/kg/day) to 9-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats for 16 weeks will lead to changes in enzyme expressions and activities, and/or the levels of metabolites, of arginine metabolic pathways, whereas administration of oral D-arginine (1000 mg/kg/day) for 16 weeks will not affect the arginine metabolic pathways.

1.7.2 Objectives

1. To determine the physiological impact of a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day of oral arginine administered for 16 weeks, on its metabolic pathways in male Sprague-Dawley rats and compare it with the effects of 500 mg/kg/day of oral arginine administered for 4 weeks and published from our lab (Martin and Desai, 2020).

2. To determine the expression of L-arginine metabolizing enzymes, *viz.* arginase, eNOS, AGAT and ADC/agmatinase, and their activities, whenever possible, after treatment with L-Arg or D-Arg at 1000 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks in male Sprague-Dawley rats.

3. To determine the levels of metabolites of L-arginine metabolizing enzymes, *viz.* arginase, eNOS, AGAT and ADC/agmatinase, after treatment with L-Arg or D-Arg at 1000 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks in male Sprague-Dawley rats. The metabolites measured include urea, hydroxyproline, nitrite, creatinine and total polyamines. The metabolites chosen for measurements were based on the availability of their respective assay kits. Thus, creatinine was measured instead of creatine, hydroxyproline instead of proline and total polyamines instead of individual polyamines such as putrescine, spermine and spermidine.

4. To determine the effects of D-Arg, a supposedly physiologically inert isomer of arginine, at 1000 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks in male Sprague-Dawley rats, and compare it to the effects of L-Arg.

5. To measure the levels of lysine, which uses the same transporter as arginine, *viz*. CAT-1, in order to determine whether oral arginine affects lysine levels and availability.

6. To determine the effects of oral arginine on the levels of ADMA, a product of protein methylation post-translational modification, because ADMA is associated with homocysteine levels, cardiovascular diseases and may be affected by oral arginine supplements (Bode-Böger et al., 2003; Krzyzanowska et al., 2006)

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Animals

All animal protocols for this study adhered to the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care and had received ethical approval by the Animal Care Committee at the University of Saskatchewan (Animal Care Protocol #20160059).

The animals used for this research project were eighteen 9-week-old, male Sprague-Dawley rats purchased from Charles River Laboratories in Quebec, Canada. The rats were fed a standard diet of a laboratory rat (Prolab® RMH 3000, LabDiet) provided by the Animal Care facilities. The standard diet which contained 22.5 % of protein in total, consisted of 1.41 % arginine.

Following acclimatization for 1 week, the rats were randomly divided into the following treatment groups:

- (1) **Control group**: Normal diet + **plain drinking water** (ad libitum) (n = 4).
- (2) L-Arg group: Normal diet + L-arginine (1000 mg/kg/day) in drinking water (n = 7).
- (3) **D-Arg group**: Normal diet + **D-arginine** (1000 mg/kg/day) in drinking water (n = 7).

The treatment was continued for 16 weeks. During the entire treatment period of 16 weeks, each rat was placed alone in a separate cage for the recording of individual daily intake of water.

To prepare arginine stock solution, the arginine free base (L-Arg, Cat # W381918, Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd; D-Arg, Cat # GM7267, Glentham Life Sciences, Corsham, U.K.) was dissolved in the drinking water, and the highly alkaline pH was adjusted to 7·4 with hydrochloric acid. The reasons for the method of administrating arginine in drinking water for the treatment groups, rather than through oral gavage or parenteral administration, were because it reflects the route that humans take when taking oral supplements, and daily oral gavage for 16 weeks was considered to be extremely stressful with an increased risk of mortality for the rats, due to the possibility of pulmonary aspiration. A higher dose of 1000 mg/kg/day administered for a longer period of 16 weeks was chosen for my project, in order to compare its physiological impact with a smaller dose of 500 mg/kg/day administered for a shorter duration of 4 weeks that was used in a study published by our lab recently (Martin and Desai, 2020). In terms of human equivalent dose, the dose of 1000 mg/kg/day used in my study is equivalent to a dose of about 162 mg/kg/day for humans (approx. 11.3 g for a 70 kg adult), according to the conversion guide provided by the Food and Drug Administration (2005). This dose can be considered to be moderate for humans because a meta-analysis that included 11 trials studying the effect of arginine supplements on blood

pressure in humans used arginine doses ranging from 4 to 24 g/day for periods of 2 to 24 weeks (Dong JY et al. 2011).

The body weights of all the rats were recorded prior to and after the full treatment period, and every other day during the treatment period. The water intake for each rat was recorded every other day. To account for the variation in daily water intake and the gradually increasing body weights, and to ensure that all rats get the same dose through the drinking water, the dose of arginine to be added to the drinking water for each rat was calculated with a specially devised formula:

Body weight (g) x 15 / water intake per day (mL) = X mL of 10 g/L stock L-Arg solution to be added to a 300 mL bottle and the rest tap water to make 300 mL.

Arginine was supplemented in the drinking water every other day based on calculations for that day. After the end of the 16-week treatment, the rats in all three groups were individually placed in metabolic cages which were used to collect urine over a 16 h period of overnight fasting with free access to water, but not food. The amount of urine collected in metabolic cages varied a lot from rat to rat, ranging from 0.3 mL to 55 mL, which made the urinary measurements of various metabolites unreliable. Thereby, urinary arginine levels were not measured. The metabolic cages were not connected to any instruments for metabolic measurements. The rats were anesthetized, and the blood samples were collected. After centrifugation of the blood samples at 12,000 rpm for 10 min, plasma was collected, frozen and stored at -80°C for further analysis. Finally, the rats were euthanized by cutting the heart open for exsanguination. Following euthanasia, organs and tissues were removed, rinsed with phosphate-buffered saline, frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored in the -80°C freezer.

2.2 Homogenization of Tissues

Using a mortar and pestle, various organs including the aorta, liver, ileum, kidneys, brain, lungs and skeletal muscle were ground into fine powder under liquid nitrogen. The powdered samples were stored in cryogenic tubes at -80° C. To prepare tissue lysates, about 15 mg of powdered tissue was taken in a 1.5 mL Eppendorf tube and vortex mixed with the homogenization buffer, composed of 1% protease inhibitor cocktail (Cat. # P8340 Sigma-Aldrich) in 1 M Tris + 0.5 M EDTA + 0.3 M sucrose buffer. The protease cocktail contained, AEBSF [4-(2-aminoethyl) benzenesulfonyl fluoride hydrochloride, 104 mM], aprotinin (80 μ M), bestatin (4 mM), E-64 (1.4 mM), pepstatin A (1.5 mM) and leupeptin (2 mM). The tissue mix was sonicated (3x10 sec pulses) using a polytron ultrasonic homogenizer. Following homogenization, the samples in the tubes were centrifuged for 10 min at 14000rpm to collect the supernatant from each tube. The majority of this supernatant collected was stored at -80°C for later use in various assays, whereas the raining was used to prepare for the western blot homogenates described below.

2.3 Western Blotting

Western blot experiments were performed in cell lysates of tissue samples to determine the enzyme expression in the treatment groups in comparison to the control group. Firstly, western blot homogenates were prepared as follows: the homogenates were mixed with 4x Laemmli sample buffer (Cat# 161-0737, Bio-Rad Laboratories) and 2.5% 2-Mercaptoethanol (Cat# M6250, Sigma-Aldrich) in each tube, before being denatured at 95°C for 5 min in a digital heat block (Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON, Canada). In order to measure the protein concentration of the homogenates in each tube, protein assay was completed with using the Detergent Compatible Protein Assay (Bio-Rad Laboratories Ltd., Mississauga, ON, Canada).

The loading volume of homogenates was determined by trial and error of loading amount between 30 µg and 75 µg, observing which one gives the best signal for the imaging software. The samples were loaded into 4-20% SDS-polyacrylamide pre-cast gels (Cat. # 456-1094, Bio-Rad Laboratories Ltd.), where each gel contains 10 of 50 µL wells. The first well was always loaded with 5 µL of Precision Plus Dual Color Standards (Cat. # 161-0374, Bio-Rad Laboratories Ltd.), to make sure that the bands detected are the proteins of interest at a specific molecular weight. The sample proteins in the gels were separated by electrophoresis, in an electrophoresis tank filled with electrode running buffer, prepared with ingredients from Bio-Rad Laboratories Ltd., Mississauga, ON, Canada: tris-Base (15 g/L, Cat. # 161-0719), glycine (72 g/L, Cat. # 161-0724), and sodium dodecylsulfate (SDS 15 g/L, Cat. # 161-0302). The gels were run at 50V initially for 5 min, followed by 100V for 1 hour and 25 min.

Following electrophoresis, the separated protein bands on the gel were wet electro-transferred at 100V for 3 *h* at 4°C to a 0.45 μ m polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane (Cat. # 45004110, GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Mississauga, ON, Canada). The transfer occurred in a tank filled

with transfer buffer, made of tris-Base (5.85 g/L), glycine (2.93 g/L), SDS (0.373 g/L), and 20% Methanol (Cat. # A452-4, Fischer Scientific, Ottawa, ON, Canada), with pH adjusted to 9.2.

After the transfer, the membrane was blocked at room temperature with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA, Cat. # A7906, Sigma-Aldrich Canada) on a shaker for an hour, in order to prevent non-specific binding of antibodies. This was followed by primary antibody incubation on a rocker at 4°C overnight (12 to 16 h). In order to dilute the antibodies prior to incubation, tris-buffered saline with tween (TBST) was prepared, with the following ingredients: Tris-Base (2.423 g/L), Sodium Chloride (NaCl, 8.766 g/L, Cat. # S271-3, Fischer Scientific), and 0.1% Tween-20 (Cat. # BP337-100, Fischer Scientific Canada, Ottawa, ON Canada). As with TBST, 1% BSA was also added when diluting the antibodies accordingly: eNOS (1:500, Cat. # 611852, BD Transduction Laboratories, Mississauga, ON, Canada), SLC7A1 (CAT-1, 1:1000, Cat. # ABIN5965961, Antibodies-Online Inc., Atlanta, GA, USA), arginase I and arginase II (1:1000, Cat. # ab91279 and Cat. # ab203071, respectively), ADC (1:1000, Cat. # ab157214), agmatinase (1:1000, Cat. # ab231894), GATM (1:1000, Cat. # ab87062), and the loading control, β -actin (1:1000, Cat. # ab16039), all purchased from Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada.

Following overnight incubation, the membrane was washed thoroughly with TBST five times at 5 min per wash, for a total of 25 min. After the wash, the membrane was subsequently incubated with either anti-rabbit or anti-mouse horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (Anti-mouse, Cat. # 1706576, and Anti-rabbit, Cat. # 1706515, Bio-Rad Laboratories Ltd., Mississauga, ON, Canada) for an hour at room temperature on a shaker. The secondary antibody was diluted at 1:10000 with TBST and 5% BSA. Following the secondary incubation, the membrane was again washed thoroughly for 25 min, as previously described. Finally, Clarity Western Enhanced Chemiluminescence Blotting Substrate (Cat. # 1705061, Bio-Rad Laboratories Ltd.) was applied on the membrane and incubated for about 30 sec before imaging on the ChemiDoc Imaging System (G:BOX Chemi XX6, Syngene, Frederick, MD, USA). The images of the protein bands were manually quantified using GeneTools software (Syngene, Frederick, MD, USA).

For loading control of western blotting data, the Invitrogen No-Stain Protein Labelling Reagent (Cat#A44449, Fisher Scientific) was used to perform total protein normalization. This reagent allowed for simple and quick visualization and quantification of all the proteins on the transferred membranes. Following the wet electro-transfer, each membrane was washed twice at 2 min each on a shaker, with ultrapure water. Then, 10 mL of No-Stain Membrane Labelling Solution was

added to the plate with the washed membrane and put on a shaker for 10 min for labelling reaction to occur. This was followed by another subsequent set of wash, three times at 2 min each. Finally, the membranes were imaged using the ChemiDoc Imaging System for visualization of the protein bands on the membranes.

2.4 Arginine Assay

The levels of arginine in the samples of plasma, liver, kidney, brain, ileum, skeletal muscle, aorta, and lungs were measured using a fluorometric Arginine Assay Kit (Cat. # ab252892, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada). This is a quick and specific enzyme-based assay, where L-Arg metabolites create a detectable fluorescence signal after reacting with a probe. The samples used for this assay were filtered using an ultrafiltration device with a 10 kD cut-off Spin Column (Cat. # MRCPRT010, Millipore Sigma, Oakville, ON, Canada). In brief, 250 μL for each of the sample supernatant prepared and stored at -20°C, as described above, was very gently transferred to the 10 kD Spin Column using a pipette. After making sure that the caps are tightly closed, the columns with the samples were centrifuged at 10000 x g for 20 min at 4°C. Subsequently, the filtrate was collected in a separate tube to be used for the assay. For each test sample, there were three wells assigned in the microplate, one background well, one spike well, and one sample well. The background noise readings are there to get subtracted from the test sample and spike readings. Spike is referred to as the internal standard that is used to rule out the matrix effect in the samples. The reaction mix and background mix were separately prepared in this assay. The reaction mix was added to the blank, standard, sample, and spike wells, whereas the background mix was added to the just the background wells. Following the addition of the mixture, the plate was incubated protected from light, for an hour in a warm water bath with temperature controlled at 37°C. The fluorescence was measured with a fluorescence spectrophotometer (Fluoroskan Ascent, Thermo-Fisher Scientific, Vantaa, Finland) at 535/587 nm excitation/emission wavelengths.

2.5 Arginase Activity Assay

Arginase activity was quantified in samples of plasma, ileum, liver, and kidney, using the colorimetric Arginase Activity Assay Kit (Cat. # ab180877, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada). This is an assay for kinetic mode detection, to quantify the activity of arginase. Since excess urea in samples can interfere with the assay, the samples were filtered using a 10 kD cut-off spin column,

prior to performing the assay. The samples, standards and controls were first loaded in a 96-well microplate. The background control mix was added to the background wells, and the substrate mix was added to each sample and positive control well and incubated for 20 min in a water bath at 37°C. Subsequently, the reaction mix was added to all the standard, sample, control wells. This is where arginine intermediates produced from arginase in the samples were reacted with a probe to develop a coloured product. Immediately after the addition of the reaction mix, the optical density of the product was read at 570 nm in a kinetic mode for 30 min using a microplate Spectrophotometer (Multiskan Spectrum, Thermo-Fisher Scientific, Vantaa, Finland).

2.6 Urea Assay

Urea is a product of arginase catalyzed breakdown of L-Arg. Urea levels in plasma, urine, liver, kidney, ileum, brain, skeletal muscle, and lungs were measured with a colorimetric Urea Assay Kit (Cat. # ab83362, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada). This assay kit allows for quick and reliable detection by forming a product from urea that subsequently reacts with a probe to develop a gradation of colour in a microplate. The brain and lung samples were diluted 1:10 by adding 5 μ L of sample to 45 μ L of the provided assay buffer. For kidney, the samples were diluted 1:20 by adding 5 µL of sample to 95 µL of assay buffer. The rest of the samples including plasma and urine were used without additional dilution. In the sample and background wells in the 96-well microplate, 10 μ L of each of the diluted samples were carefully loaded. The volumes in the sample and background wells were adjusted to 50 µL per well with the assay buffer, and 50 µL of each of the standard solutions was directly loaded in the standard wells. Afterwards, 50 µL of the reaction mix was then added into the each standard and test sample well and 50 µL of the background mix was added into the background wells, making the total volume in all wells 100 µL. Following the mix, the plate was incubated in a 37°C water bath with the lid closed to protect from light, for an hour. Finally, after incubation, the optical density was read at 570 nm in a spectrophotometer (Multiskan Spectrum, Thermo-Fisher Scientific, Vantaa, Finland).

2.7 Hydroxyproline Assay

Proline and hydroxyproline are derived from L-glutamate, which in turn is metabolically related to L-ornithine formation from L-Arg catalyzed by arginase. Hydroxyproline levels in the samples of plasma, liver, ileum, and kidney were measured using the colorimetric Hydroxyproline Assay Kit (Cat. # ab222941, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada). In this assay, hydroxyproline in the samples was first oxidized into a pyrrole intermediate. The oxidation reagent mix was added to each well in the microplate containing samples and standards, and the plate was incubated for 20 min at room temperature. Subsequently, the pyrrole intermediate formed was further reacted with an acidic developer reagent containing perchloric acid, which is a toxic and very reactive substance, handled and disposed carefully according to the protocol. After incubation with oxidation reagent mix, a developer was added and incubated in a warm water bath at 37°C, for 5 min. Right after, 4-dimethylamino benzaldehyde (DMAB) concentrate was added and incubated using a heat block at 65°C for 45 min. In result, a coloured chromophore was ultimately generated and its absorbance was measured using a microplate Spectrophotometer (Multiskan Spectrum, Thermo-Fisher Scientific, Vantaa, Finland) at 560 nm.

2.8 Nitric Oxide Synthase Activity Assay

NOS activity was quantified in the aorta, liver, ileum, kidney, brain, lungs, and skeletal muscle, using the colorimetric Nitric Oxide Synthase Activity Assay Kit (ab211083, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada). This assay kit detects activity of all isoforms of NOS, endothelial NOS, neuronal NOS, and inducible NOS. In this assay, the sample homogenates were added with a reaction mix that consists of L-Arg content to be served as a substrate to the NOS enzyme. The mixture was incubated for 1 hour in the water bath at 37°C. This was followed by the addition of NOS Assay Buffer and enhancer solution, which was incubated for 10 min at room temperature. Then, Griess Reagents 1 and 2 were added and mixed in the plate wells and incubated for 10 min at room temperature to develop a colour. As mentioned previously for the nitrate and nitrite assay, the Griess Reagents are responsible for converting nitrate into nitrite, followed by conversion of nitrite into a purple azo product. Immediately after the 10-minute incubation period, absorbance at 540 nm was read for all wells in a plate reader.

2.9 Nitrate/Nitrite Assay

Nitrate and nitrite levels in plasma, liver, ileum, kidney, brain, skeletal muscle, aorta, and lungs were measured using the Nitrate/Nitrite Colorimetric Assay Kit (Cat. # 780001, Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI, USA). This assay used the samples that were filtered using the 10 kD cut-off Spin Column. The final products of NO after reacting with various molecules in the body, are nitrate

and nitrite, and since the proportion of the two metabolites are variable, the sum of levels of both metabolites are determined as an indicator for total NO production. This assay is based on Griess reaction, employing a two-step process. Nitrate in the sample is first converted into nitrite by the enzyme, nitrate reductase, and subsequently using Griess reagents, nitrite is converted into an azo chromophore, appearing dark purple in colour. After all the samples and standards were added into the microplate, enzyme cofactor and nitrate reductase mixtures were added and incubated for three h at room temperature. After the incubation period, Griess reagent 1 was added to all the wells, immediately followed by Griess reagent 2. Lastly, the plate was left for 10 min at room temperature for the development of colour, before the optical density of the final azo product was measured on a microplate Spectrophotometer (Multiskan Spectrum, Thermo-Fisher Scientific, Vantaa, Finland) at 540nm to detect the nitrite concentration.

2.10 Creatinine Assay

Creatine is a product of catalysis of L-Arg by AGAT. Creatine is converted to creatinine. Creatinine levels in the samples of plasma, urine, liver, kidney, ileum, brain, and skeletal muscle, were measured using a colorimetric Creatinine Assay Kit (Cat. # ab65340, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada). In order to prevent errors in the assay from excessive protein concentration, samples were deproteinized using a 10 kD cut-off Spin Column prior to beginning the assay. In this assay, a probe reacts with a metabolite of creatinine produced from a series of reactions to develop a colour. To briefly outline the enzymatic reactions that occurred in this assay, creatinine in the samples first got converted into creatine by the enzyme, creatininase. Subsequently, creatine was converted into sarcosine by the enzyme, creatinase. Following an oxidation reaction of sarcosine led to the synthesis of a product that yields a red-coloured product. The optical density of this final, coloured product was measured at 570 nm on a microplate Spectrophotometer (Multiskan Spectrum, Thermo-Fisher Scientific, Vantaa, Finland), after the addition of the reaction mix and background mix in the corresponding wells as described above, and subsequent incubation for an hour in a water bath kept at 37°C.

2.11 Total Polyamine Assay

Polyamines such as spermine and spermidine are partly derived from putrescine, another polyamine, which in turn is a metabolic product of L-Arg catalyzed by ADC and agmatinase. Total

polyamine levels were measured in samples of plasma, liver, ileum, kidney, and brain using the fluorometric Total Polyamine Assay Kit (Cat. # ab239728, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada). This assay used the samples that were filtered using a 10 kD cut-off Spin Columns. In this assay, the polyamines in the samples first reacted with an enzyme reaction mix to synthesize hydrogen peroxide. Hydrogen peroxide was then reacted with a polyamine probe to develop a fluorescence signal. The probe was diluted 1:10 right before use, with anhydrous dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). The plate was incubated in the water bath, in the absence of light for 30 min at 37°C. The fluorescence of the final product was measured with a fluorescence spectrophotometer (Fluoroskan Ascent, Thermo-Fisher Scientific, Vantaa, Finland) at 535/587 nm excitation/emission wavelengths.

2.12 Lysine Assay

Lysine levels in the samples of plasma, liver, ileum, and kidney were quantified by a fluorometric Lysine Assay Kit (Cat. # ab273311, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada). Similar to the arginine assay kit, the lysine assay is also based on enzymatic metabolism, where a detectable fluorophore is produced after intermediates of lysine react with a probe. As well, the samples were deproteinized using a 10 kD Spin Column to prevent potential interference with enzymes found in the samples. The protocol of this assay is very similar to the arginine assay, in that for each sample, there were three parallel wells, one for sample, one for spiked sample, and one for background control. Additionally, to the spike wells were added 4 μ L of the lysine assay, the reaction mix was adjusted to 60 μ L with the provided assay buffer. As with the arginine assay, the reaction mix was added to all test sample and spike wells, and the background mix was added just to the background wells. This was followed by an incubation period of 45 min in the absence of light at 25°C. Finally, the fluorescence was measured with a fluorescence spectrophotometer (Fluoroskan Ascent, Thermo-Fisher Scientific, Vantaa, Finland) at 535/587 nm excitation/emission wavelengths.

2.13 Asymmetric Dimethylarginine Assay

Asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) is produced by methylation of proteins and it is believed to compete with L-Arg for NOSs. ADMA levels in the plasma, ileum, liver, and kidney

were measured using the colorimetric Asymmetric dimethylarginine ELISA Kit (Cat. # OKEH02587, Aviva Systems Biology, San Diego, CA, USA). The provided microtiter well-plate in this kit is pre-coated with antibody against ADMA. Firstly, the standards and samples were added into the wells of pre-coated anti-ADMA microplate. Immediately after ADMA-Biotin Complex was added in all the wells except the blank and incubated for an hour at room temperature. As there are limited anti-ADMA coated in the well-plate, the biotinylated ADMA competes with ADMA in the samples. The plate was washed three times with the provided wash buffer with 2 min contact time each to remove any unbound ADMA. The washed wells were incubated with the Avidin-HRP Conjugate, for 45 min at room temperature. Following incubation, the liquid was disposed and thoroughly washed again in the same way as described previously. A detection substrate, TMB substrate, was added to the wells and incubated in the water bath at 37°C protected from the light for around 10 to 15 min. The gradations of the blue colour in the standard wells were checked every 3 to 5 min, to stop the reaction at an optimal colour. After observing an optimal development of colour, the stop solution was finally added to each well, where immediately with this addition, the colours changed to yellow gradations. Within 5 min of adding the stop solution, absorbance was measured at 450 nm using a microplate Spectrophotometer (Multiskan Spectrum, Thermo-Fisher Scientific, Vantaa, Finland).

2.14 Statistical Analysis

A power analysis was completed in the previous study in our lab (Martin and Desai, 2020), using G*Power (v 3.1.9.4), to choose the sample size. We used at least four different parameters measured (significant and non-significant) and with a P=0.05 and a power of 0.80, which gave us actual power values above 0.95 and a total sample size ranging from 6 to 15, which justifies our total sample size of 18 (4+7+7). Statistical analysis of the western blotting and assay results was performed using Graphpad PRISM software version 8, through one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc test, in order to compare differences between the rat treatment groups. The analysis results were expressed as Mean \pm SEM. Results with a P value smaller than 0.05 were considered as significant, when considering the differences between the groups.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

3.1 Oral L- and D-arginine supplements did not significantly affect the average body weight of Sprague-Dawley rats.

The 9-week-old rats were initially randomly divided into three treatment groups and the average body weights of the three groups were not significantly different from each other. Treatment with L- or D-Arg for 16 weeks did not affect the average body weight of the respective treatment group compared with the control group, which received plain drinking water, or compared with each other (Fig. 9A).

3.2 Oral D-arginine significantly reduced the average daily water consumption of Sprague-Dawley rats.

The daily water intake was measured every other day and averaged for the group. The average daily intake was not different among the three treatment groups at the beginning of treatment at 9 weeks of age. Treatment with D-Arg for 16 weeks significantly reduced the average daily water intake, when measured at the end of the treatment period, compared to the L-Arg group (Fig. 9B).



Figure 9. Oral D-arginine decreased average daily water intake, but arginine did not affect average body weight of Sprague-Dawley rats. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. The average body for each group was calculated from the sum of weights of individual rats in each group divided by the total number. For water intake, the rats were housed individually in separate cages and water intake was recorded every other day. The daily water intake for each rat was calculated and the group average was obtained. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P<0.05 was considered significant.

3.3 Oral L- and D-arginine did not significantly affect arginine levels in the plasma and different organs.

As shown in Fig. 10, the levels of arginine in the plasma, liver, ileum, kidney, aorta, lungs, brain and skeletal muscle were not significantly affected by 16 weeks of treatment with L-Arg or D-Arg compared with the control group or compared with each other.

Arginine levels





L-Årg

D-Arg

Е

Aorta arginine (nmol/mg protein) 10₁

8-

6-

4-

2-

0.

Con









Figure 10. Oral arginine did not affect the levels of arginine in the plasma and different organs of Sprague-Dawley rats. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. Arginine levels were measured

with a specific assay kit (Cat. # ab252892, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada) as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). (Ske. muscle – skeletal muscle).

3.4 Oral D-arginine significantly increased cationic amino acid transporter 1 expression in the ileum, but not in the liver or aorta.

CAT-1 is the main transporter of arginine. In the ileum, the expression of CAT-1 was significantly increased in the D-Arg treatment group compared to the control group (Fig. 11A, B). The expression of CAT-1 in the liver and the aorta was not affected by treatment with L-Arg or D-Arg (Fig. 11A, B).



Figure 11. Oral D-arginine increased the expression of cationic amino acid transporter 1 in the ileum. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. Western blotting was performed using a specific anticationic amino acid transporter-1 [CAT-1 (SLC7A1), 1:1000, Cat. # ABIN5965961, Antibodies-Online Inc., Atlanta, GA, USA] antibody as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P < 0.05 was considered significant.

3.5 Oral L- and D-arginine significantly affected arginase expression in the liver and the ileum in Sprague-Dawley rats.

The expression of arginase I was significantly increased in the liver following treatment with both L-Arg and D-Arg, compared with the control group (Fig. 12A, B). On the other hand, treatment with L-Arg for 16 weeks significantly decreased the expression of arginase II in the ileum, compared to the control group and the D-Arg group (Fig. 12A, B). D-Arg did not affect arginase II expression in the ileum (Fig. 12A, B). L-Arg and D-Arg did not affect arginase II expression in the kidney (Fig. 12A, B).



Figure 12. Oral L- and D-arginine increased arginase expression in the liver, but L-arginine decreased it in the ileum. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. Western blotting was performed using specific anti-arginase I and anti-arginase-II antibodies (1:1000, Cat. # ab91279 and Cat. # ab203071, respectively, Abcam Inc. Toronto, ON, Canada) as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P<0.05 was considered significant.

3.6 Oral L-arginine significantly decreased arginase activity in the plasma, but not in the ileum, liver or kidney.

The activity of arginase in the plasma was significantly reduced for the L-Arg group of SD rats treated for 16 weeks, when compared with both the control and D-Arg groups (Figure 13A). However, the activity levels of this enzyme were not significantly altered in the ileum (Fig. 13B), liver (Fig. 13C) or kidney (Fig. 13D).



Arginase activity

Figure 13. Oral L-arginine decreased arginase activity in the plasma. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. An arginase activity assay was performed with a specific assay kit (Cat. # ab180877, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada) as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P < 0.05 was considered significant.

3.7 Oral D-arginine significantly affected urea levels in the ileum and the skeletal muscle in Sprague-Dawley rats.

Urea is a product of the arginine-arginase metabolic pathway. Treatment with D-Arg for 16 weeks significantly decreased urea levels in the ileum compared with the L-Arg group, but not the control group (Fig. 14B). On the other hand, the D-Arg group had significantly higher urea levels in the skeletal muscle compared with the L-Arg group, but not the control group (Fig. 14E). L-Arg and D-Arg did not affect urea levels in the plasma, liver and kidney (Fig. 14A, C, D).

Urea levels



Figure 14. Oral D-arginine decreased urea levels in the ileum, but increased it in the skeletal muscle, compared to L-arginine. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. Urea levels were measured with a specific assay kit (Cat. # ab83362, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada) as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P < 0.05 was considered significant.

3.8 Oral D-arginine significantly affected hydroxyproline levels in the ileum and the brain.

Hydroxyproline is a derivative of proline, which is formed from L-Arg catalyzed by arginase and OAT. Treatment with oral D-Arg for 16 weeks significantly decreased hydroxyproline levels in the ileum compared to the control as well as the L-Arg group (Fig. 15B). On the other hand, D-Arg significantly increased hydroxyproline levels in the brain, compared with the control and the L-Arg groups (Fig. 15F).

L-Arg and D-Arg treatment did not affect hydroxyproline levels in the plasma, liver, kidney, aorta or skeletal muscle in comparison to the control group or compared to each other (Fig. 15).



Hydroxyproline levels

Figure 15. Oral D-arginine decreased hydroxyproline levels in the ileum, but increased it in the brain. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-

Con

L-Arg

D-Arg

arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. Hydroxyproline levels were measured with a specific assay kit (Cat. # ab222941, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada) as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P<0.05 was considered significant.

3.9 Oral D-arginine significantly increased endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression in the aorta and the kidney, but not in the brain.

NOSs are important enzymes catalyzing the formation of NO from L-Arg. In both the aorta and kidney, the expression of eNOS was significantly increased compared to the control group, following oral D-Arg treatment for 16 weeks, but not L-Arg (Fig. 16). Conversely, in the brain, neither L-Arg nor D-Arg significantly affected the expression of eNOS (Fig. 16).



Figure 16. Oral D-arginine increased endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression in the aorta and the kidney. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. Western blotting was performed using specific anti-endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) antibody (1:500, Cat. # 611852, BD Transduction Laboratories, Mississauga, ON, Canada) as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P<0.05 was considered significant.

3.10 Oral arginine did not affect nitric oxide synthase activity in different organs in Sprague-Dawley rats.

As shown in the graphs in Fig. 17, oral L-Arg or D-Arg treatment for 16 weeks did not affect NOS activity in the aorta, ileum, liver, kidney, lungs, brain and skeletal muscle compared to the control or compared with each other.



Nitric oxide synthase activity

Figure 17. Oral arginine did not affect the nitric oxide synthase activity in different organs of Sprague-Dawley rats. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine
(L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. A nitric oxide synthase (NOS) activity assay was performed with a specific assay kit (ab211083, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada) as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P<0.05 was considered significant.

3.11 Oral arginine supplements significantly affected nitrate and nitrite levels in the plasma, urine and ileum in Sprague-Dawley rats.

Nitrate and nitrite levels, two main metabolic products of NO, were measured as nitrite, following conversion of nitrate into nitrite in the assay. Nitrite levels were significantly reduced in the plasma (Fig. 18A) and the ileum (Fig. 18C) in the D-Arg treated group, compared with the L-Arg group, but not the control group. Nitrite levels were also significantly decreased in the urine in both the L-Arg and D-Arg groups compared to the control group (Fig. 18B). Nitrite levels in other organs such as the liver, kidney, lungs, skeletal muscle and the brain were not affected by treatment with oral arginine (Fig. 18).

Nitrite levels



Figure 18. Oral arginine decreased nitrite levels in the urine. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. Nitrate plus nitrite levels were measured as nitrite after conversion of nitrate to nitrite with

nitrate reductase and measured with a specific assay kit (Cat. # 780001, Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P < 0.05 was considered significant.

3.12 Oral arginine supplements affected the expression of arginine:glycine amidinotransferase in the liver and the kidney.

The expression of AGAT was significantly decreased in the liver following treatment with both, L-Arg and D-Arg, compared to the control group (Fig. 19A, B). However, in the kidney oral L-Arg significantly increased the expression of AGAT compared to the control as well as the D-Arg groups (Fig. 19A, B). On the other hand, the expression of AGAT was not affected in the ileum and the brain by oral arginine (Fig. 19).



Figure 19. Oral L- and D-arginine decreased arginine:glycine amidinotransferase expression in the liver, but L-arginine increased it in the kidney. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. Western blotting was performed using specific anti-arginine:glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT) antibody (1:1000, Cat. # ab87062, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada) as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P<0.05 was considered significant.

3.13 Oral arginine significantly affected creatinine levels in the urine and the ileum.

Creatinine is a product of creatine, which is formed from L-Arg catalyzed by AGAT. The levels of creatinine were significantly decreased in the urine of L-Arg and D-Arg treated groups, compared to the control group (Fig. 20B). On the other hand, D-Arg treatment significantly increased creatinine levels in the ileum compared to the control and the L-Arg groups (Fig. 20C). Creatinine levels in the plasma, liver and kidney were not affected by L-Arg or D-Arg treatment (Fig. 20).



Creatinine levels

Figure 20. Oral L- and D-arginine decreased creatinine levels in the urine, but D-arginine increased it in the ileum. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. Creatinine levels were measured with a specific assay kit (Cat. # ab65340, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada) as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P<0.05 was considered significant.

3.14 Oral arginine significantly affected the expression of arginine decarboxylase in the liver and the ileum.

The expression of ADC was significantly increased in the liver following treatment with oral L-Arg and D-Arg, compared with the control group (Fig. 21A, B). However, both L-Arg and D-Arg significantly decreased the expression of ADC in the ileum, compared to the control group (Fig. 21A, B). The expression of ADC in the kidney and the brain was not affected by L-Arg or D-Arg (Fig. 21).



Figure 21. Oral arginine increased arginine decarboxylase expression in the liver, but decreased it in the ileum. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. Western blotting was performed using

specific anti-arginine decarboxylase (ADC) antibody (1:1000, Cat. # ab157214, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada), as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P < 0.05 was considered significant.

3.15 Oral arginine significantly affected the expression of agmatinase in the kidney, ileum and brain in rats.

Treatment with oral D-Arg, but not L-Arg, significantly increased the expression of agmatinase in the kidney, compared to the control group (Fig. 22A, B). In the ileum, D-Arg increased agmatinase expression compared to the control as well as the L-Arg group (Fig. 22A, B). In the brain, D-Arg had the opposite effect of decreasing agmatinase expression, compared to the control group (Fig. 22A, B). Agmatinase expression in the liver was not affected by oral L-Arg or D-Arg treatment (Fig. 22).



Figure 22. Oral D-arginine increased agmatinase expression in the kidney and the ileum, but decreased it in the brain. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. Western blotting was performed using specific anti-agmatinase antibody (1:1000, Cat. # ab231894, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada), as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P<0.05 was considered significant.

3.16 Oral L-arginine significantly increased total polyamines levels in the plasma.

Putrescine, spermine and spermidine are polyamine products of L-Arg metabolism catalyzed by ADC and agmatinase. The levels of total polyamines were significantly elevated in the plasma for the L-Arg treated group of SD rats, compared to the control and the D-Arg groups (Fig. 23A). Total polyamine levels in the ileum, liver, kidney and skeletal muscle were not affected by treatment with oral L-Arg and D-Arg (Fig. 23).



Total polyamines

Figure 23. Oral L-arginine increased total polyamine levels in the plasma. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. Total polyamines levels were measured with a specific assay kit (Cat. # ab239728, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada) as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P < 0.05 was considered significant.

3.17 Oral arginine did not affect lysine levels in the plasma and organs in rats.

Lysine is transported by the same CAT-1 transporter as arginine, leading to competition. Oral L-Arg or D-Arg treatment for 16 weeks did not affect lysine levels in the plasma, liver, ileum or kidney (Fig. 24).



Lysine levels

Figure 24. Oral arginine did not affect lysine levels in the plasma or different organs of Sprague-Dawley rats. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. Lysine levels were measured with a specific assay kit (Cat. # ab273311, Abcam Inc., Toronto, ON, Canada) as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P<0.05 was considered significant.

3.18 Oral arginine did not affect asymmetric dimethylarginine levels in the plasma and organs in rats.

ADMA is formed by methylation of arginine during protein modification and could compete with L-Arg for NOS. As shown in the graphs in Fig. 25, treatment with oral L-Arg or D-Arg for 16 weeks did not affect the levels of ADMA in the plasma, liver, ileum, lungs and brain in rats, when compared with to the control group, as well as each other.



Asymmetric dimethyl arginine

Figure 25. Oral arginine did not affect the levels of asymmetric dimethylarginine in the plasma and different organs of Sprague-Dawley rats. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each

in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. Asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) levels were measured with a specific assay kit (Cat. # OKEH02587, Aviva Systems Biology, San Diego, CA, USA) as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). P<0.05 was considered significant.

Table 2. Physiological effects of oral L-Arg and D-Arg on its metabolic pathways: Summary of results obtained with oral arginine at 1000 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks in Sprague-Dawley rats, in comparison with oral arginine at 500 mg/kg/day for 4 weeks study (Martin & Desai, 2020)

Parameter	Oral L-Arg	Oral D-Arg
Body Weight	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Water Intake	\leftrightarrow	↓ vs. L-Arg
		(\leftrightarrow)
Arginine Levels	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Lysine Levels	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
ADMA Levels	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
CAT-1 Expression	\leftrightarrow	↑ Il
	(↓ Li, Il)	(\leftrightarrow)
	Arginase Pathway	
Arginase Expression	↑ Li	↑ Li
	↓ Il vs. C, D-Arg	↑ Il vs. L-Arg
	(↓ II)	(↓ Li, Il)
Arginase Activity	↓ Pl vs. C, D-Arg	↑ Pl vs. L-Arg
	(\leftrightarrow)	(\leftrightarrow)
Urea Levels	↑ Il vs. D-Arg	↓ Il vs. L-Arg
	↓ Sk.M vs. D-Arg	↑ Sk.M vs. L-Arg
	(\leftrightarrow)	(↑ Li; ↑ Ki vs. C, L-Arg)
Hydroxyproline Levels	↑ Il vs. D-Arg	↓ Il vs. C, L-Arg
	↓ Br vs. D-Arg	↑ Br vs. C, L-Arg
	eNOS Pathway	
eNOS Expression	\leftrightarrow	↑ Ao, Ki
	(† Ao, Ki)	(† Ki)
NOS Activity	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow

	(↓ Lu vs. D-Arg)	(† Lu vs. C, L-Arg)
Nitrate + Nitrite Levels	↑ Pl, Il vs. D-Arg	↓ Pl, Il vs. L-Arg
	↓ Ur	↓ Ur
	(† Pl vs C, D-Arg)	(↓ Pl vs. L-Arg)
	ADC Pathway	
ADC Expression	↑ Li, ↓ Il	↑ Li, ↓ Il
	(† Li)	(\leftrightarrow)
Agmatinase Expression	↓ Il vs. D-Arg	↑ Ki, ↓ Br
	(\leftrightarrow)	↑ Il vs. C, L-Arg
		(† Li vs L-Arg)
Total Polyamines Levels	↑ Pl vs. C, D-Arg	↓ Pl vs. L-Arg
	(† Li vs C, D-Arg)	(† Pl)
	AGAT Pathway	
AGAT Expression	↓ Li	↓ Li
	↑ Ki vs. C, D-Arg	↓ Ki vs. L-Arg
	(↓ Li, Ki)	(† Li vs L-Arg
		↑ Ki vs C, L-Arg)
Creatinine Levels	↓ Ur	↓ Ur
	↓ Il vs. D-Arg	↑ Il vs. C, L-Arg
	(↓ Sk)	(† Li)

Results shown in black font are from the current study obtained with a dose of oral L-Arg or D-Arg at 1000 mg/kg/day administered for 16 weeks to Sprague-Dawley rats. Results from the lower dose arginine study (500 mg/kg/day for 4 weeks) published from the supervisor's lab (Martin & Desai, 2020) have been included in the table of summary, highlighted in red in bracket, to compare with the results of the current study.

Symbols: \leftrightarrow no change compared to control; \uparrow increase compared to control unless otherwise stated; \downarrow decrease compared to control unless otherwise stated

Abbreviations: ADC – arginine decarboxylase; ADMA – asymmetric dimethylarginine; AGAT – arginine: glycine amidinotransferase; Ao – aorta; Br – brain; C – control; CAT-1 – cationic

amino acid transporter 1; D-Arg – D-arginine; eNOS – endothelial nitric oxide synthase; Il – ileum; Ki – kidney; L-Arg – L-arginine; Li – liver; Pl – plasma; Sk. M – skeletal muscle

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

Oral arginine supplements are widely being used by healthy people such as athletes, and people with different disease conditions such as hypertension, erectile dysfunction and MELAS, as a few examples. The use of oral arginine is based on its known physiological functions and the widely published reports as a substrate of NOSs and a precursor for NO formation and vasodilation. Media reports of these effects and especially the news that NO mediates penile erection, resulted in unregulated use of NO enhancing strategies to boost NO availability, including widespread use of arginine supplements (Klotz et al., 1999). The unfortunate outcome is that there is a general lack of awareness of multiple metabolic pathways for L-Arg and how they would be affected by oral supplements. There still is a huge gap of evidence and knowledge on safety and efficacy of oral arginine supplements, and the recommended doses for use in particular conditions need be further investigated. As well, studies involving oral arginine supplementation often leave out D-Arg from consideration, as D-Arg is commonly known to be physiologically inert in the body. In order to verify this, we tested for the effects of both L- and D-Arg supplementation on the major metabolic pathways of SD rats. I report the physiological effects of chronic supplementation of oral L- and D-Arg in SD rats, treated for 16 weeks at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day.

Treatment with oral L-Arg or D-Arg at 1000 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks in male SD rats did not produce any overt toxicity. The rats were observed every other day in the vivarium, and they showed normal activity and feeding behaviour among the three groups. There was no mortality.

Firstly, the body weight of the SD rats administered oral L- or D-Arg at 1000 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks was not significantly altered in comparison to the control group, as shown in Fig. 9A. The rats had been randomly divided into three groups and the average weight was not significantly different between groups at the start of treatment at 9 weeks of age (Fig. 9A). Though the weight of the rats from all groups increased with age, there was no significant difference in body weight among the three rat groups at the end of the 16-week treatment period at 25 weeks of age. This result is consistent with the findings from the previously published study from our lab, which reported that neither L- nor D-Arg oral supplementation at 500 mg/kg/day for 4 weeks led to significant changes in body weight of SD rats, in comparison to the control group (Martin and Desai, 2020). It may be safe to assume that oral arginine supplements are apparently not affecting appetite or food intake.

The water intake of rats was measured every other day and to enable this, the rats were housed individually in separate cages. The main purpose to record the water intake was to help us to add the appropriate amount of L-Arg or D-Arg to the drinking water so that each rat consumed the same daily dose of 1000 mg/kg/day of arginine. Thus, rats drinking less water had more arginine administered in their water. Water with arginine was changed every other day to account for any changes in daily drinking water using a specially devised formula described in the methods. As shown in Fig. 9B, the daily average water intake for the three groups was similar at the start of the treatment at 9 weeks of age. However, at the end of the 16-week treatment period when the SD rats were 25 weeks old, the D-Arg group showed significantly lower average daily water consumption in comparison to the L-Arg group, and not the control group (Fig. 9B). One possible reason for this may be due to the distinct smell and yellow colour of the water in which D-Arg was dissolved, unlike the L-Arg powder, which could have possibly deterred the SD rats from drinking water normally, resulting in reduced daily water intake. For both L-Arg and D-Arg, the base was used to make a stock solution of 10 g/L and the pH of the highly alkaline solution was adjusted to 7.4 with hydrochloric acid. In comparison, a dose of 500 mg/kg/day of L-Arg or D-Arg for 4 weeks, reported from this lab, did not affect the average daily water intake of rats in the three groups (Martin and Desai, 2020).

It is important to measure levels of arginine in the body after oral supplementation to determine its absorption and enable correlation of any changes observed with the levels of arginine. Oral Land D-Arg supplementation at 1000 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks did not significantly affect the normal plasma and organ levels of arginine (Fig. 10). This result can be partly explained by the fact that approximately 40% of the oral arginine in the body gets extensively metabolized in the gut prior to systemic absorption (Castillo et al., 1993b). Additionally, even after absorption, oral arginine in the blood rapidly gets catabolized and cleared from the body (Wu et al., 2007). The elimination half-life of oral arginine supplements has been found to be around 1 hour (Bode-Böger et al., 1998) and so it makes sense that the levels in the plasma remained unchanged after long-term arginine supplementation. Another contributing factor could be changes in the expression of the main transporter for arginine, CAT-1, as described below and in the previous study from our lab (Martin and Desai, 2020). A dose of 500 mg/kg/day for 4 weeks in male SD rats also did not affect arginine levels in the plasma and different organs (Martin and Desai, 2020). This is very significant because it indicates the rapid and dynamic metabolism of arginine and the possibility that the body might be capable of rapidly adjusting to dietary fluctuations or more stable changes in arginine intake as supplements.

CAT-1 is a primary transporter for arginine (White, 1985). Surprisingly, oral D-Arg, and not L-Arg, significantly increased CAT-1 expression in the ileum in comparison to control (Fig. 11). The reason why ileum was chosen as a site to measure CAT-1 expression in the treated SD rats was because CAT-1 in the small intestine acts as the primary transporter of arginine for its absorption into the systemic circulation (Devés and Boyd, 1998). CAT-1 expression was also measured in the liver and aorta, because the liver is the secondary site containing CAT-1 for further arginine absorption after the initial intestinal uptake, and in the aortic endothelial cells, CAT-1 has been found to colocalize with eNOS (Shin et al., 2011). However, there was no significant effect of arginine supplementation on CAT-1 expression in the liver or aorta (Fig. 11). The finding of upregulation of CAT-1 expression in the ileum with D-Arg but not L-Arg supplementation was unexpected as L-Arg is the isoform known to normally cause metabolic effects in the body, whereas the D-isomer appears to be inert.

On top of that, findings from other studies including the one published with a 500 mg/kg/day dose of arginine study from our lab had shown an opposite effect, that CAT-1 expression was downregulated in response to oral arginine supplementation, possibly in response to the elevated oral arginine levels, similar to a ligand-receptor relationship (Fernandez et al., 2003; Martin and Desai, 2020). The result is also more perplexing with the findings that the levels of neither arginine (Fig. 10) nor lysine (Fig. 24), which are the substrates for this transporter, were altered with L- or D-Arg supplementation. Currently, to the best of our knowledge, there are no research studies that have reported the effects of D-Arg on arginine transporters, and only studies that have reported arginine effects on the upregulation of CAT-1 expression focus specifically on L-Arg (Schwartz et al., 2006; Tachikawa et al., 2018). One possibility is that D-Arg may bind to CAT-1 in the ileum and prevent its interaction with L-Arg, acting as an antagonist, leading to the upregulation of CAT-1 expression. There could be other mechanisms of D-Arg that have not been researched yet. Understanding the pharmacodynamics of D-Arg would definitely be helpful in interpreting its effects on not just the uptake transporters, but also various metabolic enzymes in the body. D-Arg is most definitely an interesting isomer.

Our lab examined the effects of arginine supplements on the mean arterial pressure (MAP). Since, these *in vivo* studies were performed by another student before me, they have not been included in the results section. However, they are interesting to include in this discussion. L-Arg and D-Arg at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks did not affect the MAP in SD rats, as shown in Fig. 26 below. The previous study from our lab with a 500 mg/kg/day for 4 weeks in Sprague-Dawley rats also showed no effect on the MAP and heart rate (Martin and Desai, 2020).



Figure 26. Oral arginine did not affect the mean arterial pressure or heart rate in Sprague-Dawley rats. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. The mean arterial pressure (MAP) was measured in anesthetized rats with a carotid artery cannula as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). (Unpublished data. With permission from my supervisor, Dr K Desai).

This result on the MAP is very significant because it questions the validity of taking arginine supplements for its presumed vasodilating effect by healthy people. However, oral L-Arg, but not

D-Arg, at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day for 12 weeks given to male Zucker Diabetic Fatty rats, a model of type 2 diabetes with hypertension, significantly decreased the MAP in a study performed in our lab (unpublished results). This would suggest that arginine supplements might be beneficial in disease conditions, but not in healthy people. Some studies have shown beneficial effects of arginine supplements in people with hypertension (Lekakis et al., 2002), hypercholesterolemia (Clarkson et al., 1996) and T2DM (Lucotti et al., 2006). The exact mechanisms of how arginine supplements might benefit under disease conditions have not been elucidated.

Arginine supplements are popular in a major part due to their presumed NO-mediated vasodilatory effect. Our lab also examined the effects of L-Arg and D-Arg at 1000 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks given to SD rats, on acetylcholine-induced endothelium-dependent and sodium nitroprusside-induced endothelium-independent vasodilation. The results in Fig. 27 below show that neither L-Arg nor D-Arg affected ACh-induced or SNP-induced hypotensive responses. This again questions the validity of taking arginine supplements by heathy people for its NO-mediated vasodilation. Therefore, it is important to investigate the mechanism by which arginine supplements benefit people with cardiovascular disease such as hypertension and atherosclerosis, discussed above. The results of both MAP and endothelial function in healthy population are important to further investigate and understand, as some suggested that arginine supplements can reduce blood pressure in the healthy population as well, including those with only mild blood pressure elevation (Mayo Clinic, 2021). With this information, the healthy population may take these supplements for prevention of cardiovascular issues such as hypertension. In addition, something to consider is that it may be perhaps good if oral arginine does not affect the blood pressure in healthy population, as it could prevent complications associated with hypotension including dizziness and falls.



Endothelium-dependent and -independent hypotensive responses

Figure 27. Oral arginine did not affect the acetylcholine- and sodium-nitroprusside-induced hypotensive responses in Sprague-Dawley rats. Nine-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with L-arginine (L-Arg) or D-arginine (D-Arg) at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day each in drinking water for 16 weeks. The control (Con) group received plain drinking water. The acetylcholine (ACh)-induced endothelium-dependent and sodium nitroprusside (SNP)-induced endothelium-independent hypotensive responses concentration-related responses were recorded in anesthetized rats with a carotid artery cannula as described in methods. The values are Mean \pm SEM. (n = 4 for Con and n = 7 each for L-Arg and D-Arg groups). (Unpublished data. With permission from my supervisor, Dr K Desai).

Arginase is the principal enzyme for arginine metabolism in the body, not only producing important products such as urea to detoxify ammonia, but is also competing with eNOS and downregulating it to cause various negative health effects associated with NO deficiency (Wu and Morris Jr, 1998). Both oral L- and D-Arg supplementation at a dose of 1000 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks in SD rats significantly increased arginase I expression in the liver in comparison to control (Fig. 12) and arginase II expression was decreased specifically with oral L-Arg supplementation in the ileum when compared with both the control and D-Arg groups (Fig. 12). In the kidney, neither L- nor D-Arg caused any significant changes in arginase II levels. This may be simply due to the fact that majority of the oral arginine gets metabolized prior to reaching the kidney, so that it is not able to cause any effects there. The observed decrease in arginase II expression in the ileum of SD rats treated with oral L-Arg was also seen with the lower dose study in our lab (Martin and Desai, 2020) and may have occurred from excessive amount of arginine acting upon arginase as a substrate, since arginase is the first and primary enzyme in the intestines for first-pass metabolism (Wu et al., 2007). The observed significant elevation of arginase I expression in the liver with the 1000 mg/kg/day dose of oral L-Arg seen in my study is not consistent with the effects of 500 mg/kg/day 4-week arginine treatment carried out in the previous study (Martin and Desai, 2020), where for this lower dose study, D-Arg had decreased the expression of arginase I in the liver compared to the control (Martin and Desai, 2020). The effect on liver arginase may be dose related, and could be explained by the decreased arginase II expression in the ileum, which would then allow more arginine to go to the liver and upregulate arginase I there. This finding is also consistent with the report that exogenous arginine induces arginase and offers one major reason why oral arginine supplements may not be beneficial (Dioguardi, 2011). Thereby, theoretically the more supplementation of arginine in the body, the more catabolic activity of arginase there would be. This may be problematic because, as mentioned earlier, upregulation of arginase causes negative effect on eNOS, suppressing the formation of NO, which results in various diseased conditions such as hypertension and endothelial dysfunction (Holowatz and Kenney, 2007; Caldwell et al., 2018). As to why an excess of a substrate would upregulate one enzyme and down regulate another one may be related to mechanism of regulation of a particular enzyme.

Additionally, L-Arg supplements also caused a significant decrease in arginase activity in the plasma in comparison to the control and D-Arg group (Fig.13A), whereas in the liver, ileum and the kidney (Fig. 13.B, C, D) it did not. This could be associated with our results on the effects of

L-Arg supplementation on arginase expression. Decreased arginase II expression in the ileum with oral arginine may lead to increased absorption of arginine in the systemic circulation. Subsequently, the increased bioavailable arginine in the blood may rapidly get distributed to various organs such as the liver through transporters, resulting in overall decreased levels of arginase activity in the plasma. In support, a study reported that chronic administration of L-Arg in Wistar rats increased plasma arginine concentration and decreased arginase activity (Moretto et al., 2017). In order to better understand the metabolic effects of oral arginine supplementation in the arginase metabolic pathway beyond the observation of the enzyme expression and activity, the levels of metabolites in this pathway, urea and hydroxyproline, were measured in the plasma and various organs (Fig. 14 and 15).

Urea levels remained unchanged with oral L-Arg or D-Arg supplementation in the plasma, liver and kidney in comparison to the control and with each other (Fig. 14A, C, D). However, urea levels were found to be significantly lower in the ileum with oral D-Arg than the levels resulting from L-Arg supplementation (Fig. 14B). This effect of D-Arg is unexpected and is difficult to explain, especially when D-Arg significantly increased urea levels in the skeletal muscle when compared with the L-Arg, but not the control group. In contrast in the skeletal muscle, urea levels were observed to be significantly lower for the SD rats treated with oral L-Arg than the levels found in D-Arg group of SD rats (Fig. 14E). In both cases, the ileum and the skeletal muscle, the significant differences produced by D-Arg were only in comparison to the L-Arg group and not the control group and so we can also say that L-Arg increased urea in the ileum and decreased it in the skeletal muscle in relation to D-Arg. It may be argued that the significance is reduced because the control group is not involved. Interestingly, D-Arg at 500 mg/kg/day for 4 weeks had significantly increased urea levels in the liver and the kidney, compared to the control group (Martin and Desai, 2020). Unfortunately, there is no clear explanation for this finding at the moment as pharmacodynamic studies on oral arginine and its effects on the skeletal muscle in association to urea production, are unable to be found.

L-proline is a product of L-ornithine catalyzed by OAT. To recall, L-ornithine is formed from L-Arg by arginase. When we investigated the effects of oral arginine on hydroxyproline levels, it was found that oral D-Arg, and not L-Arg supplements significantly decreased hydroxyproline levels in the ileum (Fig. 15B) and increased hydroxyproline levels in the brain (Fig. 15F), in

comparison to both the control and L-Arg groups of SD rats. In the plasma, liver, kidney, and the aorta however, the oral arginine treatment did not have any effect on hydroxyproline levels. These results reflecting the effects of specifically D-Arg supplements on hydroxyproline levels are again difficult to understand in connection to the resulting effects on arginase expression and activity with limited knowledge on the impact of D-Arg in the body. However, it is noteworthy that in the ileum, both urea and hydroxyproline levels were significantly decreased by D-Arg (Fig. 14B and 15B). This may possibly indicate that D-Arg plays a role in downregulating the arginase pathway in the ileum to lead to significant reduction in the metabolite levels, even though arginase II expression (Fig. 12) and activity (Fig. 13) were unchanged compared to control. In the long run, this may be problematic, as both urea and hydroxyproline play a significant role in the body, as described earlier.

Another major enzyme for arginine metabolism is NOS. Oral arginine supplements are primarily used for the effects of NO, produced from the NOS pathways. From the three isoforms of NOS, the focus of this present study was on eNOS, which is commonly known for its cardiovascular effects involved with vasodilation. As discussed earlier, the MAP as well as endothelium dependent vasodilation were not affected by arginine supplements, which is not surprising as several studies on arginine therapy have concluded that oral arginine is only effective in regulating blood pressure for people with cardiovascular diseases, and not in healthy individuals (Ast et al., 2011; Dong et al., 2011; Martin and Desai, 2020).

Oral D-Arg, but not L-Arg supplementation at 1000 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks significantly increased eNOS expression in the aorta and kidney of SD rats when compared with the control group (Fig. 16). This is interesting as no significant changes in eNOS expression occurred with L-Arg supplementation in those two organs, suggesting that there must be some selective effect of oral D-Arg on the eNOS pathway that is not known yet. Currently it is believed that D-Arg does not act as a substrate for eNOS (Palmer et al., 1988). A possible explanation for the upregulation of eNOS expression is similar as explained with CAT-1 expression in the ileum, that oral D-Arg may just have affinity and no metabolic effect on the eNOS, acting as a competitive inhibitor and preventing L-Arg from binding to the enzyme. With less enzyme availability for L-Arg to cause effects, enzyme expression might have been increased to make up for the reduced substrate-enzyme interaction. In comparison, in the previous study from our lab, L-Arg at 500 mg/kg/day

increased eNOS expression in the aorta compared to the control, and both, L-Arg and D-Arg at the same dose increased eNOS expression in the kidney compared to the control group (Martin and Desai, 2020). As to why a higher dose of L-Arg used for a longer duration in my study would not affect eNOS expression in the aorta and kidney is a matter of conjecture. Perhaps the body adjusts more with higher doses and longer duration of treatment, which hopefully will be proved with a dose of 500 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks in the third phase of this study in our lab.

In order to further investigate the effects on eNOS enzyme with oral arginine supplementation, a NOS activity assay was also performed in various organs such as the aorta, ileum, liver, kidney, lungs, brain and skeletal muscle. Despite the alterations in eNOS expression and its metabolite levels, the activity of NOS was not significantly affected by either isoform of oral arginine supplementation (Fig. 17). In the study with 500 mg/kg/day dose of L-Arg and D-Arg for 4 weeks, the NOS activity was not affected in most organs, except in the lungs where D-Arg reduced it significantly compared to the control and L-Arg groups (Martin and Desai, 2020).

Nitrate and nitrite are the main stable metabolic products of further NO metabolism. NO itself has a very short half-life of 5-6 sec and not easily amenable to measurement. We used an assay kit with nitrate reductase, which converted nitrate to nitrite which then was converted by the Griess reagent into a coloured product and measured. Fig. 18 shows nitrite levels, where L-Arg had significantly higher levels in the plasma, compared to D-Arg, but not control (Fig. 18A). Here again it is difficult to say that L-Arg nitrite levels were significantly higher because it was not in comparison to the control. In the previous study (Martin and Desai, 2020), L-Arg at 500 mg/kg/day for 4 weeks significantly increased nitrite levels in the plasma compared to control and D-Arg groups. The urinary nitrite levels were significantly lower in the L-Arg and D-Arg groups compared to control (Fig. 18B), which is difficult to explain, unless we use the theory that higher dose arginine supplements start utilizing the arginase pathway at the cost of NO production (Dioguardi, 2011). Thus, the reduced nitrite levels in the urine with oral L-Arg supplementation may be due to arginase reducing arginine bioavailability of L-Arg for eNOS, as arginase competes with eNOS for arginine (Wu, 2009) and arginase I has been found to be significantly upregulated in the liver in this study (Fig. 12). Another less likely explanation, which requires more proof, is that with oral D-Arg suppressing L-Arg interaction with eNOS, there will theoretically be less production of NO and excretion of nitrites from the body. In the ileum, oral D-Arg significantly

reduced nitrite levels in comparison to just the L-Arg group (Fig. 18C), which again raises the question whether D-Arg is metabolically inert as believed. With hardly any research on the effects of D-Arg in the metabolic pathways, and on the effects of chronic oral D-Arg supplementation in general at this very specific dose used in my study, a reliable interpretation on these results is not feasible at the moment.

ADMA is formed in the body during protein turnover and posttranslational modification where arginine is methylated. ADMA was first shown to be an endogenous inhibitor of eNOS, and its levels were increased in renal failure (Vallance et al., 1992). An ADMA assay was done in plasma and multiple organs of SD rats to investigate whether this played a role in the resulting levels of expression, activity and metabolites in the NOS pathway (Fig. 25). In result, ADMA levels in the plasma, liver, ileum, lungs and brain were not significantly affected by either of L-Arg or D-Arg administration. A 500 mg/kg/day dose of L-Arg and D-Arg for 4 weeks significantly increased ADMA levels in the kidney compared to the control and D-Arg groups (Martin and Desai, 2020). Studies looking at ADMA levels after arginine supplements are hard to find, but are very necessary since ADMA levels are associated with several disease conditions (Böger et al., 2000; Dayal and Lentz, 2005; Stühlinger and Stanger, 2005; Krzyzanowska et al., 2006) and it is important to know whether oral arginine supplements affect their levels. Bode-Böger *et al.* (Bode-Böger et al., 2003) reported that L-Arg supplementation at 8 g twice a day orally for 14 days given to people over 70 years of age improved endothelial function and while it did not alter ADMA levels it improved the L-Arg/ADMA ratio.

The AGAT pathway is essential for creatine biosynthesis in the body for regulation of energy balance (Wu and Morris Jr, 1998). Both oral L- and D-Arg supplements at 1000 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks significantly decreased AGAT expression in the liver, compared to the control group (Fig. 19), whereas in the kidney, oral L-Arg and not D-Arg led to a significant increase in AGAT expression, compared to the control and D-Arg groups (Fig. 19). As there were no assay kits to quantify the levels of the direct metabolite, creatine, creatinine levels instead were measured in plasma, urine, and various organ samples of SD rats. Creatinine is a degradation product of creatine. Creatinine levels were significantly decreased in the urine with both oral L-Arg and D-Arg supplementation but increased in the ileum with oral D-Arg, and not L-Arg supplementation (Fig. 20). Creatinine levels in the plasma, liver and kidney were not affected by arginine supplements

(Fig. 20). The reduction in creatinine levels in the urine as a result of oral arginine treatment may be due to the significant decrease in AGAT expression in the liver caused by both, L-Arg and D-Arg (Fig. 19). Excessive downregulation of AGAT in the liver could affect creatinine formation by attenuating creatine formation, and thereby, less creatinine would be excreted and detected in the urine. The effects of D-Arg treatment on creatinine levels again are surprising, and difficult to understand with such limited evidence of D-Arg as a metabolically active substrate in the body. In the previous study from our lab (Martin and Desai, 2020), L-Arg at 500 mg/kg/day for 4 weeks had significantly decreased creatinine levels in the skeletal muscle compared to the control group, whereas D-Arg at the same dose had increased it in the liver compared to the control group.

In the ADC pathway known for producing polyamines, ADC converts arginine into agmatine, subsequently followed by the conversion of agmatine into putrescine by agmatinase. This is an important metabolic pathway, as polyamines serve important roles in the body, such as cell growth and supporting embryo development (Wang et al., 2014a). However, ornithine, which is a metabolite of the arginase pathway is a major precursor for polyamines and the enzyme that converts it into polyamines, ODC, is the rate-limiting enzyme for *de novo* polyamine synthesis (Wang et al., 2014a). Therefore, ADC is referred to as the alternative enzyme for polyamine synthesis next to the primary enzyme, arginase. Both oral L- and D-Arg supplementation at 1000 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks in SD rats significantly increased ADC expression in the liver, compared to the control group, and significantly decreased ADC expression in the ileum compared to the control group (Fig. 21). This increase in ADC expression in the liver with oral L-Arg administration may have been due to extensive arginine metabolism with upregulated arginase I as first pass metabolism (Fig. 12), limiting arginine availability for ADC causing an adaptive increase in expression. In addition, the decreased expression of arginase II in the ileum with L-Arg supplementation (Fig. 12) may have played a role in increasing ADC expression in the liver to make up for the high levels of oral arginine reaching the liver, which has not been metabolized in the ileum. The 500 mg/kg/day oral L-Arg for 4 weeks had also significantly increased ADC expression in the liver (Martin and Desai, 2020). Oral L-Arg-induced decreased ADC expression in the ileum (Fig. 21) in my study is difficult to interpret when considering a decrease in arginase II expression in ileum as well with L-Arg supplementation. Theoretically, decreased arginase II in the ileum should lead to increased ADC expression to compensate for the oral arginine to be used

for polyamine synthesis. This suggests the complex interaction and physiological effects of oral arginine on its metabolic pathways.

The levels of agmatinase expression and total polyamines were measured in addition to determining ADC expression in various organs. Agmatine, the major metabolite of the ADC pathway is degraded by agmatinase to ultimately form various types of polyamines (Wang et al., 2014a). Interestingly, only the oral D-Arg, and not L-Arg, supplements caused significant effects in agmatinase expression in comparison to control or L-Arg groups (Fig. 22). In the kidney and ileum, D-Arg increased agmatinase expression compared to the control and/or L-Arg groups (Fig. 22), whereas in the brain it decreased agmatinase expression compared to the control group (Fig. 22). One possible mechanism for increased expression may be due to adaptive response, with supplemental D-Arg blocking L-Arg from interacting with ADC to form agmatine or D-Arg blocking agmatine from being catalyzed by agmatinase causing its upregulation. As D-Arg supposedly does not get used up in the body of mammals, the reasoning behind these results remains in question for now. We were not able to measure agmatine levels by HPLC because the protocol described in some literature reports (Zhao et al., 2002; Regunathan et al., 2009) could not be reproduced.

Oral L-Arg supplements significantly increased the total polyamine levels in the plasma, in comparison to both the control and D-Arg groups of SD rats (Fig. 23A). This can be explained by increased arginase I expression in the liver by both L-Arg and D-Arg (Fig. 12), which also contributes to polyamines formation through L-ornithine/OAD/putrescine pathway (Fig. 4). In comparison, D-Arg at 500 mg/kg/day for 4 weeks had significantly increased total polyamines in the plasma compared to the control, and L-Arg at the same dose had increased it in the liver compared to the control and D-Arg groups in SD rats (Martin and Desai, 2020).

The activity assays for the last two enzymes, ADC and AGAT, are currently not available during our search, and therefore were not able to be completed. The results from these assays would have been useful in filling the gap of knowledge in the mismatch of results observed with enzyme expression and metabolite levels of those two pathways and understanding the relationship between the two factors. For instance, the expression levels for an enzyme can be significantly elevated in a particular organ, but activity levels may be downregulated or upregulated by other factors. Understanding the activities of these enzymes would be helpful in viewing the overall picture of what really happens at the molecular level in these pathways with oral arginine supplementation at 1000 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks.

4.1 CONCLUSIONS

The main conclusion that can be drawn from my study is that oral arginine supplements with both the L and D isomers significantly affect the expression of its metabolizing enzymes and the levels of their metabolites in the plasma or some organs, though not in a uniform or consistent pattern (Table 1). This proves our hypothesis partly in that L-Arg will alter the expression/activity of its metabolizing enzymes and levels of their metabolites but disproves our hypothesis that D-Arg will not affect the metabolic pathways for arginine. This was also seen with a lower dose of 500 mg/kg/day of L-Arg as well as D-Arg administered for a shorter duration of 4 weeks in SD rats in the previous study from this lab (Martin and Desai, 2020). These results mandate that caution should be taken in the use of oral arginine supplements, especially by healthy people. They may not be as safe as advertised in media and as believed by the general public. The effects with both doses, 500 mg as well 1000 mg were not consistent which could be a result of multiple metabolic pathways for L-Arg, which probably interact in a more dynamic fashion with each other than shown by limited research in this area. It may be because of the rapid and dynamic metabolism that both doses showed changes in the plasma or organ levels of arginine. As summarized in Table 1, L-Arg significantly increased the expression of arginase I and ADC in the liver and AGAT in the kidney, and it decreased the expression of arginase II in the ileum and AGAT in the liver. In terms of their metabolites, oral L-Arg increased urea and hydroxyproline levels in the ileum, and nitrite and total polyamines levels in the plasma. L-Arg decreased urea nitrite and creatinine levels in the urine (Table 1). On the other hand, the supposedly inert D-Arg increased CAT-1 expression in the ileum, arginase I in the liver, eNOS expression in the aorta and the kidney, ADC expression in the liver and agmatinase expression in the kidney and the ileum. D-Arg decreased ADC expression in the ileum and agmatinase expression in the brain (Table 1). In terms of their metabolites, oral D-Arg increased hydroxyproline levels in the brain and creatinine levels in the ileum (Table 1). D-Arg decreased hydroxyproline levels in the ileum, and nitrite and creatinine levels in the urine (Table 1). Each enzyme has its own multifaceted regulation at the molecular level, which makes interpretation of the effects of oral L-Arg and D-Arg difficult on different enzymes and their metabolites, especially they also vary from organ to organ.

Hopefully, these results will inspire more studies on oral arginine supplements and their impact on physiology and safety/adverse effects, especially when it appears that the use of these supplements is heavily promoted and is increasing.

4.2 SIGNIFICANCE OF STUDY

L-Arg serves an important role in producing various important molecules in the body. One of the products, NO from eNOS, is essential for maintaining good blood flow and alleviating vessel stress, decreasing the risk of endothelial dysfunction. As endothelial dysfunction has a reciprocal causal relationship with diabetes, L-Arg may decrease the risk of developing or severity of the vascular complications of diabetes. On top of the vasodilatory role related to NO production, L-Arg has an additional direct function of scavenging methylglyoxal, a highly reactive glucose metabolite which induces type II diabetes in Sprague-Dawley rats (Dhar et al., 2011). This arginine study contributed significant data and knowledge about the overall impact of oral arginine on the level and expression of the important enzymes and their metabolic products, in the arginine metabolic pathways. In comparison to the previous study employing a 4-week administration of 500 mg/kg/day arginine (Martin & Desai, 2020), my study used a higher dose (1000 mg/kg/day) for a longer duration (16 weeks) to see if the changes noted in the earlier study are magnified and if further metabolic changes occur. While several changes observed in the metabolic pathways with a 500 mg/kg/day dose were not replicated with a 1000 mg/kg/day dose, there were some other changes, which reflect the dynamic and rather unpredictable regulation of arginine metabolism. At the same time, my study highlights the fact it is difficult to predict an optimum dose and duration oral arginine supplements, which does not adversely and significantly affect its metabolism in the body. Clearly, more studies are indicated employing different doses and treatment durations to form concrete use guidelines for oral arginine supplements. One thing for sure is that arginine supplements in the two doses used in our lab significantly affect several enzymes and metabolite levels and caution is required in the use of oral supplements, which seems to be lacking at the moment.

4.3 LIMITATIONS OF STUDY

The animal model used in my study, Sprague-Dawley rats, can be considered to be one of the limitations of this arginine study, as there are some physiological differences between a rat model

and a human model. Direct application of results from animal model study to real-life human use is deemed to be unreliable and invalid. However, the rat model is known for its relative similarity to human model in genes and pharmacokinetics. Thereby, this animal model study sets a baseline of pharmacological research in pre-clinical testing stage.

Another limitation is sample size chosen for each group of rats. In the previous lower dose arginine study (500 mg/kg/day for 4 weeks), there were 8 rats in each of three groups, whereas in the current study (1000 mg/kg/day for 16 weeks), 7 rats were used for each of the L-Arg and D-Arg groups and only 4 rats were used for the control group, with a view to reduce the number of rats used. In hindsight, this was an error because the duration of the current study was 16 weeks whereas it was only 4 weeks for the 500 mg/kg/day study (Martin & Desai, 2020). So results from the control group in the Martin & Desai study (2020) cannot be extrapolated to the control group in the current study. If there were 7 rats in each group including the control, the error bars could have been smaller and more significant values might have been detected, where it was borderline.

Additionally, in contrast to the lower dose oral arginine (500 mg/kg/day for 4 weeks) study (Martin & Desai, 2020), which used β -actin for loading control, I used total protein as a loading control for the current study. If the western blots were repeated with β -actin for the current study, the results perhaps could have been different and similar to the lower dose study. The supervisor's lab intends to repeat the western blots with β -actin as loading control.

Male rats were used for this study, which is a limitation because sex hormones might affect the results, and to avoid a confounding factor in interpreting results. Separate studies on female rats are planned as a part of this project in our lab.

The method of oral arginine administration remains to be another limitation to this study. The ideal method for administration is *via* oral gavage, instead of adding it in drinking water, for more precise delivery of the set dose of 1000 mg/kg/day, as well as for consistent and rapid absorption of arginine in the rats. In addition, human arginine supplements are mainly taken in pill form, which is a more concentrated dose, as seen with oral gavage administration. However, daily oral gavage for 16 weeks was not practical since it would add stress as a confounding factor in the analysis of results. It also increases the risk of pulmonary aspiration of the gavage solution and mortality. We took precautions to calculate the exact dose that each rat received based on its body weight and daily water intake throughout the study.

As well, the activity assays for the other two enzymes AGAT and ADC are currently not made available for research use, and therefore were not able to be completed. The results from these assays would have been useful for interpreting the results of enzyme expressions and metabolite levels of those two pathways and understanding the relationship between the two factors.

4.4 FUTURE WORK

One of the primary purposes of my study was to determine the physiological impact of oral arginine supplements. While my study contributed a significant amount of data and knowledge covering the 4 main metabolic pathways of arginine, it also highlighted the fact that the physiological impact of arginine supplements may not be related to the dose and duration of treatment within certain limits, when considering the previous study from this lab (Martin & Desai, 2020). This conclusion needs to be confirmed with a couple of more such comprehensive studies. In accordance, two more studies have been planned, one employing a dose of 500 mg/kg/day but with a greater duration of 16 weeks of treatment. The other one will employ 1000 mg/kg/day for a shorter duration of 4 weeks. Unfortunately, the Animal Ethics committee did not approve a dose of 2000 mg/kg/day citing a possible risk of pancreatitis. Another future goal of the arginine project in our lab is to develop oral arginine supplements as safe and effective methylglyoxal scavengers (Dhar et al., 2012), to attenuate the risk of formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and development of vascular complications of diabetes, since methylglyoxal levels are elevated in diabetic patients and it is a major precursor of AGEs formation (Desai and Wu, 2007).

REFERENCES

Abd-El-Aleem, S.A., Ferguson, M.W., Appleton, I., Kairsingh, S., Jude, E.B., Jones, K., et al. (2000). Expression of nitric oxide synthase isoforms and arginase in normal human skin and chronic venous leg ulcers. J. Pathol. *191*: 434–442.

Abu El-Hamd, M., and Hegazy, E.M. (2020). Comparison of the clinical efficacy of daily use of L-arginine, tadalafil and combined L-arginine with tadalafil in the treatment of elderly patients with erectile dysfunction. Andrologia *52*: e13640.

Alba-roth, J., Muller, O.A., Schopohl, J., and Werder, K.V.O.N. (1988). Arginine Stimulates Growth Hormone Secretion by Suppressing Endogenous Somatostatin Secretion*. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 67: 1186–1189.

Albina, J.E., and Henry, W.L.J. (1991). Suppression of lymphocyte proliferation through the nitric oxide synthesizing pathway. J. Surg. Res. *50*: 403–409.

Alderton, W.K., Cooper, C.E., and Knowles, R.G. (2001). Nitric oxide synthases: structure, function and inhibition. Biochem. J. *357*: 593–615.

Lehman, A., Burnett Jr. J.C., Higano S.T., McKinely L.J., Homes Jr. D.R. (1998). Long-term l-Arginine Supplementation Improves Small-Vessel Coronary Endothelial Function in Humans. Circulation 97: 2123–2128.

Archer, S.L., Huang, J.M., Hampl, V., Nelson, D.P., Shultz, P.J., and Weir, E.K. (1994). Nitric oxide and cGMP cause vasorelaxation by activation of a charybdotoxin-sensitive K channel by cGMP-dependent protein kinase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *91*: 7583–7587.

Ash, D.E. (2004). Structure and Function of Arginases. J. Nutr. 134: 2760S-2764S.

Ast, J., Cieslewicz, A.R., Korzeniowska, K., Bogdanski, P., Kazmierczak, E., Olszewski, J., et al. (2011). Supplementation with L-arginine does not influence arterial blood pressure in healthy people: a randomized, double blind, trial. Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci. *15*: 1375–1384.

Barassi, A., Corsi Romanelli, M.M., Pezzilli, R., Damele, C.A.L., Vaccalluzzo, L., Goi, G., et al. (2017). Levels of l-arginine and l-citrulline in patients with erectile dysfunction of different etiology. Andrology 5: 256–261.

Barbul, A. (1990). Arginine and immune function. Nutrition 6: 53-62.

Barbul, A., Fishel, R.S., Shimazu, S., Wasserkrug, H.L., Yoshimura, N.N., Tao, R.C., et al. (1985). Intravenous hyperalimentation with high arginine levels improves wound healing and immune function. J. Surg. Res. *38*: 328–334.

Barbul, A., Lazarou, S.A., Efron, D.T., Wasserkrug, H.L., and Efron, G. (1990). Arginine enhances wound healing and lymphocyte immune responses in humans. Surgery *108*: 331–337.

Barbul, A., Rettura, G., Levenson, S.M., and Seifter, E. (1983). Wound healing and thymotropic effects of arginine: a pituitary mechanism of action. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. *37*: 786–794.

Battini, R., Alessandri, M.G., Leuzzi, V., Moro, F., Tosetti, M., Bianchi, M.C., et al. (2006). Arginine:glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT) deficiency in a newborn: Early treatment can prevent phenotypic expression of the disease. J. Pediatr. *148*: 828–830.

Beaumier, L., Castillo, L., Ajami, A.M., and Young, V.R. (1995). Urea cycle intermediate kinetics and nitrate excretion at normal and 'therapeutic' intakes of arginine in humans. Am. J. Physiol. *269*: E884-96.

Becker, R.M., Wu, G., Galanko, J.A., Chen, W., Maynor, A.R., Bose, C.L., et al. (2000). Reduced serum amino acid concentrations in infants with necrotizing enterocolitis. J. Pediatr. *137*: 785–793.

Bellone, J., Bartolotta, E., Cardinale, G., Arvat, E., Cherubini, V., Aimaretti, G., et al. (1993). Low dose orally administered arginine is able to enhance both basal and growth hormone-releasing hormone-induced growth hormone secretion in normal short children. J. Endocrinol. Invest. *16*: 521–525.

Blum, A., Cannon, R.O. 3rd, Costello, R., Schenke, W.H., and Csako, G. (2000). Endocrine and lipid effects of oral L-arginine treatment in healthy postmenopausal women. J. Lab. Clin. Med. *135*: 231–237.

Bode-Böger, S.M., Böger, R.H., Galland, A., Tsikas, D., and Frölich, J.C. (1998). L-arginineinduced vasodilation in healthy humans: pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic relationship. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. *46*: 489–497.

Bode-Böger, S.M., Muke, J., Surdacki, A., Brabant, G., Böger, R.H., and Frölich, J.C. (2003). Oral L-arginine improves endothelial function in healthy individuals older than 70 years. Vasc. Med. *8*: 77–81.

Bogdan, C., Röllinghoff, M., and Diefenbach, A. (2000). The role of nitric oxide in innate immunity. Immunol. Rev. 173: 17–26.

Bogdanski, P., Suliburska, J., Grabanska, K., Musialik, K., Cieslewicz, A., Skoluda, A., et al. (2012). Effect of 3-month L-arginine supplementation on insulin resistance and tumor necrosis factor activity in patients with visceral obesity. Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci. *16*: 816–823.

Böger, R.H. (2006). Asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA): A novel risk marker in cardiovascular medicine and beyond. Ann. Med. *38*: 126–136.

Böger, R.H. (2007). The Pharmacodynamics of L-Arginine. J. Nutr. 137: 1650S-1655S.

Böger, R.H., and Bode-Böger, S.M. (2001). The clinical pharmacology of L-arginine. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. *41*: 79–99.

Böger, R.H., Sydow, K., Borlak, J., Thum, T., Lenzen, H., Schubert, B., et al. (2000). LDL cholesterol upregulates synthesis of asymmetrical dimethylarginine in human endothelial cells: involvement of S-adenosylmethionine-dependent methyltransferases. Circ. Res. *87*: 99–105.

Böhme, G.A., Bon, C., Lemaire, M., Reibaud, M., Piot, O., Stutzmann, J.M., et al. (1993). Altered synaptic plasticity and memory formation in nitric oxide synthase inhibitor-treated rats. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *90*: 9191 LP – 9194.

Boucher, J.L., Custot, J., Vadon, S., Delaforge, M., Lepoivre, M., Tenu, J.P., et al. (1994). N omega-hydroxyl-L-arginine, an intermediate in the L-arginine to nitric oxide pathway, is a strong inhibitor of liver and macrophage arginase. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 203: 1614–1621.

Braissant, O., Henry, H., Villard, A.-M., Speer, O., Wallimann, T., and Bachmann, C. (2005).
Creatine synthesis and transport during rat embryogenesis: Spatiotemporal expression of AGAT, GAMT and CT1. BMC Dev. Biol. *5*: 9.

Brosnan, M.E., and Brosnan, J.T. (2004). Renal Arginine Metabolism. J. Nutr. 134: 2791S-2795S.

Bruch-Gerharz, D., Schnorr, O., Suschek, C., Beck, K.-F., Pfeilschifter, J., Ruzicka, T., et al. (2003). Arginase 1 overexpression in psoriasis: limitation of inducible nitric oxide synthase activity as a molecular mechanism for keratinocyte hyperproliferation. Am. J. Pathol. *162*: 203–211.

Bult, H., Boeckxstaens, G.E., Pelckmans, P.A., Jordaens, F.H., Maercke, Y.M. Van, and Herman, A.G. (1990). Nitric oxide as an inhibitory non-adrenergic non-cholinergic neurotransmitter. Nature *345*: 346–347.

Burnett, A.L. (2004). Novel nitric oxide signaling mechanisms regulate the erectile response. Int. J. Impot. Res. *16 Suppl 1*: S15-9.

Caldwell, R.W., Rodriguez, P.C., Toque, H.A., Narayanan, S.P., and Caldwell, R.B. (2018). Arginase: A Multifaceted Enzyme Important in Health and Disease. Physiol. Rev. *98*: 641–665.

Campbell, B.I., Bounty, P.M. La, and Roberts, M. (2004). The ergogenic potential of arginine. J. Int. Soc. Sports Nutr. *1*: 35–38.

Campistron, G., Guiraud, R., Cros, J., and Prat, G. (1982). Pharmacokinetics of arginine and aspartic acid administered simultaneously in the rat: II. Tissue distribution. Eur. J. Drug Metab. Pharmacokinet. 7: 315–322.

Castillo, L., Chapman, T.E., Sanchez, M., Yu, Y.M., Burke, J.F., Ajami, A.M., et al. (1993a). Plasma arginine and citrulline kinetics in adults given adequate and arginine-free diets. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *90*: 7749–7753.

Castillo, L., Chapman, T.E., Yu, Y.M., Ajami, A., Burke, J.F., and Young, V.R. (1993b). Dietary arginine uptake by the splanchnic region in adult humans. Am. J. Physiol. Metab. *265*: E532–E539.

Castillo, L., Sánchez, M., Chapman, T.E., Ajami, A., Burke, J.F., and Young, V.R. (1994). The plasma flux and oxidation rate of ornithine adaptively decline with restricted arginine intake. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *91*: 6393–6397.

Chang, C.-I., Liao, J.C., and Kuo, L. (1998). Arginase modulates nitric oxide production in activated macrophages. Am. J. Physiol. Circ. Physiol. 274: H342–H348.

Chen, J., Kuhlencordt, P., Urano, F., Ichinose, H., Astern, J., and Huang, P.L. (2003). Effects of chronic treatment with L-arginine on atherosclerosis in apoE knockout and apoE/inducible NO synthase double-knockout mice. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 23: 97–103.

Chicoine, L.G., Paffett, M.L., Young, T.L., and Nelin, L.D. (2004). Arginase inhibition increases nitric oxide production in bovine pulmonary arterial endothelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. *287*: L60-8.

Chin-Dusting, J.P.F., Kaye, D.M., Lefkovits, J., Wong, J., Bergin, P., and Jennings, G.L. (1996). Dietary supplementation with l-arginine fails to restore endothelial function in forearm resistance arteries of patients with severe heart failure. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. *27*: 1207–1213.

Choi, S., Park, C., Ahn, M., Lee, J.H., and Shin, T. (2012). Immunohistochemical study of arginase 1 and 2 in various tissues of rats. Acta Histochem. *114*: 487–494.

Chromiak, J.A., and Antonio, J. (2002). Use of amino acids as growth hormone-releasing agents by athletes. Nutrition *18*: 657–661.

Clarkson, P., Adams, M.R., Powe, A.J., Donald, A.E., McCredie, R., Robinson, J., et al. (1996). Oral L-arginine improves endothelium-dependent dilation in hypercholesterolemic young adults. J. Clin. Invest. 97: 1989–1994.

Claybaugh, T., Decker, S., McCall, K., Slyvka, Y., Steimle, J., Wood, A., et al. (2014). L-Arginine Supplementation in Type II Diabetic Rats Preserves Renal Function and Improves Insulin Sensitivity by Altering the Nitric Oxide Pathway. Int. J. Endocrinol. *2014*: 171546.

Coleman, C.S., Hu, G., and Pegg, A.E. (2004). Putrescine biosynthesis in mammalian tissues. Biochem. J. 379: 849–855.

Collier, S.R., Casey, D.P., and Kanaley, J.A. (2005). Growth hormone responses to varying doses of oral arginine. Growth Horm. IGF Res. *15*: 136–139.

Colombani, P.C., Bitzi, R., Frey-Rindova, P., Frey, W., Arnold, M., Langhans, W., et al. (1999). Chronic arginine aspartate supplementation in runners reduces total plasma amino acid level at rest and during a marathon run. Eur. J. Nutr. *38*: 263–270.

Cormio, L., Siati, M. De, Lorusso, F., Selvaggio, O., Mirabella, L., Sanguedolce, F., et al. (2011). Oral L-Citrulline Supplementation Improves Erection Hardness in Men With Mild Erectile Dysfunction. Urology 77: 119–122.

Corvoisier, P. Le, Lopes, M.E., Su, J., and Hittinger, L. (2000). [Role of nitric oxide in heart failure]. J. Soc. Biol. *194*: 143–149.

Creager, M.A., Gallagher, S.J., Girerd, X.J., Coleman, S.M., Dzau, V.J., and Cooke, J.P. (1992). L-arginine improves endothelium-dependent vasodilation in hypercholesterolemic humans. J. Clin. Invest. *90*: 1248–1253.

Zhang, C., Hein, T.W., Wang, W., Miller, M.W., Fossum, T.W., McDonald, M.M., Humphrey, J.D., Kuo, L. (2004). Upregulation of Vascular Arginase in Hypertension Decreases Nitric Oxide– Mediated Dilation of Coronary Arterioles. Hypertension *44*: 935–943.

Dayal, S., and Lentz, S.R. (2005). ADMA and hyperhomocysteinemia. Vasc. Med. 10 Suppl 1: S27-33.

Demady, D.R., Jianmongkol, S., Vuletich, J.L., Bender, A.T., and Osawa, Y. (2001). Agmatine enhances the NADPH oxidase activity of neuronal NO synthase and leads to oxidative inactivation of the enzyme. Mol. Pharmacol. *59*: 24–29.

Desai, K., and Wu, L. (2007). Methylglyoxal and advanced glycation endproducts: new therapeutic horizons? Recent Pat. Cardiovasc. Drug Discov. 2: 89–99.

Desai, K.M., Sessa, W.C., and Vane, J.R. (1991). Involvement of nitric oxide in the reflex relaxation of the stomach to accommodate food or fluid. Nature *351*: 477–479.

Devé, R., and Boyd, C.A.R. (1998). Transporters for Cationic Amino Acids in Animal Cells:

Discovery, Structure, and Function. Physiol. Rev. 78: 487-545.

Dhar, A., Desai, K., Kazachmov, M., Yu, P., and Wu, L. (2008). Methylglyoxal production in vascular smooth muscle cells from different metabolic precursors. Metabolism. *57*: 1211–1220.

Dhar, A., Dhar, I., Jiang, B., Desai, K.M., and Wu, L. (2011). Chronic methylglyoxal infusion by minipump causes pancreatic beta-cell dysfunction and induces type 2 diabetes in Sprague-Dawley rats. Diabetes *60*: 899–908.

Dhar, I., Dhar, A., Wu, L., and Desai, K. (2012). Arginine Attenuates Methylglyoxal- and High Glucose-Induced Endothelial Dysfunction and Oxidative Stress by an Endothelial Nitric-Oxide Synthase-Independent Mechanism. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. *342*: 196–204.

Dioguardi, F.S. (2011). To Give or Not to Give? Lessons from the Arginine Paradox. Lifestyle Genomics 4: 90–98.

Dong, J.-Y., Qin, L.-Q., Zhang, Z., Zhao, Y., Wang, J., Arigoni, F., et al. (2011). Effect of oral larginine supplementation on blood pressure: A meta-analysis of randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials. Am. Heart J. *162*: 959–965.

Doutreleau, S., Mettauer, B., Piquard, F., Schaefer, A., Lonsdorfer, E., Richard, R., et al. (2005). Chronic but not acute oral L-arginine supplementation delays the ventilatory threshold during exercise in heart failure patients. Can. J. Appl. Physiol. *30*: 419–432.

Durante, W., Johnson, F.K., and Johnson, R.A. (2007). Arginase: a critical regulator of nitric oxide synthesis and vascular function. Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol. *34*: 906–911.

Eardley, I. (2013). The Incidence, Prevalence, and Natural History of Erectile Dysfunction. Sex. Med. Rev. 1: 3–16.

Edmonds, M.S., Gonyou, H.W., and Baker, D.H. (1987). Effect of Excess Levels of Methionine, Tryptophan, Arginine, Lysine or Threonine on Growth and Dietary Choice in the Pig. J. Anim. Sci. *65*: 179–185.

Ekmekcioglu, S., Grimm, E.A., and Roszik, J. (2017). Targeting iNOS to increase efficacy of immunotherapies. Hum. Vaccin. Immunother. *13*: 1105–1108.

El-Hattab, A.W., Adesina, A.M., Jones, J., and Scaglia, F. (2015). MELAS syndrome: Clinical manifestations, pathogenesis, and treatment options. Mol. Genet. Metab. *116*: 4–12.

El-Hattab, A.W., Almannai, M., and Scaglia, F. (2017). Arginine and citrulline for the treatment of MELAS syndrome. J. Inborn Errors Metab. Screen. *5*: 10.1177/2326409817697399.

El-Wakeel, L.M., Fouad, F.A., Saleem, M.D., and Saber-Khalaf, M. (2020). Efficacy and tolerability of sildenafil/l-arginine combination relative to sildenafil alone in patients with organic erectile dysfunction. Andrology *8*: 143–147.

Endemann, D.H., and Schiffrin, E.L. (2004). Endothelial Dysfunction. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 15: 1983–1992.

Evans, R.W., Fernstrom, J.D., Thompson, J., Morris, S.M.J., and Kuller, L.H. (2004). Biochemical responses of healthy subjects during dietary supplementation with L-arginine. J. Nutr. Biochem. *15*: 534–539.

Fazelian, S., Hoseini, M., Namazi, N., Heshmati, J., Sepidar Kish, M., Mirfatahi, M., et al. (2014). Effects of L- Arginine Supplementation on Antioxidant Status and Body Composition in Obese Patients with Pre-diabetes: A Randomized Controlled Clinical Trial. Adv. Pharm. Bull. *4*: 449–454.

Feng, Y., Halaris, A.E., and Piletz, J.E. (1997). Determination of agmatine in brain and plasma using high-performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection. J. Chromatogr. B. Biomed. Sci. Appl. *691*: 277–286.

Fernandez, J., Lopez, A.B., Wang, C., Mishra, R., Zhou, L., Yaman, I., et al. (2003). Transcriptional Control of the Arginine/Lysine Transporter, Cat-1, by Physiological Stress*. J. Biol. Chem. 278: 50000–50009.

Förstermann, U., and Münzel, T. (2006). Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase in Vascular Disease. Circulation *113*: 1708–1714.

Förstermann, U., and Sessa, W.C. (2011). Nitric oxide synthases: regulation and function. Eur. Heart J. 33: 829–837.

Frondoza, C.G., Trivedi, S.M., Humphrey, R.L., and Goble, J.C. (1980). Metabolism of Guanido-Labeled (C-14)Arginine in Rats, Mice, and Man. J. Nucl. Med. 21: 52–58.

Galea, E., Regunathan, S., Eliopoulos, V., Feinstein, D.L., and Reis, D.J. (1996). Inhibition of mammalian nitric oxide synthases by agmatine, an endogenous polyamine formed by decarboxylation of arginine. Biochem. J. *316 (Pt 1*: 247–249.

Gallo, L., Pecoraro, S., Sarnacchiaro, P., Silvani, M., and Antonini, G. (2020). The Daily Therapy With L-Arginine 2,500 mg and Tadalafil 5 mg in Combination and in Monotherapy for the Treatment of Erectile Dysfunction: A Prospective, Randomized Multicentre Study. Sex. Med. 8: 178–185.

Gambardella, J., Khondkar, W., Morelli, M.B., Wang, X., Santulli, G., and Trimarco, V. (2020). Arginine and Endothelial Function. Biomedicines 8: 277.

Gao, H., Wu, G., Spencer, T.E., Johnson, G.A., and Bazer, F.W. (2009). Select Nutrients in the Ovine Uterine Lumen. V. Nitric Oxide Synthase, GTP Cyclohydrolase, and Ornithine Decarboxylase in Ovine Uteri and Peri-Implantation Conceptuses1. Biol. Reprod. *81*: 67–76.

Genchi, G. (2017). An overview on d-amino acids. Amino Acids 49: 1521–1533.

Giustarini, D., Rossi, R., Milzani, A., and Dalle-Donne, I. (2008). Nitrite and Nitrate Measurement by Griess Reagent in Human Plasma: Evaluation of Interferences and Standardization. Methods Enzymol. *440*: 361–380.

Goracke-Postle, C.J., Nguyen, H.O.X., Stone, L.S., and Fairbanks, C.A. (2006). Release of tritiated agmatine from spinal synaptosomes. Neuroreport *17*: 13–17.

Goto, H. (1989). Distribution and metabolic fate of radioactive carbon from L- [U-14C] arginine administered into mice. Acta Histochem. Cytochem. 22: 215–225.

Grishin, D. V, Zhdanov, D.D., Pokrovskaya, M. V, and Sokolov, N.N. (2020). D-amino acids in nature, agriculture and biomedicine. All Life *13*: 11–22.

Haeften, T.W. van, Voetberg, G.A., Gerich, J.E., and Veen, E.A. van der (1989). Dose-response characteristics for arginine-stimulated insulin secretion in man and influence of hyperglycemia. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. *69*: 1059–1064.

Halaris, A., and Plietz, J. (2007). Agmatine. CNS Drugs 21: 885–900.

Hamilos, M., Petousis, S., and Parthenakis, F. (2018). Interaction between platelets and endothelium: from pathophysiology to new therapeutic options. Cardiovasc. Diagn. Ther. *8*: 568–580.

Holowatz, L.A., and Kenney, W.L. (2007). Up-regulation of arginase activity contributes to attenuated reflex cutaneous vasodilatation in hypertensive humans. J. Physiol. *581*: 863–872.

Huang, P.L. (2000). Mouse models of nitric oxide synthase deficiency. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 11: 120–123.

Ignarro, L.J., Buga, G.M., Wood, K.S., Byrns, R.E., and Chaudhuri, G. (1987). Endotheliumderived relaxing factor produced and released from artery and vein is nitric oxide. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 84: 9265–9269.

Ikawa, M., Povalko, N., and Koga, Y. (2020). Arginine therapy in mitochondrial myopathy, encephalopathy, lactic acidosis, and stroke-like episodes. Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 23:.

Iyer, R., Jenkinson, C.P., Vockley, J.G., Kern, R.M., Grody, W.W., and Cederbaum, S. (1998). The human arginases and arginase deficiency. J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 21: 86–100.

Iyer, R.K., Yoo, P.K., Kern, R.M., Rozengurt, N., Tsoa, R., O\textquoterightBrien, W.E., et al. (2002). Mouse Model for Human Arginase Deficiency. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22: 4491–4498.

Jabecka, A., Ast, J., Bogdaski, P., Drozdowski, M., Pawlak-Lemaska, K., Cielewicz, A.R., et al. (2012). Oral L-arginine supplementation in patients with mild arterial hypertension and its effect on plasma level of asymmetric dimethylarginine, L-citruline, L-arginine and antioxidant status. Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci. *16*: 1665–1674.

Jones, A.M. (2014). Dietary nitrate supplementation and exercise performance. Sports Med. 44 *Suppl 1*: S35-45.

Kalra, S.P., Pearson, E., Sahu, A., and Kalra, P.S. (1995). Agmatine, a novel hypothalamic amine, stimulates pituitary luteinizing hormone release in vivo and hypothalamic luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone release in vitro. Neurosci. Lett. *194*: 165–168.

Kamel, H.K., Maas, D., and Duthie, E.H.J. (2002). Role of hormones in the pathogenesis and management of sarcopenia. Drugs Aging 19: 865–877.

Kaore, S.N., Amane, H.S., and Kaore, N.M. (2013). Citrulline: pharmacological perspectives and its role as an emerging biomarker in future. Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol. *27*: 35–50.

Khalaf, D., Krüger, M., Wehland, M., Infanger, M., and Grimm, D. (2019). The Effects of Oral l-Arginine and l-Citrulline Supplementation on Blood Pressure. Nutrients *11*: 1679.

Kim, S.-H., Roszik, J., Grimm, E.A., and Ekmekcioglu, S. (2018). Impact of 1-Arginine Metabolism on Immune Response and Anticancer Immunotherapy. Front. Oncol. 8: 67.

Kiriyama, Y., and Nochi, H. (2016). D-Amino Acids in the Nervous and Endocrine Systems. Scientifica (Cairo). 2016: 6494621.

Klotz, T., Mathers, M.J., Braun, M., Bloch, W., and Engelmann, U. (1999). Effectiveness of oral L-arginine in first-line treatment of erectile dysfunction in a controlled crossover study. Urol. Int. *63*: 220–223.

Koenig, M.K., Emrick, L., Karaa, A., Korson, M., Scaglia, F., Parikh, S., et al. (2016). Recommendations for the Management of Strokelike Episodes in Patients With Mitochondrial Encephalomyopathy, Lactic Acidosis, and Strokelike Episodes. JAMA Neurol. *73*: 591–594.

Koga, Y., Akita, Y., Nishioka, J., Yatsuga, S., Povalko, N., Tanabe, Y., et al. (2005). L-arginine improves the symptoms of strokelike episodes in MELAS. Neurology *64*: 710–712.

Koga, Y., Povalko, N., Inoue, E., Nakamura, H., Ishii, A., Suzuki, Y., et al. (2018). Therapeutic regimen of L-arginine for MELAS: 9-year, prospective, multicenter, clinical research. J. Neurol. *265*: 2861–2874.

Kottke, B.A., Pineda, A.A., Case, M.T., Orsuzar, A.M., and Brzys, K.A. (1988). Hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis: present and future therapy including LDL-apheresis. J. Clin. Apher. *4*: 35–46.

Kreider, R.B., Kalman, D.S., Antonio, J., Ziegenfuss, T.N., Wildman, R., Collins, R., et al. (2017). International Society of Sports Nutrition position stand: safety and efficacy of creatine supplementation in exercise, sport, and medicine. J. Int. Soc. Sports Nutr. *14*: 18.

Krzyzanowska, K., Mittermayer, F., Krugluger, W., Schnack, C., Hofer, M., Wolzt, M., et al. (2006). Asymmetric dimethylarginine is associated with macrovascular disease and total homocysteine in patients with type 2 diabetes. Atherosclerosis *189*: 236–240.

Laakso, M., Edelman, S. V, Brechtel, G., and Baron, A.D. (1992). Impaired Insulin-Mediated Skeletal Muscle Blood Flow in Patients With NIDDM. Diabetes *41*: 1076–1083.

Lambert, M.I., Hefer, J.A., Millar, R.P., and Macfarlane, P.W. (1993). Failure of commercial oral amino acid supplements to increase serum growth hormone concentrations in male body-builders. Int. J. Sport Nutr. *3*: 298–305.

Lee, J., Ryu, H., Ferrante, R.J., Morris, S.M., and Ratan, R.R. (2003). Translational control of inducible nitric oxide synthase expression by arginine can explain the arginine paradox. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *100*: 4843–4848.

Lekakis, J.P., Papathanassiou, S., Papaioannou, T.G., Papamichael, C.M., Zakopoulos, N., Kotsis, V., et al. (2002). Oral L-arginine improves endothelial dysfunction in patients with essential hypertension. Int. J. Cardiol. *86*: 317–323.

Levey, A.S., Perrone, R.D., and Madias, N.E. (1988). Serum Creatinine and Renal Function. Annu. Rev. Med. *39*: 465–490.

Li, G., Regunathan, S., Barrow, C.J., Eshraghi, J., Cooper, R., and Reis, D.J. (1994). Agmatine: an endogenous clonidine-displacing substance in the brain. Science *263*: 966–969.

Li, H., Meininger, C.J., Hawker, J.R., Haynes, T.E., Kepka-Lenhart, D., Mistry, S.K., et al. (2001).

Regulatory role of arginase I and II in nitric oxide, polyamine, and proline syntheses in endothelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. Metab. *280*: E75–E82.

Lind, D.S. (2004). Arginine and Cancer. J. Nutr. 134: 2837S-2841S.

Lopez, M.J., and Mohiuddin, S.S. (2021). Biochemistry, Essential Amino Acids. (Treasure Island (FL)), p.

Loscalzo, J. (2001). An experiment of nature: genetic L-arginine deficiency and NO insufficiency. J. Clin. Invest. *108*: 663–664.

Lucotti, P., Setola, E., Monti, L.D., Galluccio, E., Costa, S., Sandoli, E.P., et al. (2006). Beneficial effects of a long-term oral l-arginine treatment added to a hypocaloric diet and exercise training program in obese, insulin-resistant type 2 diabetic patients. Am. J. Physiol. Metab. *291*: E906–E912.

Lundberg, J.O. (2006). Nitric oxide metabolites and cardiovascular disease markers, mediators, or both? J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 47: 580–581.

Maccario, M., Grottoli, S., Razzore, P., Procopio, M., Oleandri, S.E., Ciccarelli, E., et al. Effects of glucose load and/or arginine on insulin and growth hormone secretion in hyperprolactinemia and obesity. Eur. J. Endocrinol. *135*: 205–210.

Macdonald, P., Schyvens, C., and Winlaw, D. (1996). The role of nitric oxide in heart failure. Potential for pharmacological intervention. Drugs Aging *8*: 452–458.

Maggi, M., Filippi, S., Ledda, F., Magini, A., and Forti, G. (2000). Erectile dysfunction: from biochemical pharmacology to advances in medical therapy. Eur. J. Endocrinol. *143*: 143–154.

Mandal, S., Mandal, A., Johansson, H.E., Orjalo, A. V, and Park, M.H. (2013). Depletion of cellular polyamines, spermidine and spermine, causes a total arrest in translation and growth in mammalian cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *110*: 2169–2174.

Manner, C.K., Nicholson, B., and MacLeod, C.L. (2003). CAT2 arginine transporter deficiency significantly reduces iNOS-mediated NO production in astrocytes. J. Neurochem. *85*: 476–482.

Martin, S., and Desai, K. (2019). The effects of oral arginine on its metabolic pathways in Sprague Dawley rats. Br. J. Nutr. 1–32.

Martin, S., and Desai, K. (2020). The effects of oral arginine on its metabolic pathways in Sprague– Dawley rats. Br. J. Nutr. *123*: 135–148.

Mast, B.A., and Schultz, G.S. (1996). Interactions of cytokines, growth factors, and proteases in acute and chronic wounds. Wound Repair Regen. Off. Publ. Wound Heal. Soc. [and] Eur. Tissue Repair Soc. *4*: 411–420.

Maxwell, A.J., Anderson, B., Zapien, M.P., and Cooke, J.P. (2000). Endothelial Dysfunction in Hypercholesterolemia is Reversed by a Nutritional Product Designed to Enhance Nitric Oxide Activity. Cardiovasc. Drugs Ther. *14*: 309–316.

McGuire, D.M., Gross, M.D., Pilsum, J.F. Van, and Towle, H.C. (1984). Repression of rat kidney L-arginine:glycine amidinotransferase synthesis by creatine at a pretranslational level. J. Biol. Chem. *259*: 12034–12038.

McNeal, C.J., Meininger, C.J., Reddy, D., Wilborn, C.D., and Wu, G. (2016). Safety and Effectiveness of Arginine in Adults. J. Nutr. 146: 2587S-2593S.

Meazza, C., Pagani, S., Travaglino, P., and Bozzola, M. (2004). Effect of growth hormone (GH) on the immune system. Pediatr. Endocrinol. Rev. *1 Suppl 3*: 490–495.

Meurs, H., McKay, S., Maarsingh, H., Hamer, M.A.M., Macic, L., Molendijk, N., et al. (2002). Increased arginase activity underlies allergen-induced deficiency of cNOS-derived nitric oxide and airway hyperresponsiveness. Br. J. Pharmacol. *136*: 391–398.

Michel, T. (2013). R is for arginine: metabolism of arginine takes off again, in new directions. Circulation *128*: 1400–1404.

Miczke, A., Suliburska, J., Pupek-Musialik, D., Ostrowska, L., Jabłecka, A., Krejpcio, Z., et al. (2015). Effect of L-arginine supplementation on insulin resistance and serum adiponectin concentration in rats with fat diet. Int. J. Clin. Exp. Med. 8: 10358–10366.

Mills, C.D. (2001). Macrophage arginine metabolism to ornithine/urea or nitric oxide/citrulline: a life or death issue. Crit. Rev. Immunol. *21*: 399–425.

Moncada, S., and Higgs, A. (1993). The L-arginine-nitric oxide pathway. N. Engl. J. Med. 329: 2002–2012.

Monti, L.D., Galluccio, E., Villa, V., Fontana, B., Spadoni, S., and Piatti, P.M. (2018). Decreased diabetes risk over 9 year after 18-month oral L-arginine treatment in middle-aged subjects with impaired glucose tolerance and metabolic syndrome (extension evaluation of L-arginine study). Eur. J. Nutr. *57*: 2805–2817.

Moretto, J., Guglielmetti, A.-S., Tournier-Nappey, M., Martin, H., Prigent-Tessier, A., Marie, C., et al. (2017). Effects of a chronic l-arginine supplementation on the arginase pathway in aged rats. Exp. Gerontol. *90*: 52–60.

Morris Jr., S.M. (2007). Arginine Metabolism: Boundaries of Our Knowledge. J. Nutr. 137: 1602S-1609S.

Morris Jr, S.M. (2004). Enzymes of Arginine Metabolism. J. Nutr. 134: 2743S-2747S.

Morris, C.R., Hamilton-Reeves, J., Martindale, R.G., Sarav, M., and Ochoa Gautier, J.B. (2017). Acquired Amino Acid Deficiencies: A Focus on Arginine and Glutamine. Nutr. Clin. Pract. *32*: 30S-47S.

Nathan, C.F., and Hibbs, J.B.J. (1991). Role of nitric oxide synthesis in macrophage antimicrobial activity. Curr. Opin. Immunol. *3*: 65–70.

National Center for Biotechnology Information PubChem Compound Summary for CID 6322, Arginine.

National Center for Biotechnology Information PubChem Compound Summary for CID 71070, D-Arginine.

Ndika, J.D.T., Johnston, K., Barkovich, J.A., Wirt, M.D., O'Neill, P., Betsalel, O.T., et al. (2012). Developmental progress and creatine restoration upon long-term creatine supplementation of a patient with arginine:glycine amidinotransferase deficiency. Mol. Genet. Metab. *106*: 48–54.

Nieves, C.J., and Langkamp-Henken, B. (2002). Arginine and immunity: a unique perspective. Biomed. Pharmacother. *56*: 471–482.

Ozçelikay, A.T., Tay, A., Güner, S., Taşyaran, V., Yildizoğlu-Ari, N., Dinçer, U.D., et al. (2000). Reversal effects of L-arginine treatment on blood pressure and vascular responsiveness of streptozotocin-diabetic rats. Pharmacol. Res. *41*: 201–209.

Paakkari, I., and Lindsberg, P. (1995). Nitric oxide in the central nervous system. Ann. Med. 27: 369–377.

Pahlavani, N., Jafari, M., Sadeghi, O., Rezaei, M., Rasad, H., Rahdar, H.A., et al. (2014). L-arginine supplementation and risk factors of cardiovascular diseases in healthy men: a doubleblind randomized clinical trial. F1000Research *3*: 306.

Palmer, R.M.J., Rees, D.D., Ashton, D.S., and Moncada, S. (1988). L-arginine is the physiological precursor for the formation of nitric oxide in endothelium-dependent relaxation. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. *153*: 1251–1256.

Pegg, A.E., and McCann, P.P. (1982). Polyamine metabolism and function. Am. J. Physiol. 243: C212-21.

Petrie, J.R., Ueda, S., Webb, D.J., Elliott, H.L., and Connell, J.M. (1996). Endothelial nitric oxide production and insulin sensitivity. A physiological link with implications for pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease. Circulation *93*: 1331–1333.

Petros, A., Bennett, D., and Vallance, P. (1991). Effect of nitric oxide synthase inhibitors on hypotension in patients with septic shock. Lancet (London, England) 338: 1557–1558.

Piatti, P., Monti, L.D., Valsecchi, G., Magni, F., Setola, E., Marchesi, F., et al. (2001). Long-Term Oral 1-Arginine Administration Improves Peripheral and Hepatic Insulin Sensitivity in Type 2 Diabetic Patients. Diabetes Care 24: 875–880.

Pieper, G.M., Siebeneich, W., and Dondlinger, L.A. (1996). Short-term oral administration of Larginine reverses defective endothelium-dependent relaxation and cGMP generation in diabetes. Eur. J. Pharmacol. *317*: 317–320.

Piletz, J.E., Chikkala, D.N., and Ernsberger, P. (1995). Comparison of the properties of agmatine and endogenous clonidine-displacing substance at imidazoline and alpha-2 adrenergic receptors. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. *272*: 581–587.

Popovic, P.J., Zeh III, H.J., and Ochoa, J.B. (2007). Arginine and Immunity. J. Nutr. 137: 1681S-1686S.

Rabbani, N., and Thornalley, P.J. (2014). The Critical Role of Methylglyoxal and Glyoxalase 1 in Diabetic Nephropathy. Diabetes *63*: 50–52.

Radomski, M.W., Palmer, R.M., and Moncada, S. (1987). Endogenous nitric oxide inhibits human platelet adhesion to vascular endothelium. Lancet (London, England) 2: 1057–1058.

Radomski, M.W., Palmer, R.M., and Moncada, S. (1990). Characterization of the L-arginine:nitric oxide pathway in human platelets. Br. J. Pharmacol. *101*: 325–328.

Rector, T.S., Bank, A.J., Mullen, K.A., Tschumperlin, L.K., Sih, R., Pillai, K., et al. (1996).

Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of supplemental oral L-arginine in patients with heart failure. Circulation 93: 2135–2141.

Reddy, M. K. (2020). Amino acid. Encyclopedia Britannica. Retrieved May 23, 2021, from https://www.britannica.com/science/amino-acid.

Regunathan, S., Dozier, D., Takkalapalli, R., and Phillips, W.J. (2009). Agmatine Levels in the Cerebrospinal Fluid of Normal Human Volunteers. J. Pain Palliat. Care Pharmacother. 23: 35–39.

Reis, D.J., and Regunathan, S. (1998). Agmatine: a novel neurotransmitter? Adv. Pharmacol. 42: 645–649.

Reis, D.J., Yang, X.C., and Milner, T.A. (1998). Agmatine containing axon terminals in rat hippocampus form synapses on pyramidal cells. Neurosci. Lett. 250: 185–188.

Rhim, H.C., Kim, M.S., Park, Y.-J., Choi, W.S., Park, H.K., Kim, H.G., et al. (2019). The Potential Role of Arginine Supplements on Erectile Dysfunction: A Systemic Review and Meta-Analysis. J. Sex. Med. *16*: 223–234.

Rodriguez, P.C., Quiceno, D.G., and Ochoa, A.C. (2007). L-arginine availability regulates T-lymphocyte cell-cycle progression. Blood *109*: 1568–1573.

Rodriguez, P.C., Zea, A.H., DeSalvo, J., Culotta, K.S., Zabaleta, J., Quiceno, D.G., et al. (2003). L-arginine consumption by macrophages modulates the expression of CD3 zeta chain in T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. *171*: 1232–1239.

Rosenthal, M.D., Carrott, P.W., Patel, J., Kiraly, L., and Martindale, R.G. (2016). Parenteral or Enteral Arginine Supplementation Safety and Efficacy. J. Nutr. *146*: 2594S-2600S.

Satriano, J., Matsufuji, S., Murakami, Y., Lortie, M.J., Schwartz, D., Kelly, C.J., et al. (1998). Agmatine suppresses proliferation by frameshift induction of antizyme and attenuation of cellular polyamine levels. J. Biol. Chem. *273*: 15313–15316.

Satriano, J., Schwartz, D., Ishizuka, S., Lortie, M.J., Thomson, S.C., Gabbai, F., et al. (2001). Suppression of inducible nitric oxide generation by agmatine aldehyde: beneficial effects in sepsis. J. Cell. Physiol. *188*: 313–320.

Saugy, M., Robinson, N., Saudan, C., Baume, N., Avois, L., and Mangin, P. (2006). Human growth hormone doping in sport. Br. J. Sports Med. *40 Suppl 1*: i35–i39.

Sax, H.C. (1994). Arginine Stimulates Wound Healing and Immune Function in Elderly Human Beings. J. Parenter. Enter. Nutr. 18: 559–560.

Schimke, R.T. (1962). Repression of enzymes of arginine biosynthesis in mammalian tissue culture. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 62: 599–601.

Schimke, R.T. (1964). Enzymes of arginine metabolism in mammlian cell culture. I. Repression of arginosuccinate synthetase and arginosuccinase. J. Biol. Chem. *239*: 136–145.

Schlattner, U., Klaus, A., Ramirez Rios, S., Guzun, R., Kay, L., and Tokarska-Schlattner, M. (2016). Cellular compartmentation of energy metabolism: creatine kinase microcompartments and recruitment of B-type creatine kinase to specific subcellular sites. Amino Acids *48*: 1751–1774.

Schwartz, I.F., Ayalon, R., Chernichovski, T., Reshef, R., Chernin, G., Weinstein, T., et al. (2006). Arginine uptake is attenuated through modulation of cationic amino-acid transporter-1, in uremic rats. Kidney Int. *69*: 298–303.

Seifter, E., Rettura, G., Barbul, A., and Levenson, S.M. (1978). Arginine: an essential amino acid for injured rats. Surgery 84: 224–230.

Seinosuke, K., and Mitsuhiro, Y. (2004). Dysfunction of Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase and Atherosclerosis. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 24: 998–1005.

Sener, A., Best, L.C., Yates, A.P., Kadiata, M.M., Olivares, E., Louchami, K., et al. (2000). Stimulus-secretion coupling of arginine-induced insulin release: comparison between the cationic amino acid and its methyl ester. Endocrine *13*: 329–340.

Senoner, T., and Dichtl, W. (2019). Oxidative Stress in Cardiovascular Diseases: Still a Therapeutic Target? Nutrients 11: 2090.

Shesely, E.G., Maeda, N., Kim, H.-S., Desai, K.M., Krege, J.H., Laubach, V.E., et al. (1996). Elevated blood pressures in mice lacking endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. *93*: 13176–13181.

Shi, H.P., Efron, D.T., Most, D., Tantry, U.S., and Barbul, A. (2000). Supplemental dietary arginine enhances wound healing in normal but not inducible nitric oxide synthase knockout mice. Surgery *128*: 374–378.

Shi, H.P., Most, D., Efron, D.T., Witte, M.B., and Barbul, A. (2003). Supplemental L-arginine enhances wound healing in diabetic rats. Wound Repair Regen. Off. Publ. Wound Heal. Soc. [and] Eur. Tissue Repair Soc. *11*: 198–203.

Shi, H.P., Wang, S.M., Zhang, G.X., Zhang, Y.J., and Barbul, A. (2007). Supplemental L-arginine enhances wound healing following trauma/hemorrhagic shock. Wound Repair Regen. Off. Publ. Wound Heal. Soc. [and] Eur. Tissue Repair Soc. *15*: 66–70.

Shin, S., Mohan, S., and Fung, H.-L. (2011). Intracellular L-arginine concentration does not determine NO production in endothelial cells: implications on the 'L-arginine paradox'. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. *414*: 660–663.

Siani, A., Pagano, E., Iacone, R., Iacoviello, L., Scopacasa, F., and Strazzullo, P. (2000). Blood pressure and metabolic changes during dietary L-arginine supplementation in humans*. Am. J. Hypertens. *13*: 547–551.

Silva, R.P. da, Clow, K., Brosnan, J.T., and Brosnan, M.E. (2014). Synthesis of guanidinoacetate and creatine from amino acids by rat pancreas. Br. J. Nutr. *111*: 571–577.

Silva, R.P. da, Nissim, I., Brosnan, M.E., and Brosnan, J.T. (2009). Creatine synthesis: hepatic metabolism of guanidinoacetate and creatine in the rat in vitro and in vivo. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. *296*: E256–E261.

Souba, W.W., and Pacitti, A.J. (1992). Review: How Amino Acids Get Into Cells: Mechanisms, Models, Menus, and Mediators. J. Parenter. Enter. Nutr. *16*: 569–578.

Sproule, D.M., and Kaufmann, P. (2008). Mitochondrial encephalopathy, lactic acidosis, and

strokelike episodes: basic concepts, clinical phenotype, and therapeutic management of MELAS syndrome. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. *1142*: 133–158.

Stead, L.M., Au, K.P., Jacobs, R.L., Brosnan, M.E., and Brosnan, J.T. (2001). Methylation demand and homocysteine metabolism: effects of dietary provision of creatine and guanidinoacetate. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. *281*: E1095-100.

Stechmiller, J.K., Childress, B., and Cowan, L. (2005). Arginine supplementation and wound healing. Nutr. Clin. Pract. Off. Publ. Am. Soc. Parenter. Enter. Nutr. 20: 52–61.

Stöckler-Ipsiroglu, S. (1997). Creatine deficiency syndromes: a new perspective on metabolic disorders and a diagnostic challenge. J. Pediatr. *131*: 510–511.

Stockler-Ipsiroglu, S., Apatean, D., Battini, R., DeBrosse, S., Dessoffy, K., Edvardson, S., et al. (2015). Arginine:glycine amidinotransferase (AGAT) deficiency: Clinical features and long term outcomes in 16 patients diagnosed worldwide. Mol. Genet. Metab. *116*: 252–259.

Stroes, E.S., Koomans, H.A., Bruin, T.W. de, and Rabelink, T.J. (1995). Vascular function in the forearm of hypercholesterolaemic patients off and on lipid-lowering medication. Lancet (London, England) *346*: 467–471.

Stühlinger, M.C., and Stanger, O. (2005). Asymmetric dimethyl-L-arginine (ADMA): a possible link between homocyst(e)ine and endothelial dysfunction. Curr. Drug Metab. 6: 3–14.

Tachikawa, M., Hirose, S., Akanuma, S., Matsuyama, R., and Hosoya, K. (2018). Developmental changes of l-arginine transport at the blood-brain barrier in rats. Microvasc. Res. *117*: 16–21.

Tangphao, O., Chalon, S., Moreno, H., Hoffman, B., and Blaschke, T. (1999a). Pharmacokinetics of L-arginine during chronic administration to patients with hypercholesterolaemia. Clin. Sci. (Lond). *96*: 199–207.

Tangphao, O., Grossmann, M., Chalon, S., Hoffman, B.B., and Blaschke, T.F. (1999b). Pharmacokinetics of intravenous and oral L-arginine in normal volunteers. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. *47*: 261–266.

Taylor, R. (2012). Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes 61: 778–779.

Theilmeier, G., Chan, J.R., Zalpour, C., Anderson, B., Wang, B.Y., Wolf, A., et al. (1997). Adhesiveness of mononuclear cells in hypercholesterolemic humans is normalized by dietary L-arginine. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. *17*: 3557–3564.

Thorne, S., Mullen, M.J., Clarkson, P., Donald, A.E., and Deanfield, J.E. (1998). Early endothelial dysfunction in adults at risk from atherosclerosis: different responses to L-arginine. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. *32*: 110–116.

Tousoulis, D., Antoniades, C., Tentolouris, C., Goumas, G., Stefanadis, C., and Toutouzas, P. (2002). L-arginine in cardiovascular disease: dream or reality? Vasc. Med. 7: 203–211.

Tripathi, P., and Misra, M.K. (2009). Therapeutic role of L-arginine on free radical scavenging system in ischemic heart diseases. Indian J. Biochem. Biophys. *46*: 498–502.

Tsai, C.-H., Pan, T.-L., Lee, Y.-S., Tai, Y.-K., and Liu, T.-Z. (2004). Evidence that high-dose L-arginine may be inappropriate for use by diabetic patients as a prophylactic blocker of

methylglyoxal glycation. J. Biomed. Sci. 11: 692-696.

Vallance, P., and Chan, N. (2001). Endothelial function and nitric oxide: clinical relevance. Heart *85*: 342–350.

Vallance, P., Leone, A., Calver, A., Collier, J., and Moncada, S. (1992). Accumulation of an endogenous inhibitor of nitric oxide synthesis in chronic renal failure. Lancet (London, England) *339*: 572–575.

Vandenberghe, K., Goris, M., Hecke, P. Van, Leemputte, M. Van, Vangerven, L., and Hespel, P. (1997). Long-term creatine intake is beneficial to muscle performance during resistance training. J. Appl. Physiol. *83*: 2055–2063.

Vasdev, S., and Gill, V. (2008). The antihypertensive effect of arginine. Int. J. Angiol. 17: 7–22.

Viribay, A., Burgos, J., Fernández-Landa, J., Seco-Calvo, J., and Mielgo-Ayuso, J. (2020). Effects of Arginine Supplementation on Athletic Performance Based on Energy Metabolism: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Nutrients *12*: 1300.

Visek, W.J. (1986). Arginine Needs, Physiological State and Usual Diets. A Reevaluation. J. Nutr. *116*: 36–46.

Volek, J.S., Duncan, N.D., Mazzetti, S.A., Staron, R.S., Putukian, M., Gómez, A.L., et al. (1999). Performance and muscle fiber adaptations to creatine supplementation and heavy resistance training. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. *31*: 1147–1156.

Walberg-Rankin, J., Hawkins, C.E., Fild, D.S., and Sebolt, D.R. (1994). The Effect of Oral Arginine During Energy Restriction in Male Weight Trainers. J. Strength Cond. Res. 8:.

Walker, J.B. (1979). Creatine: biosynthesis, regulation, and function. Adv. Enzymol. Relat. Areas Mol. Biol. *50*: 177–242.

Wallimann, T., Tokarska-Schlattner, M., and Schlattner, U. (2011). The creatine kinase system and pleiotropic effects of creatine. Amino Acids *40*: 1271–1296.

Wang, X., Ying, W., Dunlap, K.A., Lin, G., Satterfield, M.C., Burghardt, R.C., et al. (2014a). Arginine Decarboxylase and Agmatinase: An Alternative Pathway for De Novo Biosynthesis of Polyamines for Development of Mammalian Conceptuses1. Biol. Reprod. *90*:.

Wang, Y., Hu, S., Gabisi, A.M.J., Er, J.A. V, Pope, A., Burstein, G., et al. (2014b). Developing an irreversible inhibitor of human DDAH-1, an enzyme upregulated in melanoma. ChemMedChem *9*: 792–797.

Watford, M. (2003). The urea cycle: Teaching intermediary metabolism in a physiological setting. Biochem. Mol. Biol. Educ. *31*: 289–297.

Weltman, A., Pritzlaff, C.J., Wideman, L., Weltman, J.Y., Blumer, J.L., Abbott, R.D., et al. (2000). Exercise-dependent growth hormone release is linked to markers of heightened central adrenergic outflow. J. Appl. Physiol. *89*: 629–635.

West, S.G., Likos-Krick, A., Brown, P., and Mariotti, F. (2005). Oral L-arginine improves hemodynamic responses to stress and reduces plasma homocysteine in hypercholesterolemic men. J. Nutr. *135*: 212–217.

White, M.F. (1985). The transport of cationic amino acids across the plasma membrane of mammalian cells. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Rev. Biomembr. 822: 355–374.

Wideman, L., Weltman, J.Y., Patrie, J.T., Bowers, C.Y., Shah, N., Story, S., et al. (2000). Synergy of L-arginine and GHRP-2 stimulation of growth hormone in men and women: modulation by exercise. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. *279*: R1467-77.

Witte, M.B., and Barbul, A. (2003). Arginine physiology and its implication for wound healing. Wound Repair Regen. Off. Publ. Wound Heal. Soc. [and] Eur. Tissue Repair Soc. 11: 419–423.

Wittmann, F., Prix, N., Mayr, S., Angele, P., Wichmann, M.W., Engel, N.K. van den, et al. (2005). L-arginine improves wound healing after trauma-hemorrhage by increasing collagen synthesis. J. Trauma *59*: 162–168.

Wolf, A., Zalpour, C., Theilmeier, G., Wang, B., Ma, A., Anderson, B., et al. (1997). Dietary l-Arginine Supplementation Normalizes Platelet Aggregation in Hypercholesterolemic Humans. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. *29*: 479–485.

Wolin, M.S., Hintze, T.H., Shen, W., Mohazzab-H, K.M., and Xie, Y.W. (1997). Involvement of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species in signalling mechanisms that control tissue respiration in muscle. Biochem. Soc. Trans. *25*: 934–939.

Wu, G. (2009). Amino acids: metabolism, functions, and nutrition. Amino Acids 37: 1–17.

Wu, G., Bazer, F.W., Cudd, T.A., Jobgen, W.S., Kim, S.W., Lassala, A., et al. (2007). Pharmacokinetics and Safety of Arginine Supplementation in Animals. J. Nutr. *137*: 1673S-1680S.

Wu, G., Bazer, F.W., Davis, T.A., Kim, S.W., Li, P., Marc Rhoads, J., et al. (2009). Arginine metabolism and nutrition in growth, health and disease. Amino Acids *37*: 153–168.

Wu, G., Davis, P.K., Flynn, N.E., Knabe, D.A., and Davidson, J.T. (1997). Endogenous Synthesis of Arginine Plays an Important Role in Maintaining Arginine Homeostasis in Postweaning Growing Pigs. J. Nutr. *127*: 2342–2349.

Wu, G., Jaeger, L.A., Bazer, F.W., and Rhoads, J.M. (2004). Arginine deficiency in preterm infants: biochemical mechanisms and nutritional implications. J. Nutr. Biochem. *15*: 442–451.

Wu, G., and Meininger, C.J. (2000). Arginine nutrition and cardiovascular function. J. Nutr. 130: 2626–2629.

Wu, G., and Morris Jr, S.M. (1998). Arginine metabolism: nitric oxide and beyond. Biochem. J. 336 (*Pt 1*: 1–17.

Wyss, M., and Kaddurah-Daouk, R. (2000). Creatine and Creatinine Metabolism. Physiol. Rev. 80: 1107–1213.

Xue, Q., Yan, Y., Zhang, R., and Xiong, H. (2018). Regulation of iNOS on Immune Cells and Its Role in Diseases. Int. J. Mol. Sci. *19*: 3805.

Yang, Y.-M., Huang, A., Kaley, G., and Sun, D. (2009). eNOS uncoupling and endothelial dysfunction in aged vessels. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 297: H1829–H1836.

Ydfors, M., Hughes, M.C., Laham, R., Schlattner, U., Norrbom, J., and Perry, C.G.R. (2016).

Modelling in vivo creatine/phosphocreatine in vitro reveals divergent adaptations in human muscle mitochondrial respiratory control by ADP after acute and chronic exercise. J. Physiol. *594*: 3127–3140.

Yoon, J.-K., Frankel, A.E., Feun, L.G., Ekmekcioglu, S., and Kim, K.B. (2013). Arginine deprivation therapy for malignant melanoma. Clin. Pharmacol. *5*: 11–19.

Young, J.A., and Freedman, B.S. (1971). Renal tubular transport of amino acids. Clin. Chem. 17: 245–266.

Zhao, S., Feng, Y., LeBlanc, M., Piletz, J., and Liu, Y.-M. (2002). Quantitation of agmatine by liquid chromatography with laser-induced fluorescence detection. Anal. Chim. Acta 470: 155–161.

Zhu, M.-Y., Iyo, A., Piletz, J.E., and Regunathan, S. (2004). Expression of human arginine decarboxylase, the biosynthetic enzyme for agmatine. Biochim. Biophys. Acta *1670*: 156–164.